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TYPE OF | SIZE OF THE SIZE OF THE TOTAL OFFER ELIGIBILITY AND SHARE RESERVATION
OFFER | FRESH ISSUE |OFFER FOR SALE SIZEN AMONG QIBs, NIIs AND RllIs

CONTACT PERSON TELEPHONE
Manali Siddharth Shah |companysecretary@seshaasai.com | +91 22 6627 0927 = www.seshaasai.com
Company Secretary and
Compliance Officer

Fresh Issue | Up to [®] Equity | Up to 7,874,015 Up to [@] Equity | This Offer is being made made through the Book Building
and Offer | Shares of face |Equity Shares of face |Shares of face value Process, in terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts
for Sale |value of%10 each | value of 10 each of %10 each (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended (“SCRR”) read in
aggregating up to | aggregatingupto | aggregating up to |compliance with Regulation 6(1) of the Securities and

% 6,000.00 million % [@] million Z [e] million Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure

Requirements) Regulations, 2018 (the “SEBI ICDR
Regulations™). For further information, please refer to the
section titled “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures
— Eligibility for the Offer”. For details of share reservation
among QIBs, NlIs and Rlls, see “Offer Structure” on page
456

DETAILS OF THE OFFER FOR SALE BY THE SELLING SHAREHOLDERS AND WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF
ACQUISITION PER EQUITY SHARE

NAME OF THE
SELLING
SHAREHOLDERS

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF EQUITY
SHARES OFFERED (UP TO)/ AMOUNT
(R IN MILLION)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF
ACQUISITION PER EQUITY
SHARE
(IN X PER EQUITY SHARE)"

Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani Promoter Selling | Up to 3,937,008 Equity Shares of face value 7.72
Shareholder of %10 each aggregating up to X [@] million

Gautam Sampatraj Jain  |Promoter Selling | Up to 3,937,007 Equity Shares of face value 7.72
Shareholder of %10 each aggregating up to X [@] million

*As certified by Kanu Doshi Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024.

This being the first public issue of Equity Shares of our Company, there has been no formal market for the Equity Shares. The face value
of the Equity Shares is % 10 each. The Floor Price, Cap Price and Offer Price (as determined by our Company, in consultation with the
Book Running Lead Managers (“BRLMSs”), in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations) and on the basis of the assessment of
market demand for the Equity Shares by way of the Book Building Process, as stated under “Basis for the Offer Price” on page 106,
should not be considered to be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Equity Shares are listed. No assurance can
be given regarding an active and/or sustained trading in the Equity Shares nor regarding the price at which the Equity Shares will be
traded after listing.

GENERAL RISKS
Investments in equity and equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should not invest any funds in the Offer unless
they can afford to take the risk of losing their entire investment. Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an
investment decision in the Offer. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and
the Offer, including the risks involved. The Equity Shares in the Offer have not been recommended or approved by the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the contents of this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. Specific attention of the investors is invited to “Risk Factors” on page 33.




| |
Our Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
contains all information with regard to our Company and the Offer, which is material in the context of the Offer, that the information
contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect,
that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in
any material respect. The Promoter Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, accepts responsibility for and confirms that the
statements specifically made or confirmed by them in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus solely to the extent of information specifically
pertaining to themselves and the Equity Shares offered by them in the Offer for Sale and assumes responsibility that such statements are
true and correct in all material respects and are not misleading in any material respect. The Promoter Selling Shareholders, severally and
not jointly, assume no responsibility for any other statements, including, inter alia, any of the statements made by or relating to our
Company or any other Promoter Selling Shareholder in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

LISTING
The Equity Shares that will be, offered through the Red Herring Prospectus, are proposed to be listed on the Stock Exchanges being
BSE Limited (“BSE”) and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”), together the “Stock Exchanges”. For the purposes of

the Offer, the Designated Stock Exchange is [e].

BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGERS
NAME OF THE BRLMS AND LOGO CONTACT PERSON | EMAIL AND TELEPHONE

IIFL IIFL Capital Services Limited Mansi Sampat / E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@iiflcap.com
CAPITAL (formerly known as IIFL Securities Limited) [Pawan Kumar Jain Telephone: +91 22 4646 4728

’ L Gaurav Mittal / E-mail: . . .
} ICICI Securities ICICI Securities Limited Sohail Puri seshaasai.ipo@icicisecurities.com

Telephone: +91 22 6807 7100

. L . E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@sbicaps.com
0 C§E!%9&AWEL§ SBI Capital Markets Limited Sylvia Mendonca Telephone: +91 22 4006 9807

REGISTRAR TO THE OFFER
NAME OF THE REGISTRAR CONTACT PERSON EMAIL AND TELEPHONE

: E-mail: seshaasaibusiness.ipo@linkintime.co.in
LINK Intime Telephone: +91 81081 14949

Link Intime India Private Limited Shanti Gopalkrishnan

BID/OFFER PERIOD

ANCHOR INVESTOR [*]" BID/OFFER ‘ [ BID/OFFER [e]"#
BIDDING PERIOD OPENS ON CLOSES ON

*Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
The Anchor Investors shall Bid on the Anchor Investor Bidding Date, i.e., one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date.

“*Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider closing the Bid/Offer Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Closing
Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

#The UPI mandate end time and date shall be at 5:00 p.m. on Bid/Offer Closing Day.

"Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider an issue of specified securities, as may be permitted under applicable law, at its
discretion, aggregating up to < 1,200.00 million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC (“Pre-1PO Placement”). The Pre-1PO
Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-IPO Placement is completed,
the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh Issue, subject to compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities
Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20% of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior
to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to
the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may proceed with the Offer or the Offer may be successful and will result in
listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. Further, relevant disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO
Placement (if undertaken) shall be appropriately made in the relevant sections of the Red Herring Prospectus and Prospectus.
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es O O S O I (The Draft Red Herring Prospectus will be updated upon filing with the RoC)
® 100% Book Built Offer
SESHAASAI TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED

(formerly known as Seshaasai Business Forms Limited)
Our Company was originally incorporated as “Seshasai Business Forms Private Limited” at Mumbai as a private limited company under the Companies Act, 1956, pursuant to a certificate of incorporation dated September 17, 1993 by
the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai (“RoC”). Pursuant to the approval accorded by our Shareholders at their extra-ordinary general meeting held on January 16, 2006, the name of our Company was changed to “Seshaasai
Business Forms Private Limited” and a fresh certificate of incorporation consequent to change of name was issued by the RoC on February 14, 2006. Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement approved by the National Company Law
Tribunal vide order dated February 8, 2024 (“Scheme of Arrangement”), our Company was converted from a private limited company to a public limited company and consequent upon conversion, the name of our Company was changed
to “Seshaasai Business Forms Limited” and a certificate of change of name dated October 14, 2024 was issued by the RoC. The name of our Company was further changed to “Seshaasai Technologies Limited” as part of the corporate
rebranding of our Company to reflect the principal business being undertaken by our Company in terms of the Scheme of Arrangement, and a fresh certificate of incorporation consequent upon change of name was issued to our Company
by the RoC on November 25, 2024. For further information of change in the name and Registered Office, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters- Change in registered office of our Company” on page 263.
Registered and Corporate Office: 9, Lalwani Industrial Estate, 14, Katrak Road, Wadala (West), Mumbai — 400 031, Maharashtra India; Telephone: +91 22 6627 0927;
Contact Person: Manali Siddharth Shah, Company Secretary and Compliance Officer; E-mail: companysecretary@seshaasai.com; Website: www.seshaasai.com; Corporate Identity Number: U21017MH1993PLC074023

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF UP TO [¢] EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF %10 EACH (“EQUITY SHARES”) OF SESHAASAI TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED (“COMPANY” OR “ISSUER”) FOR CASH AT
A PRICE OF Z[e] PER EQUITY SHARE (INCLUDING A SHARE PREMIUM OF Z[e] PER EQUITY SHARE) (“OFFER PRICE”) AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION (THE “OFFER”) COMPRISING OF A
FRESH ISSUE OF UP TO [¢] EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF 310 EACH AGGREGATING UP TO  6,000.00 MILLION (“FRESH ISSUE”) AND AN OFFER FOR SALE OF UP TO 7,874,015 EQUITY SHARES
OF FACE VALUE OF %10 EACH (“OFFERED SHARES”) AGGREGATING UP TO % [¢] MILLION COMPRISING UP TO 3,937,007 EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO % [¢] MILLION BY GAUTAM
SAMPATRAJ JAIN AND UP TO 3,937,008 EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO % [¢] MILLION BY PRAGNYAT PRAVIN LALWANI (“PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDERS” AND SUCH OFFER FOR
SALE OF EQUITY SHARES BY THE PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDERS, THE “OFFER FOR SALE”). THE OFFER SHALL CONSTITUTE [e]% OF THE POST-OFFER PAID UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL
OF OUR COMPANY.

OUR COMPANY, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLMS, MAY CONSIDER A FURTHER ISSUE OF SPECIFIED SECURITIES AS MAY BE PERMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW TO
ANY PERSON(S), AGGREGATING TO [e] EQUITY SHARES UP TO % 1,200.00 MILLION, AT ITS DISCRETION(“PRE-IPO PLACEMENT”), PRIOR TO FILING OF THE RED HERRING PROSPECTUS WITH
THE ROC (“PRE-IPO PLACEMENT”). THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, IF UNDERTAKEN, WILL BE AT A PRICE TO BE DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLMS. THE PRE-IPO
PLACEMENT, IF UNDERTAKEN, WILL BE AT APRICE TO BE DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLMS. IF THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT IS COMPLETED, THE FRESH ISSUE
SIZE WILL BE REDUCED TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, SUBJECT TO THE OFFER COMPLYING WITH RULE 19(2)(B) OF THE SECURITIES CONTRACTS (REGULATION) RULES,
1957, AS AMENDED (“SCRR”). PRIOR TO THE COMPLETION OF THE OFFER, OUR COMPANY SHALL APPROPRIATELY INTIMATE THE SUBSCRIBERS TO THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, PRIOR TO
ALLOTMENT PURSUANT TO THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, THAT THERE IS NO GUARANTEE THAT OUR COMPANY MAY PROCEED WITH THE OFFER OR THE OFFER MAY BE SUCCESSFUL AND
WILL RESULT IN LISTING OF THE EQUITY SHARES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGES. FURTHER, RELEVANT DISCLOSURES IN RELATION TO SUCH INTIMATION TO THE SUBSCRIBERS TO THE PRE-
IPO PLACEMENT (IF UNDERTAKEN) SHALL BE APPROPRIATELY MADE IN THE RELEVANT SECTIONS OF THE RED HERRING PROSPECTUS AND PROSPECTUS.

THE OFFER INCLUDES A RESERVATION OF UP TO [e¢] EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF %10 EACH, AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION (CONSTITUTING UP TO [¢]% OF THE POST-OFFER
PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL), FOR SUBSCRIPTION BY ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES (AS DEFINED HEREINAFTER) (“EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION”). SUCH PORTION SHALL NOT EXCEED
5% OF THE POST-OFFER EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY.THE OFFER LESS THE EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION IS HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS THE “NET OFFER”. OUR
COMPANY IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLMS, MAY OFFER A DISCOUNT OF %[e] TO THE OFFER PRICE (EQUIVALENT OF %[e] PER EQUITY SHARE) TO ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES BIDDING IN THE
EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION (“EMPLOYEE DISCOUNT”). THE OFFER AND THE NET OFFER SHALL CONSTITUTE [¢]% AND [e]%, RESPECTIVELY, OF THE POST-OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY.

THE FACE VALUE OF THE EQUITY SHARES IS % 10 EACH. THE OFFER PRICE IS [¢] TIMES THE FACE VALUE OF THE EQUITY SHARES. THE PRICE BAND AND THE MINIMUM BID LOT WILL BE
DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLMS, AND WILL BE ADVERTISED IN ALL EDITIONS OF [e] (AWIDELY CIRCULATED ENGLISH NATIONAL DAILY NEWSPAPER), ALL
EDITIONS OF [¢] (AWIDELY CIRCULATED HINDI NATIONAL DAILY NEWSPAPER) AND [¢] EDITION OF [o] (AWIDELY CIRCULATED MARATHI DAILY NEWSPAPER, MARATHI BEING THE REGIONAL
LANGUAGE OF MAHARASHTRA WHERE OUR REGISTERED OFFICE IS LOCATED), AT LEAST TWO WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE BID/OFFER OPENING DATE AND SHALL BE MADE AVAILABLE
TO THE STOCK EXCHANGES FOR UPLOADING ON THEIR RESPECTIVE WEBSITES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE OF CAPITAL AND DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2018, AS AMENDED (THE “SEBI ICDR REGULATIONS”).
In case of any revision in the Price Band, the Bid/Offer Period will be extended by at least three additional Working Days after such revision in the Price Band, subject to the Bid/Offer Period not exceeding 10 Working Days. In cases of
force majeure, banking strike or similar unforeseen circumstances, our Company may, for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the Bid /Offer Period for a minimum of one Working Days, subject to the Bid/Offer Period not exceeding
10 Working Days. Any revision in the Price Band and the revised Bid/Offer Period, if applicable, shall be widely disseminated by notification to the Stock Exchanges, by issuing a press release, and also by indicating the change on the
respective websites of the BRLMs and at the terminals of the members of the Syndicate and by intimation to Designated Intermediaries and the Sponsor Bank, as applicable.
The Offer is being made in terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended (the “SCRR”), read with Regulation 31 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Offer is being made through the Book
Building Process in accordance with Regulation 6(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations wherein not more than 50% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Qualified Institutional Buyers (“QIBs”) (the
“QIB Portion™), provided that our Company in consultation with the BRLMs in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers and in accordance with Applicable Law, may allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor Investors
and the basis of such allocation will be on a discretionary basis by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations (the “Anchor Investor Portion™), of which one-third shall be reserved
for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from the domestic Mutual Funds at or above the price at which allocation is made to Anchor Investors (“Anchor Investor Allocation Price”). In the event of under-
subscription or non-allocation in the Anchor Investor Portion, the balance Equity Shares shall be added to the QIB Portion (other than the Anchor Investor Portion) (the “Net QIB Portion”). Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion shall be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price, and the remainder of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to
all QIBs, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. Further, not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to Non-Institutional Investors (“Non-Institutional Portion™)
of which one-third of the Non-Institutional Portion shall be available for allocation to Bidders with an application size of more than ¥ 0.20 million and up to ¥ 1.00 million and two-thirds of the Non-Institutional Portion shall be available
for allocation to Bidders with an application size of more than % 1.00 million and undersubscription in either of these two sub-categories of the Non-Institutional Portion may be allocated to Bidders in the other sub-category of the Non-
Institutional Portion in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. Further, not less than 35% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to Retail Individual Investors
(“Retail Portion”), in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received from them at or above the Offer Price. Further, [#] Equity Shares of face value of % 10 each aggregating up to X[e] million will be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees applying under the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to valid being Bids received from them at or above the Offer Price. All Bidders (except Anchor Investors)
shall mandatorily participate in this Offer only through the Application Supported by Blocked Amount (“ASBA™) process and shall provide details of their respective bank account (including UPI ID (defined hereinafter) in case of UPI
Bidders (defined hereinafter) in which the Bid Amount will be blocked by the Self Certified Syndicate Banks (“SCSBs”) or pursuant to the UPI Mechanism, as the case may be. Anchor Investors are not permitted to participate in the
Anchor Investor Portion through the ASBA process. For details, see “Offer Procedure” on page 461.

RISKS IN RELATION TO THE FIRST OFFER
This being the first public issue of Equity Shares of our Company, there has been no formal market for the Equity Shares. The face value of the Equity Shares is ¥ 10 each. The Offer Price, Floor Price or Cap Price as (as determined by
our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations), and on the basis of the assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares by way of the Book Building Process, as stated under “Basis
for Offer Price” on page 106, should not be considered to be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Equity Shares are listed. No assurance can be given regarding an active and/or sustained trading in the Equity Shares
nor regarding the price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.

GENERAL RISKS
Investments in equity and equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should not invest any funds in the Offer unless they can afford to take the risk of losing their entire investment. Investors are advised to read the risk
factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Offer. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and the Offer, including the risks involved. The Equity Shares in the
Offer have not been recommended or approved by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the contents of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. Specific attention of the investors is
invited to “Risk Factors” on page 33.

ISSUER’S AND SELLING SHAREHOLDERS’ ABSOLUTE RESPONSIBILITY
Our Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus contains all information with regard to our Company and the Offer, which is material in the context of
the Offer, that the information contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and
that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this Draft Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect. The Promoter
Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, accepts responsibility for and confirm that the statements specifically made or confirmed by them in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus solely to the extent of information specifically
pertaining to themselves and the Equity Shares offered by them in the Offer for Sale and assume responsibility that such statements are true and correct in all material respects and are not misleading in any material respect. The Promoter
Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, assume no responsibility for any other statements, including, inter alia, any of the statements made by or relating to our Company or any other Promoter Selling Shareholder in this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus.
LISTING

The Equity Shares, offered through the Red Herring Prospectus, are proposed to be listed on the Stock Exchanges. Our Company has received ‘in-principle” approvals from BSE and NSE for the listing of the Equity Shares pursuant to
letters dated [@] and [e], respectively. For the purposes of the Offer, the Designated Stock Exchange shall be [e]. A copy of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus shall be filed with the RoC in accordance with Sections 26(4)
and 32 of the Companies Act, 2013. For details of the material contracts and documents available for inspection from the date of the Red Herring Prospectus until the Bid/Offer Closing Date, see “Material Contracts and Documents for
Inspection” on page 534.

@D IFL CAPITAL O SBICAPS LINKIntime

Complete Investment Banking Solutions

IIFL Capital Services Limited ICICI Securities Limited SBI Capital Markets Limited Link Intime India Private Limited
(formerly known as IIFL Securities Limited) ICICI Venture House, Appasaheb Marathe Marg, 1501, 15" floor, A & B Wing, Parinee Crescenzo, C-101,247 Park L.B.S. Marg,
24" Floor, One Lodha Place, Senapati Bapat Marg, ~ Prabhadevi, Mumbai 400 025, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Vikhroli (West),
Lower Parel (West), Mumbai 400 013, Maharashtra, India Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051, Mumbai 400 083,
Maharashtra, India Tel: +91 22 6807 7100 Maharashtra, India Maharashtra, India
Tel: +91 22 4646 4728 E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@icicisecurities.com Tel: +91 22 4006 9807 Tel: +91 81081 14949
E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@iiflcap.com Investor Grievance E-mail: E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@sbicaps.com E-mail: seshaasaibusiness.ipo@linkintime.co.in
Investor grievance E-mail: ig.ib@iiflcap.com customercare@icicisecurities.com Investor grievance E-mail: investor.relations@sbicaps.com Website: www.linkintime.co.in
Website: www.iiflcap.com Website: www.icicisecurities.com Website: www.shicaps.com Investor Grievance ID: seshaasaibusiness.ipo @linkintime.co.in
Contact person: Mansi Sampat / Pawan Kumar Jain ~ Contact Person: Gaurav Mittal / Sohail Puri Contact person: Sylvia Mendonca Contact Person: Shanti Gopalkrishnan
SEBI Registration number: INM000010940 SEBI Registration No.: INM000011179 SEBI Registration number: INM000003531 SEBI Registration Number: INR0O00004058
ANCHOR INVESTOR BIDDING DATE [o]*
BID/OFFER OPENS ON [o]*
BID/OFFER CLOSES ON [o]***

*QOur Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Anchor Investors shall Bid on the Anchor Investor Bidding Date, i.e., one Working
Day prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date.

**Qur Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider closing the Bid/Offer Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Closing Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

#The UPI mandate end time and date shall be at 5:00 p.m. on Bid/Offer Closing Day.
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SECTION | - GENERAL
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise
indicates or implies, or unless otherwise specified, shall have the meaning as provided below, and references to any
legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rule guidelines or
policy as amended from time to time and any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation
made from time to time under that provision.

In case of any inconsistency between the definitions given below and the definitions contained in the General Information
Document (as defined below), the definitions given below shall prevail.

The words and expressions used in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus but not defined herein, shall have, to the extent
applicable, the meanings ascribed to such terms under the Companies Act, the SEBI Act, the SEBI ICDR Regulations,
the SCRA, the Depositories Act or the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms in ‘“Description of Equity Shares and terms of the Articles of Association”,
“Statement of Possible Special Tax Benefits”, “Industry Overview”, “Key Regulations and Policies in India”, “Basis
for Offer Price”, “Restriction on Foreign Ownership of Indian Securities ”, “Financial Information” and “Outstanding
Litigation and Material Developments” on pages, 486, 112, 119, 259, 106, 484, 303 and 426 respectively, will have the

meaning ascribed to such terms in those respective sections.

General terms

Term
our Company/ the Company/ the

Description
Seshaasai Technologies Limited (formerly known as Seshaasai Business Forms

Issuer Limited and was previously known as Seshaasai Business Forms Private Limited), a
company incorporated as a public limited company under the Companies Act, 1956 and
having its Registered and Corporate Office at 9, Lalwani Industrial Estate, 14, Katrak
Road, Wadala (West), Mumbai — 400 031, Maharashtra, India

We/ us/ our Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, refers to our Company and our

Subsidiary on a consolidated basis.

Company related terms

Term
AO0A/ Articles of Association or
Avrticles
Audit Committee

Description
The articles of association of our Company, as amended

Audit committee of our Board, described in “Our Management-Committees of our
Board — Audit Committee ” on page 278

The current statutory auditors of our Company, being Vatsaraj & Co., Chartered
Accountants.

Auditors/ Statutory Auditors

Board/ Board of Directors

The board of directors of our Company, as constituted from time to time. For further
information, see “Our Management- Board of Directors” on page 271

Company Secretary and
Compliance Officer

The company secretary and compliance officer of our Company, being Manali Siddharth
Shah. For further information, see “General Information” and “Our Management- Brief
profiles of our Key Managerial Personnel” on pages 71 and 291

Chairman and Managing Director

The chairman and managing director of our Board, namely, Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani.
For further information, see “Our Management- Board of Directors” on page 271.

Chief Financial Officer/CFO

Chief financial officer of our Company, namely, Pawan Kumar Pillalamarri. For further
information, see “Our Management — Key Managerial Personnel and Senior
Management Personnel” on page 291

Committee(s)

Duly constituted committee(s) of our Board of Directors

F&S Report

The report titled “Connected Transactions: Exploring the Payment Card, loT RFID,
and ESIM Markets” dated December 2024 prepared by Frost & Sullivan (India)
Private Limited

CSR Committee/ Corporate

Social Responsibility Committee

The corporate social responsibility committee of our Board, described in “Our
Management - Committees of our Board ” on page 277




Term

Description

Director(s)

The director(s) on our Board. For further information, see “Our Management — Board
of Directors” on page 271

Equity Shares

The equity shares of our Company of face value of % 10 each

ESOP 2024

Seshaasai Technologies Limited Employee Stock Ownership Option Plan — 2024 as
described in “Capital Structure — ESOP scheme” on page 91

Executive Director(s)

Executive director(s) of our Company. For further information of the Executive
Directors, see “Our Management —Board of Directors” on page 271

Group Companies

Our group companies in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the
Materiality Policy. For further information, see “Group Companies” on page 298

Independent Chartered
Accountant/ ICA

The independent chartered accountant of our Company, being Kanu Doshi Associates
LLP, Chartered Accountants

Independent Director(s)

Non-executive and independent director(s) of our Company who are eligible to be
appointed as independent director(s) under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013
and the SEBI Listing Regulations. For details of the Independent Directors, see “Our
Management - Board of Directors” on page 271

IPO Committee

IPO committee of our Board, as described in the section titled “Our Management —
Committees of our Board — IPO Committee” on page 286

KMP/ Key Managerial
Personnel

Key managerial personnel of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(bb) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013 and as further
described in “Our Management - Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management
Personnel” on page 291

Materiality Policy

The policy adopted by our Board on December 17, 2024, for identification of: (a)
outstanding material litigation proceedings; (b) material Group Companies; and (c)
material creditors, pursuant to the requirements of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and
for the purposes of disclosure in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, the Red Herring
Prospectus and Prospectus

MoA/ Memorandum
of Association

The memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

The nomination and remuneration committee of our Board, described in “Our
Management - Committees of our Board — Nomination and Remuneration Committee”
on page 281

Non-Executive Non-Independent
Director(s)

The non-executive non-independent Directors on our Board, described in “Our
Management — Board of Directors” on page 271

Promoters

The promoters of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(00) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations namely, Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Promoter Group

Persons and entities, excluding our Promoters constituting the promoter group of our
Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as disclosed
in “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 294

Promoter Selling Shareholder(s)

Collectively, Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj Jain who are offering
their shares as a part of the Offer for Sale

Registered Office / Registered
and Corporate Office

The registered and corporate office of our Company, situated at 9, Lalwani Industrial
Estate, 14, Katrak Road, Wadala (West), Mumbai — 400 031, Maharashtra India

Registrar of Companies/RoC

The Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai

Restated Financial Information

The Restated Financial Information of our Company and our Subsidiary as at and for
the three months period ended June 30, 2024 and as at and for the years ended March
31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, which comprises the restated
consolidated statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024,
restated standalone statement of assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2023 and March
31, 2022, the restated consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other
comprehensive income), the restated consolidated statement of changes in equity, the
restated consolidated statement of cash flow for the three months period ended June 30,
2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024, the restated standalone statement of profit
and loss (including other comprehensive income), the restated standalone statement of
changes in equity, the restated standalone statement of cash flow for the years ended on
March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 and the summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information prepared in terms of the requirements of Section 26
of Part | of Chapter 111 of the Companies Act, SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Guidance




Term

Description

Note on “Reports in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2019)” issued by ICAI, as
amended from time to time

Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee of our Board, described in “Our Management -
Committees of our Board - Risk Management Committee ” on page 285

SMP/ Senior Management
Personnel

Senior management of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(bbbb) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and as further described in “Our Management - Key Managerial
Personnel and Senior Management Personnel” on page 291

Specified Securities

Specified securities means ‘equity shares’ and ‘convertible securities’ as defined under
Regulation 30(2)(1) (eee) of SEBI ICDR Regulations

Shareholder(s)

The holders of the Equity Shares from time to time

Stakeholders Relationship
Committee

The stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Board as described in “Our
Management - Committees of our Board — Stakeholders Relationship Committee” on
page 284

Subsidiary

Rite Infotech Private Limited

Offer related terms

Term

Description

Abridged Prospectus

Abridged prospectus means a memorandum containing such salient features of a
prospectus as may be specified by the SEBI in this behalf

Acknowledgement Slip

The slip or document issued by the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) to a Bidder
as proof of registration of the Bid cum Application Form

Allot/ Allotment/ Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires, the allotment of the Equity Shares pursuant to
the Fresh Issue and transfer of the Offered Shares by the Promoter Selling
Shareholders pursuant to the Offer for Sale to successful Bidders

Allotment Advice

Note or advice or intimation of Allotment sent to the Bidders who have been or are to
be Allotted the Equity Shares after the Basis of Allotment has been approved by the
Designated Stock Exchange

Allottee

A successful Bidder to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted

Anchor Investor(s)

A Qualified Institutional Buyer, applying under the Anchor Investor Portion in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Red Herring Prospectus, and
who has Bid for an amount of at least T 100.00 million

Anchor Investor Allocation
Price

The price at which Equity Shares will be allocated to Anchor Investors according to
the terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which will be decided by
our Company in consultation with the BRLMs on the Anchor Investor Bid/Offer Date

Anchor Investor Application
Form

The application form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor
Portion, and which will be considered as an application for Allotment in terms of the
Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus

Anchor Investor Bidding Date

The date, one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by
Anchor Investors shall be submitted, prior to and after which BRLMs will not accept
any Bids from Anchor Investors, and allocation to Anchor Investors shall be
completed

Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer
Period

One Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by Anchor
Investors shall be submitted, prior to and after which the Book Running Lead
Managers will not accept any Bids from Anchor Investors, and allocation to Anchor
Investors shall be completed

Anchor Investor Offer Price

The final price at which the Equity Shares will be issued and Allotted to Anchor
Investors in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which price will
be equal to or higher than the Offer Price but not higher than the Cap Price

The Anchor Investor Offer Price will be decided by our Company in consultation with
the BRLMs

Anchor Investor Pay-in Date

With respect to Anchor Investor(s), it shall be the Anchor Investor Bidding Date, and
in the event the Anchor Investor Allocation Price is lower than the Offer Price, not
later than two Working Days after the Bid/Offer Closing Date

Anchor Investor Portion

Up to 60% of the QIB Portion which may be allocated by our Company in consultation
with the BRLMs, to Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis, in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations




Term

Description

One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds,
subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the
Anchor Investor Allocation Price, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Applicable Law

Applicable law means any applicable law, statute, byelaw, rule, regulation, guideline,
instructions, rules, communications, circular, notification, regulatory policy, (any
requirement under, or notice of, any regulatory body),) and/or observations by any
regulatory or governmental authority including but not limited to the SEBI, RoC (any
requirement under, or notice, of any regulatory body), equity listing agreements with
the Stock Exchanges (as defined hereinafter), order or decree of any court or any
arbitral authority, or directive, delegated or subordinate legislation, as may be in force
and effect during the subsistence of this Agreement issued by an Governmental
Authority (defined below), in any applicable jurisdiction, within or outside India,
including any applicable securities law in any relevant jurisdiction, including the SEBI
Act, SCRA, SCRR, the Companies Act, as amended, including the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder), SEBI ICDR Regulations, SEBI Listing
Regulations, FEMA and rules and regulations thereunder including FEMA Rules

Application Supported by
Blocked Amount/ ASBA

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders, to make a Bid
and authorising an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the relevant ASBA Account and
will include applications made by UPI Bidders where the Bid Amount will be blocked
upon acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by the UPI Bidders

ASBA Account A bank account maintained with an SCSB by an ASBA Bidder, as specified in the
ASBA Form submitted by ASBA Bidders for blocking the Bid Amount mentioned in
the relevant ASBA Form and includes the account of a UPI Bidder which is blocked
upon acceptance of a UPI Mandate Request made by the UPI Bidder

ASBA Bid A Bid made by an ASBA Bidder

ASBA Bidders All Bidders except Anchor Investors

ASBA Form An application form, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders to submit
Bids which will be considered as the application for Allotment in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus

Banker(s) to the Offer Collectively, the Escrow Collection Bank(s), the Refund Bank(s), the Public Offer

Account Bank(s) and the Sponsor Bank(s), as the case may be

Basis of Allotment

Basis on which Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful Bidders under the Offer,
as described in “Offer Procedure” on page 461

Bid

An indication to make an offer during the Bid/Offer Period by an ASBA Bidder
pursuant to submission of the ASBA Form, or on the Anchor Investor Bidding Date
by an Anchor Investor pursuant to submission of the Anchor Investor Application
Form, to subscribe to or purchase the Equity Shares at a price within the Price Band,
including all revisions and modifications thereto as permitted under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations. The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bid Amount

The highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application Form and
payable by the Bidder and, in the case of Rlls Bidding at the Cut-off Price, the Cap
Price multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such Rlls and mentioned
in the Bid cum Application Form and payable by the Bidder or blocked in the ASBA
Account of the ASBA Bidders, as the case maybe, upon submission of the Bid in the
Offer, as applicable

Eligible Employees applying in the Employee Reservation Portion can apply at the
Cut-Off Price and the Bid amount shall be the Cap Price net of Employee Discount,
if any, multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid by such Eligible Employee and
mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible
Employee shall not exceed Z0.50 million (net of Employee Discount). However, the
initial Allotment to an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall
not exceed %0.20 million. Only in the event of undersubscription in the Employee
Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and
Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 0.20




Term

Description

million, subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee
not exceeding X0.50 million, net of Employee Discount, if any

Bid cum Application Form

The Anchor Investor Application Form or the ASBA Form, as the context requires.

Bid Lot

[®] Equity Shares of face value of R10 each and in multiples of [®] Equity Shares of
face value of %10 each thereafter

Bid/ Offer Period

Except in relation to Bids by Anchor Investors, the period between the Bid/Offer
Opening Date and the Bid/Offer Closing Date, inclusive of both days, during which
prospective Bidders can submit their Bids, including any revisions thereof, in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and in terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus. Provided that the Bidding shall be kept open for a minimum of three
Working Days for all categories of Bidders, other than Anchor Investors

In cases of force majeure, banking strike or similar unforeseen circumstances, our
Company may, for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the Bid/Offer Period for
a minimum of one Working Days, subject to the Bid/Offer Period not exceeding 10
Working Days

Bid/Offer Closing Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date after which
the Designated Intermediaries will not accept any Bids, being [®], which shall be
published in all editions of [e] (a widely circulated English national daily newspaper),
all editions of @] (a widely circulated Hindi national daily newspaper), and [®] edition
of [e] (a widely circulated Marathi daily newspaper, Marathi being the regional
language of Maharashtra, where our Registered Office is located). In case of any
revisions, the extended Bid/Offer Closing Date shall also be notified on the websites
and terminals of the members of the Syndicate, as required under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and communicated to the Designated Intermediaries and the Sponsor
Bank

Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMSs, may consider closing the Bid/Offer
Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Closing Date in accordance
with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In case of any revision, the extended Bid/ Offer
Closing Date shall be widely disseminated by notification to the Stock Exchanges,
and also be notified on the websites of the BRLMs and at the terminals of the
Syndicate Members, which shall also be notified in an advertisement in same
newspapers in which the Bid/ Offer Opening Date was published, as required under
the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Bid/Offer Opening Dat

@D

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date on which
the Designated Intermediaries shall start accepting Bids, being [@], which shall be
published in all editions of [e] (a widely circulated English national daily newspaper),
all editions of [e] (a widely circulated Hindi national daily newspaper), and [®] edition
of [e] (a widely circulated Marathi daily newspaper, Marathi being the regional
language of Maharashtra, where our Registered Office is located)

Bidder or Applicant

Any prospective investor who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus and the Bid cum Application Form and unless otherwise stated or implied,
includes an Anchor Investor

Bidding Centres

Centres at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept the ASBA Forms, i.e.,
Designated SCSB Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for Syndicate, Broker
Centres for Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs and Designated
CDP Locations for CDPs

Book Building Process

Book building process, as provided in Schedule XII1 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations,
in terms of which the Offer is being made

Book Running Lead Managers/
BRLMs/ Managers

The book running lead managers to the Offer namely, 1IFL Capital Services Limited
(formerly known as IIFL Securities Limited), ICICI Securities Limited and SBI
Capital Markets Limited

Broker Centres

Broker centres of the Registered Brokers where ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA
Forms, provided that UPI Bidders may only submit ASBA Forms at such broker
centres if they are Bidding using the UPI Mechanism. The details of such broker
centres, along with the names and contact details of the Registered Brokers, are
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com)




Term

Description

CAN/ Confirmation of
Allocation Note

Notice or intimation of allocation of the Equity Shares sent to Anchor Investors, who
have been allocated the Equity Shares, on/after the Anchor Investor Bidding Date

Cap Price

The higher end of the Price Band, above which the Offer Price and the Anchor
Investor Offer Price will not be finalised and above which no Bids will be accepted,
including any revisions thereof. The Cap Price shall be at least 105% of the Floor
Price and shall not be more than 120% of the Floor Price

Cash Escrow and Sponsor Bank
Agreement

The cash escrow and sponsor bank agreement to be entered into among our Company,
the Promoter Selling Shareholders, the Book Running Lead Managers, the Registrar
to the Offer, the Bankers to the Offer and the Syndicate Members for, inter alia,
collection of the Bid Amounts from the Anchor Investors, transfer of funds to the
Public Offer Account and where applicable, refunds of the amounts collected from
the Anchor Investors, on the terms and conditions thereof, in accordance with the UPI
Circulars

Chartered Engineer

An independent chartered engineer appointed by our Company for the purpose of the
Offer, namely, Lalit Muljibhai Sarvaiya, Chartered Engineer.

Client ID

Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to the
Bidder’s beneficiary account

Collecting Depository
Participant/ CDP

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered with
SEBI and who is eligible to procure Bids at the Designated CDP Locations in terms
of circular no. CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015, issued
by SEBI and other applicable circulars issued by SEBI as per the lists available on the
websites of the Stock Exchanges at www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com, as
updated from time to time

Collecting Registrar and Share
Transfer Agents/ CRTAs

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure Bids
at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of, among others, SEBI circular no.
CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015, issued by SEBI as per
the lists available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com, as updated from time to time

Cut-off Price

Offer Price, finalised by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMSs, which shall
be any price within the Price Band

Only Retail Individual Investors and Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee
Reservation Portion are entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price. QIBs (including Anchor
Investors) and Non-Institutional Investors are not entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price

Cut-Off Time

For all pending UPI Mandate Requests, the Sponsor Bank(s) shall initiate requests for
blocking of funds in the ASBA Accounts of relevant Bidders with a confirmation cut-
off time of 5:00 pm on after the Bid/Offer Closing Date

Demographic Details

Details of the Bidders including the Bidder’s address, name of the Bidder’s
father/husband, investor status, occupation and bank account details and UPI ID,
where applicable

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Forms from relevant
Bidders, a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intm
1d=3 or at such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where Bidders (other than Anchor Investors) can submit
the ASBA Forms. The details of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names
and contact details of the Collecting Depository Participants eligible to accept ASBA
Forms are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges at
www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com and updated from time to time

Designated Date

The date on which funds are transferred from the Escrow Account(s) and the amounts
blocked are transferred from the ASBA Accounts, as the case may be, to the Public
Offer Account(s) or the Refund Account(s), as appropriate, in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, after the finalisation of the Basis of Allotment
in consultation with the Designated Stock Exchange, following which Equity Shares
may be Allotted to successful Bidders in the Offer

Designated Intermediaries

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by UPI Bidders (not using the UPI Mechanism)
authorizing an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA Account, Designated
Intermediaries shall mean SCSBs



http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=3
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=3

Term

Description

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by UPI Bidders where the Bid Amount will be
blocked upon acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by such UPI Bidders using the UPI
Mechanism, Designated Intermediaries shall mean Syndicate, sub-syndicate,
Registered Brokers, CDPs and RTAs

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by QIBs and NIlIs (not using the UPI
Mechanism), Designated Intermediaries shall mean SCSBs, Syndicate, sub Syndicate,
Registered Brokers, CDPs and CRTAs.

Designated RTA Locations

Such centres of the RTAs where ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms (in case
of UPI Bidder only ASBA Forms under UPI). The details of such Designated RTA
Locations, along with the names and contact details of the RTAs are available on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchanges at www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com and as updated from time to time

Designated SCSB Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Forms, a list of which is
available on the website of SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes or at such other
website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

Designated Stock Exchange

[e]

Draft Red Herring Prospectus/
DRHP

This draft red herring prospectus dated December 27, 2024 issued in accordance with
the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which does not contain complete particulars of the price
at which the Equity Shares will be Allotted and the size of the Offer and includes any
addenda or corrigenda thereto

Eligible Employees

All or any of the following: (a) a permanent employee of our Company or our
Subsidiary, present in India or outside India (excluding such employees who are not
eligible to invest in the Offer under applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines)
as of the date of filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC and who continues
to be a permanent employee of our Company or our Subsidiary, as the case may be,
until the submission of the Bid cum Application Form; (b) a Director of our Company,
whether whole time or not, who is eligible to apply under the Employee Reservation
Portion under applicable law as of the date of filing of the Red Herring Prospectus
with the RoC and who continues to be a Director of our Company, until the submission
of the Bid cum Application Form, but not including (i) our Promoters; (ii) persons
belonging to the Promoter Group; and (iii) Directors, who either themselves or
through their relatives or through any body corporate, directly or indirectly, hold more
than 10% of the outstanding Equity Shares of our Company.The maximum Bid
Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall not
exceed X 0.50 million (net of Employee Discount). However, the initial allocation to
an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed X 0.20
million (net of Employee Discount). Only in the event of under-subscription in the
Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for
allocation and Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in
excess of X 0.20 million (net of Employee Discount, if any), subject to the maximum
value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding % 0.50 million (net
of Employee Discount, if any)

Eligible FPI(s)

FPI(s) from such jurisdictions outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer/
invitation under the Offer and in relation to whom the Bid cum Application Form and
the Red Herring Prospectus constitutes an invitation to subscribe to the Equity Shares

Employee Discount

Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may offer a discount of up to [#]%
of the Offer Price (equivalent to X [e®] per Equity Share) to Eligible Employee(s)
Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion, which shall be announced at least two
Working Days prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date.

Employee Reservation Portion

In accordance with and subject to Regulation 33 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the
portion of the Offer being up to [®] Equity Shares, aggregating up to X [@] million
available for allocation to Eligible Employees, on a proportionate basis. Such portion
shall not exceed 5% of the post-Offer Equity Share capital of our Company

Eligible NRI(s)

A non-resident Indian, resident in a jurisdiction outside India where it is not unlawful
to make an offer or invitation under the Offer and in relation to whom the Red Herring
Prospectus and the Bid Cum Application Form constitutes an invitation to subscribe
or purchase for the Equity Shares




Term

Description

Escrow Account(s)

The ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing” Account(s) to be opened with the Escrow
Collection Bank and in whose favour Anchor Investors will transfer the money
through direct credit/NEFT/RTGS/NACH in respect of the Bid Amount while
submitting a Bid

Escrow and Sponsor Bank(s)
Agreement

The agreement to be entered into amongst our Company, the Registrar to the Offer,
the BRLMs, the Syndicate Members and Banker(s) to the Offer in accordance with
the UPI Circulars, collection of the Bid Amounts from Anchor Investors, transfer of
funds to the Public Offer Account(s) and where applicable remitting refunds, if any,
to Bidders, on the terms and conditions thereof

Escrow Collection Bank(s)

The Bank(s) which are clearing members and registered with SEBI as bankers to an
issue under the SEBI BTI Regulations and with whom the Escrow Account(s) will be
opened, in this case being [®]

First Bidder Bidder whose name shall be mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form or the
Revision Form and in case of joint Bids, whose name shall also appear as the first
holder of the beneficiary account held in joint names

Floor Price The lower end of the Price Band, subject to any revision(s) thereto, at or above which

the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price will be finalised and below which
no Bids will be accepted

Fraudulent Borrower

Fraudulent borrower as defined under Regulation 2(1)(lll) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations

Fresh Issue

The fresh issue of up to [®] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each by our Company,
at X [e] per Equity Share (including a premium of X [e] per Equity Share) aggregating
up to % 6,000 million. For information, see “The Offer” on page 64".

*Qur Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider an issue of specified securities,

as may be permitted under applicable law, at its discretion, aggregating up to < 1,200.00
million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC (“Pre-1PO Placement”).
The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in
consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-IPO Placement is completed, the amount raised
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh lIssue, subject to
compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as
amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20.00% of the size of the
Fresh Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate
the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may proceed with the Offer or the
Offer may be successful and will result in listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges.
Further, relevant disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO
Placement (if undertaken) shall be appropriately made in the relevant sections of the Red
Herring Prospectus and Prospectus.

Fugitive Economic Offender

An individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the
Fugitive Economic Offenders Act, 2018 and Regulation 2(1)(p) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations

General Information Document

The General Information Document for investing in public offers, prepared and issued
in accordance with the SEBI circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/37) dated
March 17, 2020, issued by SEBI, suitably modified and updated pursuant to, among
others, the UPI Circulars and any subsequent circulars or notifications issued by SEBI
from time to time

Gross Proceeds

The gross proceeds of the Fresh Issue

ICICI Securities

ICICI Securities Limited

IIFL Capital

IIFL Capital Services Limited (formerly known as IIFL Securities Limited)

June 2021 Circular

SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570 dated June 2, 2021

Minimum NII Application Size

Bid Amount of more than % 0.20 million

Monitoring Agency

Monitoring agency appointed pursuant to the Monitoring Agency Agreement, namely

[e]

Monitoring Agency Agreement

The agreement to be entered into between our Company and the Monitoring Agency prior
to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus

Mutual Fund Portion

The portion of the Offer being 5% of the Net QIB Portion consisting of [e] Equity
Shares of face value of 310 each which shall be available for allocation to Mutual
Funds only on a proportionate basis, subject to valid Bids being received at or above
the Offer Price




Term

Description

Mutual Funds

Mutual funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

Net Offer

The Offer less the Employee Reservation Portion

Net Proceeds

The proceeds of the Fresh Issue less our Company’s share of the Offer related expenses.
For details regarding the use of the Net Proceeds and the Offer related expenses, see
“Obijects of the Offer — Net Proceeds” on page 93

Net QIB Portion

The portion of the QIB Portion less the number of Equity Shares Allotted to the
Anchor Investors

Non-Institutional Investors/
Nlls

All Bidders that are not QIBs or Retail Individual Bidders or the Eligible Employees
Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion and who have Bid for Equity Shares for
an amount of more than ¥ 0.20 million (but not including NRIs other than Eligible
NRIs)

Non-Institutional Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 15% of the Net Offer consisting of [e]
Equity Shares of face value of 10 each which shall be available for allocation to Non-
Institutional Investors, of which (a) one-third portion shall be reserved for applicants
with application size of more than X 0.20 million and up to ¥ 1.00 million, and (b) two-
thirds portion shall be reserved for applicants with application size of more than % 1.00
million, provided that the unsubscribed portion in either of such sub-categories may
be allocated to applicants in the other sub-category of Non-Institutional Investors,
subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price

Non-Resident/NR

A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA and includes NRIs, FPIs and
FVCls

Offer

The initial public offering of up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of X 10 each for
cash at a price of X [e] each (including a share premium of X [®] each), aggregating
up to X [e] million by our Company comprising a Fresh Issue of [®] Equity Shares of
face value of 10 each aggregating up to X 6,000.00 million and an Offer for Sale of
up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each aggregating to [e] million
by the Promoter Selling Shareholders.

Offer Agreement

The agreement dated December 27, 2024 amongst our Company, the Promoter Selling
Shareholders and the BRLMSs, pursuant to which certain arrangements are agreed to
in relation to the Offer

Offer for Sale

The offer for sale component of the Offer of up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares of face
value of %10 each aggregating up to T [e] million, comprising of an offer for sale of
up to 3,937,008 Equity Shares of face value of 310 each by Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
aggregating up to X [e] million and up to 3,937,007 Equity Shares of face value of
%10 each by Gautam Sampatraj Jain aggregating up to X [@] million

Offer Price

X [@] per Equity Share, being the final price within the Price Band, at which Equity
Shares will be Allotted to successful Bidders, other than Anchor Investors as
determined in accordance with the Book Building Process and determined by our
Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus on the Pricing Date. Equity Shares will be Allotted to Anchor
Investors at the Anchor Investor Offer Price in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus

A discount of up to [#]% on the Offer Price (equivalent of X [@] per Equity Share)
may be offered to Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion.
The Employee Discount if any, will be decided by our Company, in consultation with
the Book Running Lead Managers. Such portion shall not exceed 5% of the post-Offer
Equity Share capital of our Company

The Offer Price will be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs on
the Pricing Date, in accordance with the Book Building Process and in terms of the
Red Herring Prospectus

Offered Shares

Up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares of face value of 310 each aggregating to X [e]
million being offered for sale by the Promoter Selling Shareholders in the Offer for Sale
component of the Offer

Pre-1PO Placement

A further issue of Equity Shares, through a preferential offer or any other method as
may be permitted in accordance with applicable law, aggregating up to X 1,200.00
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Description

million, which may be undertaken by the Company in consultation with the BRLMs,
prior to the filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC.

Price Band

Price band of a minimum price of X [®] per Equity Share (Floor Price) and the
maximum price of X [@] per Equity Share (Cap Price) including any revisions thereof.
The Cap Price shall be at least 105% of the Floor Price and shall be less than or equal
to 120% of the Floor Price. The Price Band and the minimum Bid Lot for the Offer
will be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMSs, and will be
advertised in all editions of [®] (a widely circulated English national daily newspaper),
all editions of [e] (a widely circulated Hindi national daily newspaper) and [®] edition
of [e] (a widely circulated Marathi daily newspaper, Marathi being the regional
language of Maharashtra, where our Registered Office is situated) at least two
Working Days prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date, with the relevant financial ratios
calculated at the Floor Price and at the Cap Price, and shall be made available to the
Stock Exchanges for the purpose of uploading on their respective websites

Pricing Date

The date on which our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, will finalise the
Offer Price

Prospectus

The Prospectus to be filed with the RoC in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013,
and the SEBI ICDR Regulations containing, inter alia, the Offer Price that is
determined at the end of the Book Building Process, the size of the Offer and certain
other information, including any addenda or corrigenda thereto.

Public Offer Account Bank(s)

The banks with which the Public Offer Account(s) is opened for collection of Bid
Amounts from Escrow Account(s) and ASBA Accounts on the Designated Date, in
this case being [@]

Public Offer Account(s)

The ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing’ bank account(s) to be opened with the Public
Offer Account Bank(s) under Section 40(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, to receive
monies from the Escrow Account(s) and ASBA Accounts on the Designated Date

QIB Category/ QIB Portion

The category of the Offer (including the Anchor Investor Portion), being not more
than 50% of the Net Offer, consisting of [®] Equity Shares of face value of 210 each
aggregating to X [e] million, which shall be available for allocation to QIBs on a
proportionate basis, including the Anchor Investor Portion (in which allocation shall
be on a discretionary basis, as determined by our Company in consultation with the
BRLMs), subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price or the
Anchor Investor Offer Price (for Anchor Investors)

Qualified Institutional Buyers/
QIBs/ QIB Bidders

Quialified institutional buyers as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations

Red Herring Prospectus/ RHP

The red herring prospectus to be issued in accordance with Section 32 of the
Companies Act, 2013 and the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which will
not have complete particulars of the price at which the Equity Shares will be offered
and the size of the Offer including any addenda or corrigenda thereto

The Bid/Offer Opening Date shall be at least three Working Days after the filing of
Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Red Herring Prospectus will become the
Prospectus upon filing with the RoC after the Pricing Date, including any addenda or
corrigenda thereto

Refund Account(s)

The ‘no-lien” and ‘non-interest bearing’ account(s) opened with the Refund Bank(s),
from which refunds, if any, of the whole or part of the Bid Amount to the Anchor
Investors shall be made.

Refund Bank(s)

The Banker(s) to the Offer which are a clearing member registered with SEBI under
the SEBI BTI Regulations with whom the Refund Account(s) will be opened, in this
case being [@]

Registered Brokers

Stockbrokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide terminals, other
than the members of the Syndicate and eligible to procure Bids in terms of SEBI
circular number CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated October 4, 2012 (to the extent not rescinded
by the SEBI ICDR Master Circular in relation to the SEBI ICDR Regulations), and
the UPI Circulars, issued by SEBI

Registrar Agreement

The agreement dated December 27, 2024 between our Company and the Registrar to
the Offer in relation to the responsibilities and obligations of the Registrar to the Offer
pertaining to the Offer

Registrar to the Offer/ Registrar

Link Intime India Private Limited
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Retail Individual Investors(s)/
RII(s)

Individual Bidders, who have Bid for the Equity Shares for an amount not more than
% 0.20 million in any of the bidding options in the Offer (including HUFs applying
through their Karta and Eligible NRIs and does not include NRIs other than Eligible
NRIs)

Retail Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 35% of the Net Offer consisting of [e]
Equity Shares of face value of ¥10 each, available for allocation to Retail Individual
Investors as per the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at
or above the Offer Price

Revision Form

The form used by the Bidders to modify the quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid
Amount in their Bid cum Application Forms or any previous Revision Forms. QIBs
and Non-Institutional Bidders are not allowed to withdraw or lower their Bids (in
terms of the quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail
Individual Bidders and Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation
Portion can revise their Bids during the Bid/Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until
the Bid/Offer Closing Date

RTASs/ Registrar and Share

The registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure

Transfer Agents Bids at the Designated RTA Locations as per the list available on the websites of BSE
and NSE, and the UPI Circulars.

SBICAPS SBI Capital Markets Limited

Self-Certified Syndicate (i) The banks registered with SEBI, offering services in relation to ASBA (other than

Bank(s)/ SCSB(s) through UPI Mechanism), a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at

www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=34
or
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35,
as applicable, or such other website as updated from time to time, and

(i) The banks registered with SEBI, enabled for UPI Mechanism, a list of which is
available on the website of SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40
or such other website as updated from time to time

Share Escrow Agent

The share escrow agent to be appointed pursuant to the Share Escrow Agreement,
namely, [®]

Share Escrow Agreement

The agreement to be entered into between our Company, the Promoter Selling
Shareholders and the Share Escrow Agent in connection with the transfer of the
respective portion of Equity Shares being offered by each Promoter Selling
Shareholder in the Offer for Sale portion of the Offer and credit of such Equity Shares
to the demat account of the Allottees in accordance with the Basis of Allotment

Specified Locations

Bidding centres where the Syndicate shall accept ASBA Forms from Bidders, a list of
which will be included in the Bid cum Application Form

Sponsor Bank(s)

The Bankers to the Offer registered with SEBI, which have been appointed by our
Company to act as a conduit between the Stock Exchanges and NPCI in order to push
the UPI Mandate Request and/or payment instructions of the UPI Bidders using the
UPI and carry out other responsibilities, in terms of the UPI Circulars, in this case
being [e]

Stock Exchanges

Collectively, BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited

Syndicate Agreement

Agreement to be entered into among our Company, the BRLMs and the Syndicate
Members in relation to collection of Bid cum Application Forms by Syndicate

Syndicate Members

Intermediaries (other than the BRLMS) registered with SEBI who are permitted to
accept bids, applications and place order with respect to the Offer and carry out
activities as an underwriter, namely, [®]

Syndicate/Members of the
Syndicate

Together, the BRLMs and the Syndicate Members

Systemically Important Non-
Banking Financial Company/
NBFC-SI

Systemically important non-banking financial company as defined under Regulation
2(1)(iii) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Underwriters

[e]

Underwriting Agreement

The agreement among the Underwriters and our Company to be entered into on or
after the Pricing Date, but prior to filing of the Prospectus with the RoC
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UPI

Unified Payments Interface, which is an instant payment mechanism, developed by
NPCI.

UPI Bidder(s)

Collectively, individual investors applying as Eligible Employees applying in the
Employee Reservation Portion and Retail Individual Investors in the Retail Portion,
and individuals applying as Non-Institutional Investors with a Bid Amount of up to X
0.50 million in the Non-Institutional Portion

Pursuant to SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5,
2022 (to the extent not rescinded by the SEBI ICDR Master Circular in relation to the
SEBI ICDR Regulations), all individual investors applying in public issues where the
application amount is up to % 0.50 million shall use UPI and shall provide their UPI
ID in the bid-cum-application form submitted with: (i) a syndicate member, (ii) a stock
broker registered with a recognized stock exchange (whose name is mentioned on the
website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity), (iii) a depository
participant (whose name is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible
for such activity), and (iv) a registrar to an issue and share transfer agent (whose name
is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity)

UPI Circulars

The SEBI circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/138) dated November 1, 2018,
SEBI circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/50) dated April 3, 2019, SEBI
circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76) dated June 28, 2019, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85) dated July 26, 2019, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DCR2/CIR/P/2019/133) dated November 8, 2019, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2020/50) dated March 30, 2020, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2021/47) dated March 31, 2021, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570) dated June 2, 2021, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/P/2022/45) dated April 5, 2022, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51) dated April 20, 2022, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2022/75) dated May 30, 2022, SEBI master circular
SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-1/P/CIR/2023/70 dated May 17, 2023 (to the extent that such
circulars pertain to the UPI Mechanism), SEBI master circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/PoD-
2/PICIR/2023/00094) dated June 21, 2023, SEBI circular
(SEBI/HO/CFD/TPD1/CIR/P/2023/140) dated August 9, 2023, SEBI master circular
no. SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-1/P/CIR/2024/37 dated May 7, 2024 (each to the extent
not rescinded by the SEBI ICDR Master Circular in relation to the SEBI ICDR
Regulations), NSE circulars (23/2022) dated July 22, 2022 and (25/2022) dated
August 3, 2022, the BSE notices (20220722-30) dated July 22, 2022 and (20220803-
40) dated August 3, 2022 and any subsequent circulars or notifications issued by SEBI
or Stock Exchanges in this regard from time to time

UPI ID

ID created on Unified Payment Interface (UPI) for single-window mobile payment
system developed by the NPCI

UPI Mandate Request

A request (intimating the UPI Bidders, by way of a notification on the UPI linked
mobile application as disclosed by SCSBs on the website of SEBI and by way of an
SMS directing the UPI Bidders to such UPI linked mobile application) to the UPI
Bidders using the UPI Mechanism initiated by the Sponsor Banks to authorize
blocking of funds equivalent to the Bid Amount in the relevant ASBA Account
through the UPI linked mobile application, and the subsequent debit of funds in case
of Allotment

UPI Mechanism

The Bidding mechanism that may be used by UPI Bidders to make Bids in the Offer
in accordance with UPI Circulars

UPI PIN

Password to authenticate UPI transaction

Wilful Defaulter

A company or person, as the case may be, categorised as a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution (as defined under the Companies Act, 2013) or
consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by
the RBI

Working Day(s)

All days on which commercial banks in Mumbai, India are open for business,
provided however, for the purpose of announcement of the Price Band and the
Bid/Offer Period, “Working Day” shall mean all days, excluding all Saturdays,
Sundays and public holidays on which commercial banks in Maharashtra, India are
open for business and the time period between the Bid/Offer Closing Date and listing
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Description

of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, “Working Day” shall mean all trading
days of the Stock Exchanges excluding Sundays and bank holidays in India in
accordance with circulars issued by SEBI, including UPI Circulars

Conventional and general terms and abbreviations

Term

Description

Alc

Account

AGM

Annual general meeting

AS / Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI

AIF(s)

Alternate Investment Funds as defined in and registered with SEBI under the SEBI
AIF Regulations

BSE

BSE Limited

Calendar Year or Year

Unless the context otherwise requires, shall refer to the twelve-month period ending
December 31

CAGR Compounded Annual Growth Rate
CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited
CIN Corporate Identity Number

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956, and the rules, regulations, notifications, modifications and
clarifications made thereunder, as the context requires

Companies Act, 2013/
Companies Act

Companies Act, 2013 and the rules, regulations, notifications, modifications and
clarifications thereunder

CoVID-19 A public health emergency of international concern as declared by the World Health
Organization on January 30, 2020, and a pandemic on March 11, 2020

CSR Corporate social responsibility

Demat Dematerialised

Depositories Act

Depositories Act, 1996 read with the rules and regulations thereunder

Depository or Depositories

NSDL and/or CDSL

DIN

Director ldentification Number

DP ID

Depository Participant’s Identification Number

DP/ Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DPIT

The Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Ministry of Commerce
and Industry, Government of India

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

EPS Earnings Per Share

FDI Foreign direct investment

FDI Policy Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DPIIT by way of
circular bearing number DPIT file number 5(2)/2020-FDI Policy dated October 15,
2020 effective from October 15, 2020 any modifications thereto or substitutions
thereof, issued from time to time

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, including the rules and regulations
thereunder

FEMA Rules Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019

Fl Financial institutions

Financial Year, Fiscal, FY/F.Y.

Period of twelve months ending on March 31 of that particular year, unless stated
otherwise

FPI(s) A foreign portfolio investor who has been registered pursuant to the SEBI FPI
Regulations

FVCI Foreign Venture Capital Investors (as defined under the Securities and Exchange
Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investor) Regulations, 2000) registered with
SEBI

F&S Frost & Sullivan (India) Private Limited

Gazette Gazette of India

GDP Gross domestic product

Gol / Central Government

Government of India

GST

Goods and services tax

HUF

Hindu undivided family
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I.T. Act Income Tax Act, 1961

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Ind AS Accounting Standards notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India, being, accounting principles
generally accepted in India including the accounting standards specified under Section
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules,
2014, as amended

IPO Initial public offer

IT Information technology

IT Act Information Technology Act, 2000

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India

MIDC Maharashtra Industrial Development Corporation

MSMEs Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises

Mutual Fund(s)

Mutual funds registered under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996

Mn/ mn Million

N.A. or NA Not applicable

NACH National Automated Clearing House

NAV Net asset value

NEFT National electronic fund transfer

Non-Resident A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA

NPCI National Payments Corporation of India

NRE Account Non-resident external account established in accordance with the Foreign Exchange

Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016

NRI/ Non-Resident Indian

A person resident outside India who is a citizen of India as defined under the Foreign
Exchange Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016 or is an ‘Overseas Citizen of
India’ cardholder within the meaning of section 7(A) of the Citizenship Act, 1955

NRO Account Non-resident ordinary account established in accordance with the Foreign Exchange
Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

OCB/ Overseas Corporate Body

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly
to the extent of at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts in which not less than
60% of the beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs directly or indirectly and
which was in existence on October 3, 2003, and immediately before such date had
taken benefits under the general permission granted to OCBs under the FEMA. OCBs
are not allowed to invest in the Offer

P/E Ratio Price/earnings ratio

PAN Permanent account number allotted under the I.T. Act
RBI Reserve Bank of India

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act

RONW Return on net worth

Rs. / Rupees/ X/ INR Indian Rupees

RTGS Real time gross settlement

SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956

SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the SEBI Act
SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations,
2012

SEBI BTI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994

SEBI FPI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations,
2019

SEBI FVCI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors)
Regulations, 2000
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SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2018

SEBI ICDR Master Circular

SEBI master circular bearing reference SEBI/HO/CFD/PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/00094
dated June 21, 2023

SEBI Insider Trading
Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations,
2015

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

SEBI Merchant Bankers
Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992

SEBI Mutual Funds Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

SEBI RTA Master Circular

The SEBI master circular no. SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-1/P/CIR/2024/37 dated May 7,
2024, to the extent it pertains to UPI

SEBI SBEB Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat
Equity) Regulations, 2021

SEBI Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011

SEBI VCF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations, 1996 as
repealed pursuant to SEBI AIF Regulations

State Government

Government of a state of India.

TAN Tax deduction account number

U. S. Securities Act United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended

US GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America.
USA/U.S./US The United States of America

UsSD/U.S.$ United States Dollars

VAT Value added tax

VCFs Venture capital funds as defined in, and registered with SEBI under, the SEBI VCF

Regulations (now repealed) or the SEBI AIF Regulations, as the case may be

Technical and Industry Related Terms

Term
Al
AMC
ARM
BFSI
CRM
CSR
CvvVv
IBA
IOMS
loT
KAM
NFC
NPCI
PCI
PDF
PVC
R&D
RFID
SKUs
TMS
UFI

Description
Artificial intelligence
Asset management companies
Account relationship managers
Banking, financial services and insurance
Customer relationship management
Corporate social responsibility
Card verification value
Indian Banks Association
Inventory and order management system
Internet of things
Key account management
Near field communication
National Payments Corporation of India
Payment Card Industry
Portable document format
Print polyviny! chloride
Research and development
Radio frequency identification
Stock keeping units
Tag management system
Unified payment interface
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Financial and Operational Key Performance Indicators

KPI

Explanation

Revenue from Operations

Revenue from Operations is used by our management to track the revenue
profile of our business and in turn helps assess the overall financial
performance of the Company and size of the business

Total Income

Total Income is used by the management to track the revenue from operations
profile and other income of the overall business and in turn helps assess the
overall financial performance of the Company and size of the business.

Revenue per Business Vertical

Revenue per Business Vertical provides information about the revenue from
each of the business vertical that the company operates in.

Revenue growth (YoY)

Revenue growth provides information regarding the growth of the business
for the respective period.

Gross Profit

Gross Profit provides information regarding the profits from manufacturing
of products and services provided by the Company.

Gross Profit Margin

Gross Profit Margin is an indicator of the profitability on sale of products
manufactured sold and services provided by the Company.

EBITDA

EBITDA provides information regarding the operational profitability of the
business. It facilitates evaluation of the year-on-year performance of the
business.

EBITDA Margin

EBITDA Margin (%) is an indicator of the operational profitability of
company’s business and assists in tracking the margin profile of the business
and the historical performance and provides financial benchmarking against
peers.

PAT PAT represents the profit/loss that the company’s make for the financial year
or during a given period. It provides information regarding the overall
profitability of the company’s business.

PAT Margin PAT Margin is an indicator of the overall profitability of the company’s

business and provides financial benchmarking against peers as well as to
compare against the historical performance of company’s business.

Return on Equity (RoOE)

Return on Equity (%) represents how efficiently a company generate profits
from the shareholders’ funds.

Return on Capital Employed
(RoCE)

Return on Capital Employed represents how efficiently a company generate
earnings before interest & tax from the capital employed.

Net Debt

Net debt reflects a company's financial health by indicating its ability to cover
liabilities with available cash and near-term liquidity

Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio

Net Debt to EBITDA ratio enables to measure the ability and extent to which
a company can cover debt in comparison to the EBITDA being generated by
the Company.

Net Debt to Equity ratio

The Net Debt to Equity Ratio is a measure of the extent to which a company
can cover debt and represents debt position in comparison to the company’s
equity position. It helps evaluate company’s financial leverage.

Gross Fixed asset turnover
ratio

It measures a company’s efficiency in generating revenue from its investment
in fixed assets, highlighting operational productivity

Net Working Capital

Net Working Capital is a financial metric that measures company’s liquidity
and ability to meet short-term obligations.

Net Working Capital Days

Net Working Capital Days is a metric that shows how many days it takes for
a company to convert its working capital into sales revenue.
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS, USE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MARKET DATA AND
CURRENCY OF PRESENTATION

Certain Conventions

All references in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus to “India” are to the Republic of India and its territories and
possessions and all references herein to the “Government”, “Indian Government”, “Gol”, “Central Government” or the
“State Government” are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable.

All references herein to the:
i. “US”,“USA”, the “U.S.” or the “United States” are to the United States of America and its territories and possessions;

Unless indicated otherwise, all references to page numbers in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to page numbers of
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Financial Data

Our Company’s financial year commences on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ends on March 31
of that particular calendar year and accordingly, all references to a particular financial year or fiscal are to the 12-month
period commencing on April 1 of the immediately preceding calendar year and ending on March 31 of that particular
calendar year. Unless the context requires otherwise, all references to a year in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to
a calendar year and references to a Fiscal/Fiscal Year are to the year ended on March 31, of that calendar year. Certain
other financial information pertaining to our Subsidiary and Group Companies are derived from their respective audited
financial statements.

Unless indicated otherwise or the context requires otherwise, the financial information and financial ratios in this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus have been derived from the Restated Financial Information. For further information, see
“Restated Financial Information” on page 303.

The Restated Financial Information of our Company and our Subsidiary as at and for the three months period ended June
30, 2024 and as at and for the years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, which comprises the
restated consolidated statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, restated standalone statement
of assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, the restated consolidated statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), the restated consolidated statement of changes in equity, the restated consolidated
statement of cash flow for the three months period ended June 30, 2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024, the restated
standalone statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the restated standalone statement of changes
in equity, the restated standalone statement of cash flow for the years ended on March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 and the
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information prepared in terms of the requirements of
Section 26 of Part I of Chapter III of the Companies Act, SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Guidance Note on “Reports in
Company Prospectuses (Revised 2019)” issued by ICALI, as amended from time to time and included in “Restated Financial
Information” on page 303.

There are significant differences between Ind AS, Indian GAAP, US GAAP and IFRS. Our Company does not provide
reconciliation of its financial information to IFRS or US GAAP. Our Company has not attempted to explain those
differences or quantify their impact on the financial data included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and it is urged
that you consult your own advisors regarding such differences and their impact on our Company’s financial data. For
details in connection with risks involving differences between Ind AS, U.S. GAAP and IFRS, see “Risk Factors —
Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which
investors may be more familiar with and may consider material to their assessment of our financial condition” on page
58. The degree to which the financial information included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus will provide meaningful
information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, the
Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting
policies and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus should accordingly be
limited. Further, any figures sourced from third-party industry sources may be rounded off to other than two decimal
points to conform to their respective sources.

In this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed
are due to rounding off. All figures in decimals have been rounded off to the second decimal and all percentage figures
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have been rounded off to two decimal places. In certain instances, discrepancies in any table between the sums of the
amounts listed in the table and totals are due to rounding off.

Further, any figures sourced from third party industry sources may be rounded off to other than to the second decimal to
conform to their respective sources.

Any percentage amounts, as set forth in “Risk Factors”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 33, 219 and 400, respectively, and elsewhere in this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus, unless otherwise stated or context requires otherwise, have been derived from Restated Financial
Information or non-GAAP financial measures as described below.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Certain measures included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, for instance Cost of Materials Consumed, Gross Profit,
Gross Profit Margin, EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, Net Cash Generated / (Used In) from Operating Activities / EBITDA,
Net Worth, Return on Net Worth, Return on Capital Employed, Return on Assets and Profit for the Year / Period Margin
(the “Non-GAAP Measures’’), presented in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are supplemental measures of our
performance and liquidity that are not required by, or presented in accordance with Ind AS, IFRS or US GAAP.
Furthermore, these Non-GAAP Measures, are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Indian
GAAP, IFRS or US GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net profit/loss, revenue from operations or
any other performance measures derived in accordance with Ind AS, IFRS or US GAAP or as an alternative to cash flow
from operations or as a measure of our liquidity. Further, these Non-GAAP Measures and other statistical and other
information relating to operations and financial performance should not be considered in isolation or construed as an
alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the years/ period or any other measure of financial performance or as an
indicator of our operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or
financing activities derived in accordance with Ind AS, Indian GAAP, IFRS or US GAAP. In addition, these Non-GAAP
Measures and other statistical and other information relating to operations and financial performance, are not standardised
terms and may not be computed on the basis of any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry and
therefore, may not be comparable to financial measures of similar nomenclature that may be computed and presented by
other companies and are not measures of operating performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS and may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Further, they may have limited utility as a
comparative measure. Although such Non-GAAP financial measures are not a measure of performance calculated in
accordance with applicable accounting standards, our Company’s management believes that they are useful to an investor
in evaluating us as they are widely used measures to evaluate a company’s operating performance. For further
information, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Non-GAAP
Measures” on page 404.

Industry and Market Data

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, including in the sections
titled “Risk Factors”, “Industry Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” has been obtained or derived from the report titled “Connected Transactions:
Exploring the Payment Card, 10T RFID, and ESIM Markets” dated December, 2024, prepared by F&S, which has been
prepared exclusively for the purpose of understanding the industry in connection with the Offer and commissioned and
paid for by our Company, pursuant to the engagement letter dated August 9, 2024. F&S has, pursuant to their consent
letter dated December 26, 2024 (“Letter”) accorded their no objection and consent to use the F&S Report in connection
with the Offer. The F&S Report is available on the website of our Company at the following web-link:
www.seshaasai.com/investors until the Bid / Offer Closing Date and publicly available information as well as other
industry publications and sources. Unless otherwise indicated, all financial, operational, industry and other related
information derived from the F&S Report and included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus with respect to any particular
year, refers to such information for the relevant calendar year. F&S is an independent agency which has no relationship
with our Company, our Promoters, any of our Directors, Subsidiary, Promoter Selling Shareholders, Key Managerial
Personnel, Senior Management Personnel or the Book Running Lead Managers.

The F&S Report is subject to the following disclaimer:
Frost & Sullivan has taken due care and caution in preparing this report (“F&S Report”) based on the information
obtained by Frost & Sullivan from sources which it considers reliable (“Data”). This F&S Report is not a

recommendation to invest / disinvest in any entity covered in the Report and no part of this Report should be construed
as an expert advice or investment advice or any form of investment banking within the meaning of any law or regulation.
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Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, nothing in the Report is to be construed as Frost & Sullivan providing
or intending to provide any services in jurisdictions where Frost & Sullivan does not have the necessary permission
and/or registration to carry out its business activities in this regard. Seshaasai Technologies Limited (formerly known
as Seshaasai Business Forms Limited) will be responsible for ensuring compliances and consequences of non-
compliances for use of the F&S Report or part thereof outside India. No part of this Frost & Sullivan Report may be
published/reproduced in any form without Frost & Sullivan’s prior written approval.”

Except for the F&S Report we have not commissioned any report for purposes of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and
any market and industry related data, other than that extracted or obtained from the F&S Report, used in this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus has been obtained or derived from publicly available documents and other industry sources.

Industry publications generally state that the information contained in such publications has been obtained from publicly
available documents from various sources believed to be reliable sources, the data used in these sources may have been
re-classified by us for the purposes of presentation. Data from these sources may also not be comparable. The excerpts
of the Industry Report are disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and there are no parts, information, data (which
may be relevant for the proposed Offer), left out or changed in any manner. The extent to which the industry and market
data presented in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is meaningful and depends upon the reader’s familiarity with, and
understanding of, the methodologies used in compiling such information. There are no standard data gathering
methodologies in the industry in which our Company conducts business and methodologies, and assumptions may vary
widely among different market and industry sources. Such information involves risks, uncertainties and numerous
assumptions and is subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors — Certain
sections of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus disclose information from the F&S Report which is a paid report and
commissioned and paid for by us exclusively in connection with the Issue and any reliance on such information for
making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks. ” on page 54. Accordingly, no investment decision
should be solely made on the basis of such information.

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, “Basis for Offer Price” on page 106
includes information relating to our peer group companies and industry averages. Such information has been derived
from publicly available sources specified therein. Such industry sources and publications are also prepared based on
information as at specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Industry sources and publications
may also base this information on estimates and assumptions that may prove to be incorrect.

Currency and Units of Presentation

All references to:

e “Rupees” or “INR” or “%” or “Rs.” are to Indian Rupees, the official currency of the Republic of India; and

o “U.S$”, “U.S. Dollar”, “USD” are to United States Dollars, the official currency of the United States of America;

All the figures in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, except for figures derived from the F&S Report (which are in million
or billion), have been presented in million or in whole numbers where the numbers have been too small to present in
million unless stated otherwise. One million represents 1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000 and one
trillion represents 1,000,000,000,000. One lakh represents 100,000 and one crore represents 10,000,000. Certain figures
contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, including financial information, have been subject to rounding
adjustments. Any discrepancies in any table between the totals and the sum of the amounts listed are due to rounding off.
All figures in decimals have been rounded off to the second decimal. In certain instances, (i) the sum or percentage
change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure given, and (ii) the sum of the figures in a column or
row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row. However, figures sourced
from third-party industry sources may be expressed in denominations other than million or may be rounded off to other
than two decimal points in the respective sources, and such figures have been expressed in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus in such denominations or rounded-off to such number of decimal points as provided in such respective
sources.

Time

All references to time in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to Indian Standard Time. Unless indicated otherwise, all
references to a year in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to a calendar year.
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Exchange Rates

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus may contain conversions of certain other currency amounts into Indian Rupees that
have been presented solely to comply with the requirements of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. These conversions should
not be construed as a representation that such currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into Indian Rupees,
at any particular rate, or at all.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information with respect to the exchange rate between the < and
certain currencies:

(in 3)
Currency As at
June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024” March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
1 USD 83.45 83.37 82.22 75.81

Source: FBIL Reference Rate as available on www.fbil.org.in.

Note: Exchange rate is rounded off to two decimal points.

* The exchange rate has been included as on March 28, 2024, as March 29, 2024, March 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024 were Good
Friday, a Saturday and a Sunday, respectively.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus contains certain statements which are not statements of historical fact and may be
described as “forward-looking statements”. These forward-looking statements include statements which can generally be
identified by words or phrases such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “are likely”, “believe”, “continue”, “can”, “could”, “expect”,
“estimate”, “intend”, “may”, “likely”, “objective”, “plan”, “propose”, “will continue”, “seek to”, “will achieve”, “will
likely”, “will pursue” or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe the strategies,
objectives, plans or goals of our Company are also forward-looking statements. All statements regarding our expected
financial conditions, results of operations, business plans and prospects are forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements include statements as to our business strategy, plans, revenue, and profitability (including, without
limitation, any financial or operating projections or forecasts) and other matters discussed in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus that are not historical facts. For the reasons described below, we cannot assure investors that the expectations
reflected in these forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. However, these are not the exclusive means of
identifying forward-looking statements. Therefore, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements and not to regard such statements as a guarantee of future performance.

These forward-looking statements made by us or any third parties in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are based on our
current plans, estimates and expectations and actual results may differ materially from those suggested by such forward-
looking statements. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about us that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement. This
may be due to risks or uncertainties associated with our expectations with respect to, but not limited to, regulatory changes
pertaining to the industries we cater and our ability to respond to them, our ability to successfully implement our
strategies, our growth and expansion, technological changes, our exposure to market risks, general economic and political
conditions in India and globally, which have an impact on our business activities or investments, the monetary and fiscal
policies of India, inflation, deflation, unanticipated turbulence in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or
other rates or prices, the performance of the financial markets in India and globally, changes in domestic laws, regulations
and taxes, changes in competition in our industry and incidence of any natural calamities and/or acts of violence.

Certain important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not
limited to, the following:

o Dependence on a limited number of customers for significant portion of our revenues.

e Presence in limited number of industry verticals, and fluctuation in demand for our services in these industry
verticals.

e  QOur contracts with customers are subject us to extensive compliance requirements. Failure to comply with the terms
of these contracts may lead to breach of the termination of the contracts and action against us for breach,

o Exposed to the risks of providing solutions and services to the government projects / institutions and public sector
enterprises including changes in government policies, budget allocations, and administrative priorities.

o  Failure of our information technology infrastructure or any breach of our information technology systems

e Inability to introduce new solutions in a timely manner, or at all, in the highly competitive and fast evolving
businesses that we are dependent upon.

e Any slowdown or shutdown in our manufacturing operations or strikes, work stoppages or increased wage demands
by our employees that could interfere with our operations in our Manufacturing Units.

e Our inability to leverage technological advancements and drive innovation in our product offerings. Our
technological stack comprises platforms and applications that use advanced technologies such as Al, robotic
automation, big data, 10T, and various communication systems and protocols.

e  Operational efficiency and effective cost management are crucial for sustaining our profitability.
For a further discussion of factors that could cause our actual results to differ from the expectations, see “Risk Factors”,
“Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on

pages 33, 219 and 400, respectively. By their nature, certain market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be
materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual future gains or losses could materially be
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different from those that have been estimated. There can be no assurance to Bidders that the expectations reflected in
these forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements reflect our current views as of the
date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and are not a guarantee of future performance. These statements are based on
our management’s belief and assumptions, which in turn are based on currently available information. Although we
believe that the assumptions on which such statements are based are reasonable, any such assumptions as well as
statements based on them could prove to be inaccurate and the forward looking statements based on these assumptions
could be incorrect.

Neither our Company, our Directors, KMPs, Senior Management, the Promoter Selling Shareholders, our Promoters, the
BRLMs, nor the Syndicate or any of their respective affiliates have any obligation to update or otherwise revise any
statements reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of underlying events, even if
the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition. In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company will
ensure that investors in India are informed of material developments pertaining to our Company from the date of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus until the time of the grant of listing and trading permissions by the Stock Exchanges.

Further, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Promoter Selling Shareholders shall, severally and not
jointly, ensure that investors and the Company are informed of material developments from the date of this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus in relation to the statements and undertakings specifically made or confirmed by that Promoter Selling
Shareholder in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus until the time of the grant of listing and trading permission by the Stock
Exchanges for this Offer. Only statements and undertakings which are specifically “confirmed” or “undertaken” by the
Promoter Selling Shareholders, as the case may be, in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus shall, severally and not jointly,
deemed to be statements and undertakings made by such Promoter Selling Shareholders.
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFER DOCUMENT

This section is a general summary of certain disclosures included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and is not
exhaustive, nor does it purport to contain a summary of all the disclosures in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus or all
details relevant to prospective investors. This summary should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety
by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, including the sections “Risk
Factors”, “Our Business”, “Industry Overview”, “Capital Structure”, “The Offer”, “Restated Financial Information ”,
“Objects of the Offer”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
“Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on pages 33, 219, 119, 80, 64, 303, 93, 400 and 426 respectively
of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from industry report titled
‘Connected Transactions: Exploring the Payment Card, loT RFID, and ESIM Markets’ dated December 2024 (“F&S
Report”) prepared and issued by Frost & Sullivan (India) Private Limited (“F&S”), appointed by us pursuant to
engagement letter dated August 9, 2024, and exclusively commissioned and paid for by us in connection with the Offer.
Unless otherwise indicated, all industry and other related information derived from the F&S Report and included herein
with respect to any particular year refers to such information for the relevant calendar year. F&S was appointed by our
Company and is not connected to our Company, our Directors, and our Promoters. A copy of the F&S Report is available
on the website of our Company at www.seshaasai.com/investors.

Primary business of our Company

We are a technology driven multi-location solutions provider offering payments solutions and communications and
fulfilment solutions. We design and develop instruments such as, debit cards, credit cards, pre-paid cards, mass transit
cards and cheques and securely embed customer data onto them and send to end customers.

Our omni-channel communication solutions include print, interactive portable document format (“PDF”) sent via email,
text messages or instant messaging platforms. We also offer Internet of Things (“IoT”) solutions which encompass a
comprehensive range of radio frequency identification (“RFID”) enabled offerings and 10T ecosystem services tailored
to meet diverse industry needs. For details, see our “Our Business”

Primary Industry in which our Company operates

The Payments cards market in India expected to grow at 8.4% CAGR to reach 2,100 million units by 2029. Valued at
8.8 billion in 2019, it expanded to %24.2 billion in 2023, and is projected to reach ¥61.9 billion by 2029, growing at a
CAGR of 15%. The payments card manufacturing industry has high entry barriers due to significant capital requirements,
stringent regulatory standards, technological expertise, and the dominance of established players. The global RFID
market, valued at approximately INR 1,196.2 billion in 2023, is projected to grow at a 11.9% CAGR and reach INR
2,631.1 billion by 2030. (Source: F&S Report)

Our Promoters

Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj Jain are our Promoters. For further information, see “Our Promoters
and Promoter Group” at page 294.

The Offer
Offer® Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each for cash at price of X [®] per Equity Share
(including a premium of [e] per Equity Share), aggregating up to X [@] million

Of which
Fresh Issue®" Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each aggregating up to % 6,000.00 million
Offer for Sale® Up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each aggregating up to X [e] million

Of which
Employee Reservation Portion®| Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 210 each aggregating up to  [#] million
Net Offer Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 310 each aggregating up to X [e] million

(@ The Offer has been authorized by a resolution of our Board dated December 17, 2024 and the Fresh Issue has been authorized by
our Shareholders pursuant to a special resolution passed on December 18, 2024.

@ Each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, confirm that their respective portion of the Offered Shares
are eligible for being offered for sale in terms of Regulation 8 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Each Promoter Selling Shareholder
has, severally and not jointly, consented for the sale of their respective portion of the Offered Shares in the Offer for Sale. For
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further information on the authorisation of the Promoter Selling Shareholders in relation to the Offered Shares, see “Other
Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures — Authority for the Offer” on page 435.

®  The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall not exceed ¥ 0.50 million (net
of Employee Discount). However, the initial allocation to an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall not
exceed ¥ 0.20 million (net of Employee Discount). Only in the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion,
the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid
in excess of T 0.20 million (net of Employee Discount), subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee
not exceeding < 0.50 million (net of Employee Discount). Such portion shall not exceed 5% of the post-Offer Equity Share capital
of our Company. The unsubscribed portion if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion shall be added back to the Net Offer. In
case of under-subscription in the Net Offer, spill-over to the extent of such under-subscription shall be permitted from the Employee
Reservation Portion. Further, our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, may offer a discount of up to
[®]% to the Offer Price (equivalent of ¥ [®] per Equity Share) to Eligible Employees, which shall be announced at least two
Working Days prior to the Bid /Offer Opening Date. For details, see “Olffer Structure” on page 456.

~ Qur Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider a Pre-IPO Placement, as may be permitted under the applicable law,
aggregating up to < 1,200.00 million, at its discretion, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Pre-IPO
Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-IPO Placement
is completed, the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh Issue, subject to compliance
with Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall
not exceed 20% of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the
subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our
Company may proceed with the Offer or the Offer may be successful and will result into listing of the equity shares on the Stock
Exchanges. Further, relevant disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement (if undertaken)
shall be appropriately made in the relevant sections of the RHP and Prospectus.

The Offer and the Net Offer shall constitute [®]% and [#]%, respectively of the post-Offer paid-up equity share capital
of our Company. For further information, see “The Offer” and “Offer Structure” on pages 64 and 456, respectively.

Objects of the Offer

The Net Proceeds are proposed to be utilised towards the following objects:

Particulars Estimated amount
Funding capital expenditure for the expansion of existing manufacturing units ¥1,953.28 million
Repayment and / or prepayment, in part or in full, of certain outstanding loans of our Company ¥ 3,000.00 million
General corporate purposes®” [o]
Net Proceeds [e]

Notes:

@ To be finalised upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with the RoC. The amount utilised
for general corporate purposes shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

A Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider a Pre-IPO Placement, as may be permitted under the applicable law,
aggregating up to ¥ 1,200.00 million, at its discretion, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Pre-1IPO
Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-IPO Placement
is completed, the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh Issue, subject to compliance
with Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall
not exceed 20% of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the
subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our
Company may proceed with the Offer or the Offer may be successful and will result into listing of the equity shares on the Stock
Exchanges. Further, relevant disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement (if undertaken)
shall be appropriately made in the relevant sections of the RHP and Prospectus.

For further information, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 93.

Aggregate pre-Offer and post-Offer shareholding of our Promoters, the members of our Promoter Group and the
Selling Shareholders

The aggregate pre-Offer shareholding of our Promoters, the members of our Promoter Group and the Promoter Selling
Shareholders as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is set out below:

Sr. Name of the Equity share capital

No. Shareholder No. of Equity Shares % of Pre-Offer paid-up No. of Equity Shares % of post-Offer paid-up
Pre-Offer equity share capital (post-Offer)* Equity Share capital*

Promoters also Promoter Selling Shareholders

1. | Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 70,117,787 47.50 [e] [e]

2. | Gautam Sampatraj Jain 70,117,787 47.50 [e] [e]
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Sr. Name of the Equity share capital
No. Shareholder No. of Equity Shares % of Pre-Offer paid-up No. of Equity Shares % of post-Offer paid-up
Pre-Offer equity share capital (post-Offer)* Equity Share capital*

Promoter Group (other than our Promoters)

1. | Gautam Jain HUF 20 Negligible [e] [e]

2. | Sunita Gautam Jain 30 Negligible [e] [e]

3. | Pranati Ratnadeep Patil 20 Negligible [e] [e]
Total 140,235,644 95.00 [e] [o]

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
#To be updated in the Prospectus

For further information, please see “Capital Structure” on page 80.

Summary of Restated Financial Information

The details of certain financial information as set out under the SEBI ICDR Regulations as at and for the three months
period ended June 30, 2024 and as at and for the years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022, as

derived from the Restated Financial Information are set forth below:
(< in million, except per share data)

Particulars As at and for the three months As at and for the Fiscal ended March 31
period ended June 30, 2024 2024 2023 | 2022
(Consolidated) (Standalone)
Equity share capital 1,476.17 1,476.17 888.17 19.13
Total equity 4,748.08 4,340.46 2,901.08 1,816.41
Net worth/ Equity attributable to owners of our 5,063.40 4,655.78 3,216.40 2,421.41
Company
Revenue from operations 3,605.03 15,582.56| 11,462.99 6,725.57
Restated profit after tax for the year 404.88 1,692.78 1,080.98 373.53
Restated Earnings per Equity Share (after split)
- Basic 2.74 18.55 12.17 4.21
- Diluted 2.74 11.47 7.32 2.53
Net Asset Value per Equity Share (basic) 34.30 31.54 36.21 1,266.10
Total borrowings 3,899.02 3,502.38 3,119.92 2,319.27

#Not annualised

Notes:

1 Net Asset Value per Equity Share = Net worth as per the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements / Number of equity shares
outstanding as at the end of year/period.

2 Basic Earnings per Equity Share (EPS) (3) = Restated profit for the period / year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
divided by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period / year.

3 Diluted Earnings per Equity Share (EPS) (%) = Restated profit for the period / year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company divided by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period / year adjusted for the effects of all
dilutive potential equity shares. Earnings per Share calculations are in accordance with the notified Indian Accounting Standard
33 ‘Earnings per share’.

- Pursuant to a resolution passed by company’s board and shareholders on September 15, 2024 and October 22, 2024, respectively,
the company sub-divided the face value of its equity shares from < 700 each to < 10 each.

5 Net Worth means the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securities premium
account and debit or credit balance of profit and loss account, after deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses,
deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves
created out of revaluation of assets, capital reserve, write-back of depreciation and amalgamation. Therefore, net worth includes
paid-up share capital, retained earnings, securities premium, other comprehensive income, capital redemption reserve and general
reserve and excludes capital reserve on business combinations under common control, as at June 30, 2024, March 31, 2024, March
31, 2023 and March 31, 2022.

6 Total borrowings includes Current and Non-Current Borrowings and Lease Liabilities.

For further information, see “Restated Financial Information” on page 303.
Qualifications of the Statutory Auditors which have not been given effect to in the Restated Financial Information

There are no qualifications included by the Statutory Auditors in their audit reports and hence no effect is required to be
given in the Restated Financial Information.

Summary of outstanding litigations
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A summary of outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Company, our Subsidiary, our Directors, our Promoters
and our Group Companies in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Materiality Policy as on the date of
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, is provided below:

Name of entity

Number of
Criminal
proceedings

Number of
Tax
proceedings

Number of
Statutory
or regulatory
proceedings

Number of

Disciplinary actions by the
SEBI or stock exchanges

against our Promoters
(for last 5 years)

Number of
Other
material
proceedings”

Aggregate
amount
involved*
(X in million)

Company

By our Company

Against our Company

12

116.59

Directors**

By our Directors

Against our Directors

5.52

Promoters

By our Promoters

Against our Promoters

5.52

Subsidiary

By our Subsidiary

Against our Subsidiary

Group Companies

By our Group Companies -

Against our Group Companies -

# Determined in accordance with the Materiality Policy.
*Amount to the extent quantifiable.
"Includes Directors who are Promoters

For further information, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page 426.

Risk Factors

Specific attention of Bidders is invited to the section “Risk Factors” on page 33. Bidders are advised to read the risk
factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Offer. Summary of the top 10 risks that may impact our
Company have been set out below:

Sr. No.
1.

Description of Risk Factor
We cater customers across banking, financial services and insurance (“BFSI”) and other sectors. In the three
months ended June 30, 2024, and Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022, we serviced 367, 476, 355 and 400 customers,
respectively. Loss of any of our key customers, or reduction in revenue earned from such key customers, may
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
A substantial portion of our customers and revenues are concentrated in the BFSI industry. Our business is
therefore largely dependent on the demand for our services from customers in the BFSI industry. A downturn
in the BFSI sector, a slowdown or reversal of the trend to outsource payments and communication services or
the introduction of regulations that restrict or discourage companies from outsourcing could result in a decrease
in the demand for our services and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and
cash flows.
Our contracts with customers require us to maintain standards for information security management and data
privacy and implement policies to ensure compliance with the same. The terms of our contracts with customers
include extensive compliance requirements, for us to continue to be eligible to offer our services to customers.
Further, our agreements also require us to indemnify our customers for losses arising out of, among other things,
non-performance, inadequate performance, provision of deficient services or breach of our obligations,
infringement of intellectual property rights and gross negligence. any failure to comply with the terms of the
contracts may lead to termination of such contracts, along with claims against us for indemnity and damages,
which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition
We generate a portion of our revenue from government projects / institutions and public sector undertakings
(including nationalized banks and enterprises). We are exposed to the risks of providing solutions and services
to the government projects / institutions and public sector enterprises including changes in government policies,
budget allocations, and administrative priorities. Additionally, the procurement process may involve stringent
compliance requirements and approval timelines, which could impact project initiation and completion. Any
shifts in political climate or economic conditions could also impact the continuity and scope of our contracts.
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Sr. No.

10.

Description of Risk Factor
We are a technology driven solutions provider focussed on payments, communications, and fulfilment
offerings. Our technological stack comprises platforms and applications that use advanced technologies such
as Al, robotic automation, big data, 10T, and various communication systems and protocols. Failure of our
information technology infrastructure or any breach of our information technology systems may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We serve our customers through a network of 24 manufacturing units as of June 30, 2024. Our business is
dependent upon our ability to manage our manufacturing units, which is subject to various operating risks,
including those beyond our control, such as the breakdown, failure of equipment or industrial accidents, severe
weather conditions, fire, power interruption and natural disasters.
Our production operations depend on adequate supply and deliveries of semiconductor chips/ banking chip
modules, overlay film, PVC sheets, UV inks and varnishes, holograms by vendors and metal and alloy plates,
inlay among other materials. For cheque printing, our key raw materials include MICR paper, inks, offset
printing plates, adhesives, pinning coil, packing materials, plastic envelopes and other process consumables. If
any one or more of these suppliers of our raw materials, fails to deliver our requirements, our production could
be disrupted. In addition, as a result of a shortage, we may be compelled to delay shipments of our products or
devote additional resources to maintaining higher levels of inventory.
We offer services and products that include debit cards, credit cards and pre-paid cards and payment on the go
or non-card form factors such as wearables and merchant QR codes. We also provide printing solutions such
as cheque books printing and secured transaction stationaries that include demand drafts, deposit receipts, letter
of credits and CMS payment cheques to private and public sector banks, fintech companies and other issuers.
Due to the complexity of our operations, there is a risk that defects or errors may occur in any of our services
or products, such as non-compliance with size specifications or technological defects that prevent their use as
intended. Such defects or errors can give rise to significant costs, including expenses relating to recalling
products, replacing defective items, writing down defective inventory and the loss of potential sales.
Our Company is unable to trace certain corporate records and regulatory filings made by us. These include
Form 1, Form 2, Balance Sheet and Profit Loss statements and annual returns. We have included details of such
allotments in the Draft Red Herring Prospectus based on other corporate records such as the board and
shareholders’ resolutions. We may not be able to continue to do so and there can be no assurance that our new
or future offerings will be successful or will achieve widespread market acceptance.
The future success of our business depends in part on our ability to respond to technological advances and to
emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis. We must continually change
our offerings and expand our business strategy in response to changes in customer requirements and evolving
technology solutions. While we have been able to develop and market new solutions that respond to
technological change and evolving industry standards, we may not be able to continue to do so and there can
be no assurance that our new or future offerings will be successful or will achieve widespread market
acceptance.

Summary of contingent liabilities

The following is a summary table of our contingent liabilities (as per Ind AS 37) as at June 30, 2024 and Fiscals ended
March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, as indicated in the Restated Financial Information:

(< in million)
Particulars Amount as at
June 30,2024 | March 31, 2024 March 31,2023 | March 31, 2022
Consolidated Standalone
Income tax matters* 10.43 10.43 10.43 15.63
Indirect Tax matters** 46.17 46.17 46.17 36.20

* The disputed tax liability as shown in the Income Tax portal is ¥ 10.43 million (A.Y. 2008-09 is ¥ 0.80 million, A.Y. 2009-10 is ¥
0.058 million, A.Y. 2010-11 is ¥ 0.13 million, A.Y. 2016-17 is < 0.048 million, A.Y.2017-18 is ¥ 0.23 million, A.Y 2018-19 is ¥ 0.01
million, A.Y. 2018-19 is € 0.50 million, A.Y. 2019-20 is < 6.47 million, A.Y.2021-22 is % 0.22 million, AY 22-23 is < 1.96 million,).
The said liability is mainly of TDS credit mismatches and other arithmetical errors. The Group / the Company has filed rectification

letters against the demand.

** Disputed tax liability related to Indirect tax matters pending at Bangalore CESTAT, Gujarat VAT and Commissioner (Appeals)

Chennai, Bangalore and Hyderabad

For details, see “Restated Financial Information — Note 39 — Contingent Liabilities and Commitments” on page 371.
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Summary of related party transactions

The summary of related party transactions under Ind AS 24 entered into by us for the three months period ended June
30, 2024 and Fiscals ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, as derived from the Restated Financial
Information are as set out in the table below:

Name

Bharat Trading Corporation
Creative Formulation (India) Private
Limited

Creative Formulation (India) Private
Limited

Creative Formulation (India) Private
Limited

Creative Formulation (India) Private
Limited

Dandelion Technologies Private
Limited

Dandelion Technologies Private
Limited

Dandelion Technologies Private
Limited

Dandelion Technologies Private
Limited

Dandelion Technologies Private
Limited

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Gautam Sampatraj Jain

Manali Siddharth Shah

Pentax Pharma Private Limited
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani

Prayaas Automation Private Limited
Prayaas Automation Private Limited
Prayaas Automation Private Limited

Qupod Technovations Private Limited

Srichakra Infratech Private Limited
Srichakra Infratech Private Limited

Srichakra Infratech Private Limited

Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Prints Private Limited
Srichakra Transtech Private Limited
Srichakra Transtech Private Limited
Srichakra Transtech Private Limited
Srichakra Transtech Private Limited

Nature of Transaction

Dividend (Equity/Preference)
Purchases

Rent Exp

Postages & Courier

Sales

Interest Income

Expense (Software Maintenance)
Purchase of Fixed Assets

Investment in Preference shares
(During the year)

Investment in Preference shares
(Redemption During the year)
Interest Expenses (On Loan)
Rent Exp

Dividend / Equity & Preference
Loan Taken

Loan Repaid

Remuneration

Sale of Equity Shares of Dandelion
Technologies Private Limited
Salary

Purchases

Remuneration

Interest Expenses

Dividend

Loan Taken

Loan Repaid

Sale of Equity Shares of Dandelion
Technologies Private Limited
Other Expenses

Rent Factory

Purchase of Fixed Assets
Purchase

Rent Paid

Advance Against Capital Assets
(Paid)

Advance Against Capital Assets
(Received)

Purchases

Purchases of Fixed Assets
Sales of Fixed Assets

Rent Factory

Rent income

Rent Deposit given

Postages & Courier

Sales

Advances Given

Advances Recovered

Sales (Capital Goods)
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Three months period
ended June 30, 2024
0.00

2251

0.12
0.00
1.26
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
0.09
0.00
0.00
0.00
4.95
0.00

0.26
5.77
4.95
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.00
1.90
0.00
0.00
0.22
0.00

0.00

9.15
0.00
0.00
0.90
0.00
1.50
0.00
15.48
0.00
0.00
0.00

Fiscal

2024
2.28
329.63

0.48

0.96
0.27
47.60
8.90
15.50
2.21
0.36
129.08
65.00

133.31
9.81

1.22
10.76
19.61

0.69

127.50

4.56
0.18
4.84

0.68

0.88
2.50

41.60

120.07
13.10

3.00
0.13

48.58

0.35

(% in million)
Fiscal Fiscal
2023 2022
1.31 1.31
257.11 274.93
0.48 0.36
2.86
9.79 12.85
0.36
2.54 1.54
40.50 112.80
29.31 96.28
9.61 9.61
0.001
1.03 0.72
8.46 10.95
10.93 9.61
0.68 1.12
1.64 0.64
- 6.60
2.65 5.13
0.001
3.30 1.20
0.86 0.43
6.10 21.65
172.27 167.61
8.20
7.50
0.53 0.53
- 0.59
61.82 8.14



(< in million)

Name Nature of Transaction Three months period Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
ended June 30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Srichakra Transtech Private Limited |Postages & Courier 2.99 35.61 14.63 23.61
Rite Infotech Private Limited Purchase 11.40
Sunita Gautam Jain Rent Paid 0.21 0.84 0.84
Sunita Gautam Jain Rent Deposit given 0.00 - -
Sunita Pravin Lalwani Advance Against Capital Assets 150 180.00 -
(Received)
Sunita Pravin Lalwani Advance Against Capital Assets 1.50 85.00 39.94 76.00
(Paid)
Sunita Pravin Lalwani Rent 0.60 2.40 2.40 2.40
Sunita Pravin Lalwani Rent Deposit given 0.00 - -
Sunita Pravin Lalwani Interest Income 2.81 23.59 16.98 13.19

For details of the related party transactions, as per the requirements under Ind AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and as
reported in the Restated Financial Information, see For details, see “Restated Financial Information — Note 35 — Related
Party Disclosure” on page 365.

Financing arrangements

There have been no financing arrangements whereby our Promoters, members of our Promoter Group, our Directors and
their relatives (as defined under Companies Act, 2013) have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of
our Company (other than in the normal course of the business of the financing entity) during a period of six months
immediately preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Weighted average price at which the Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters and the Selling Shareholders
in the last one year preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

The weighted average price at which the Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters who are the Selling Shareholders
in the one year preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is set forth below
Name Number of Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 100 each
acquired in the preceding one year of this DRHP*
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 2,940,000
Gautam Sampatraj Jain 2,940,000
*As certified by Kanu Doshi Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024.
# Nature of consideration was other than cash as the equity shares were issued on account of allotment made pursuant to Scheme of Arrangement

Weighted average price of acquisition
per Equity Share* (%)
19.20%
19.20%

Average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by our Promoters and the Selling Shareholders

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by our Promoters who are also the Selling Shareholders, on a fully
diluted basis as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, is:

Name of Promoters and
Selling Shareholders
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 70,117,787
Gautam Sampatraj Jain 70,117,787
*As certified by Kanu Doshi Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024.
#Considering split of Equity Shares with a face value of 100 each to 10 each, pursuant to a resolution passed by our Shareholders on October 22,
2024.

Number of Equity Shares of face value of ¥10 each” = Average cost of acquisition per Equity
Share on a fully diluted basis *(%)
7.72

7.72

Weighted average cost of all Equity Shares transacted in the three years, 18 months and one year preceding the
date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

Period Weighted average Floor priceis ‘x>  Upper end of the price
cost of acquisition times the weighted band (Z[e]) is <X’ times

Range of acquisition
price per Equity

per Equity Share average cost of the weighted average  Share: lowest price —

(ind)™ acquisition™ cost of acquisition**  highest price (in ¥)™

Last one year preceding the date of 19.20 [*] [e] 19.20 — 339.00
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

Last 18 months preceding the date of 19.20 [*] [e] 19.20 - 339.00

this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
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Period Weighted average Floor price is ‘x>  Upper end of the price

cost of acquisition times the weighted band (X[e]) is X’ times

Range of acquisition
price per Equity

per Equity Share average cost of the weighted average  Share: lowest price —
(in 3™ acquisition™ cost of acquisition**  highest price (in ¥)™
Last three years preceding the date of 6.46 [*] [e] 19.20 - 339.00

this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
*As certified by Kanu Doshi Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024.
“Information to be included in the Prospectus, post finalisation of price band advertisement.
# Our Company has split its Equity Shares with a face value of 100 each toZ10 each, pursuant to a resolution passed by our
Shareholders on October 22, 2024.

Details of the price at which specified securities were acquired in the last three years immediately preceding the
date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus by our Promoters, members of our Promoter Group and Shareholders
with right to nominate directors or other special rights

Except as stated below, none of our Promoters and members of our Promoter Group have acquired any Equity Shares in
the three years immediately preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus:

Name of Shareholder Nature of securities Date of Number of equity Face Value Acquisition price per
and acquisition acquisition shares of ¥ 100 (in%) equity share (in %)
Promoters
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani | Bonus issue of Equity | March 9, 2023 4,345,200 100 Nil®
Shares
Allotment of Equity March 15, 2024 2,940,000 100 192.00"
Shares pursuant to the
Scheme of Arrangement
Gautam Sampatraj Jain Bonus issue of Equity | March 9, 2023 4,345,200 100 Nil®
Shares
Allotment of Equity March 15, 2024 2,940,000 100 192.00"
Shares pursuant to the
Scheme of Arrangement
Promoter Group
Gautam Jain HUF Equity Shares June 3, 2024 2 100 Nil#
Sunita Gautam Jain Equity Shares June 3, 2024 3 100 Nil#
Pranati Ratnadeep Patil Equity Shares June 11, 2024 2 100 Nil#
Shareholders with Special Rights
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

$Allotment pursuant to Bonus

* Allotment pursuant to Scheme of Arrangement

#Transfer by way of gift

Note:

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ resolution passed on October 22, 2024, each Equity Share of our Company of face value applied for
seeking of 100 each was split into 10 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each. Pursuant to the corporate action initiated by our
Company in this regard, the split of equity shares was effective from October 22, 2024.

There are no shareholders with a right to nominate directors or other special rights.
Details of Pre-1PO Placement

Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider a Pre-IPO Placement, as may be permitted under the
applicable law, aggregating up to ¥ 1,200.00 million, at its discretion, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with
the RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with
the BRLMs. If the Pre-1PO Placement is completed, the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-1PO Placement will be reduced
from the Fresh Issue, subject to compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as
amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20% of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior to the
completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the subscribers to the Pre-1IPO Placement, prior to
allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may proceed with the Offer or
the Offer may be successful and will result into listing of the equity shares on the Stock Exchanges. Further, relevant
disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-1PO Placement (if undertaken) shall be appropriately
made in the relevant sections of the RHP and Prospectus.
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Issue of equity shares of our Company for consideration other than cash in the last one year

Except as set out below, our Company has not issued Equity Shares for consideration other than cash in the one year
preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. Further, certain benefits have accrued to our Company on
account of allotment of Equity Shares for consideration other than cash:

Date of No. of equity Face Issue Reason for Name of No. of Benefits
Issue/ shares  Value Price Allotment Allottees Equity Shares Accrued
Allotment allotted® () ® Allotted
March 15, | 58,800,000 100/192.00 Scheme of |Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 2,940,000 | Acquisition of Business of
2024 Arrangement |Gautam Sampatraj Jain 2,940,000 | Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited*

* For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters— Details regarding material
acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in the last 10 years”
on page 266.

Split or consolidation of equity shares in the last one year

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ resolution passed on October 22, 2024, each Equity Share of our Company of face value
applied for seeking of *100 each was split into 10 Equity Shares of face value of 210 each. Pursuant to the corporate
action initiated by our Company in this regard, the split of equity shares was effective from October 22, 2024. Except as
mentioned herein, our Company has not undertaken any further split or consolidation of Equity Shares in the last one
year till the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. For details, see “Capital Structure” and “History and Certain
Corporate Matters” on pages 80 and 263, respectively.

Exemption from complying with any provisions of securities laws, if any, granted by the SEBI

Our Company has not applied for seeking any exemption by SEBI from complying with any provisions of securities
laws, as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.
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SECTION Il - RISK FACTORS

An investment in equity shares involves a high degree of risk. Investors should carefully consider all the information in

this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment
in our Equity Shares. The risks described below are not the only ones relevant to us or our Equity Shares, the industry in

which we operate or to India and other jurisdictions we operate in. Additional risks and uncertainties, not currently
known to us or that we currently do not deem material may also adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash

flows and financial condition. If any or a combination of the following risks, or other risks that are not currently known
or are not currently deemed material, actually occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition could be adversely affected, the price of our Equity Shares could decline, and investors may lose all or part of
their investment. In order to obtain a more detailed understanding of our Company and our business, prospective

investors should read this section in conjunction with “Our Business”, “Industry Overview”, “Management s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Restated Financial Information” on page 219,

119, 400 and 303, respectively, as well as the other financial information contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of us and our business and
the terms of the Olffer including the merits and risks involved.

Prospective investors should consult their tax, financial and legal advisors about the particular consequences of investing
in the Offer. Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors below, we are unable to quantify the financial or
other impact of any of the risks described in this section. Prospective investors in our Equity Shares should pay particular
attention to the fact that our Company is incorporated under the laws of India and is subject to a legal and regulatory
environment in India, which may differ in certain respects from that of other countries.

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus also contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks, assumptions,
estimates and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements
as a result of certain factors, including the considerations described below and elsewhere in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. For further information, see “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 22. Unless otherwise indicated, the
financial information included herein is based on our Restated Financial Information included in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. For further information, see “Restated Financial Information” on page 303.

Unless the context requires otherwise, the financial information used in this section is derived from our “Restated
Financial Information ”” on page 303. Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular fiscal
are to the twelve months ended March 31 of that year. Financial information for the three months ended June 30, 2024
may not be indicative of the financial results for the full year and are not comparable with financial information for the
years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. Further, financial information for the three months
ended June 30, 2024, has not been annualized unless otherwise specified.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from industry publications,
in particular, the report titled “Connected Transactions: Exploring the Payment Card, loT RFID, and ESIM Markets”
dated December 2024 (the “F&S Report”) prepared and issued by F&S, pursuant to an engagement letter dated August
9, 2024. The F&S Report has been exclusively commissioned and paid for by us in connection with the Offer. The data
included herein includes excerpts from the F&S Report and may have been re-ordered by us for the purposes of
presentation. A copy of the F&S Report is available on the website of our Company at
https://www.seshasai.com/investors. Unless otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related
information derived from the F&S Report and included herein with respect to any particular year refers to such
information for the relevant calendar year.

INTERNAL RISK FACTORS

1. In the three months ended June 30, 2024, and Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022, we serviced 367, 476, 355 and 400
customers, respectively. We generate a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of customers,
and any loss or reduction of business from these customers could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

We cater customers across banking, financial services and insurance (“BFSI”) and other sectors. In the three months
ended June 30, 2024, and Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022, we serviced 367, 476, 355 and 400 customers, respectively. Loss
of any of our key customers, or reduction in revenue earned from such key customers, may have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The table below sets forth the revenue generated from our largest,
top 5 and top 10 customers, for the periods indicated:
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Particulars Three months ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024
Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of
®in  Revenue from R in Revenue from (X in Revenuefrom (Rin Revenue from
million)  Operations  million)  Operations million) Operations million) Operations

(%) (%) (%) (%)
Revenue from 611.41 16.97% | 2,603.24 16.72%1,450.67 12.66% | 800.28 11.91%
largest customer
Revenue fromtop 5| 1,723.90 47.85% | 7,666.94 49.23% 5,105.04 44.55% 2,671.05 39.75%
customers
Revenue fromtop | 2,372.09 65.84%  10,737.02 68.94% 7,568.81 66.05% 3,836.78 57.10%

10 customers
Note: Names of our top 10 customers have not been disclosed due to lack of receipt of consent and confidentiality reasons.

Our ability to maintain close relationships with these and other major customers is essential to the growth and profitability
of our business. However, the volume and nature of work performed for a specific customer is likely to vary from year
to year, especially since we are generally not our customers’ exclusive solutions provider and we do not have long-term
commitments with most of our customers to purchase our solutions. A key customer in one year may not provide the
same level of revenues for us in any subsequent year. The solutions we provide to our customers, and the revenues from
such services, may decline or vary as the type and quantity of services the customers require changes over time.
Furthermore, our reliance on any individual customer for a significant portion of our revenues may give that customer a
certain degree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service.

The tenure of our contracts with our key customers ranges from two to three years and may typically be extended as
mutually agreed upon. Typically, our contractual arrangements neither include exclusivity clauses nor minimum purchase
commitments from our customers. If we fail to meet our contractual obligations in a timely manner, or at all, our
customers may be entitled to levy penalties on us and in case of recurrence of non-performance, they are entitled to
terminate the contracts with no further liability or obligation towards us. Any adverse developments with such customers,
including because of any dispute with, or disqualification by, such major customers, may impact our cash flows and
liquidity. Even if we successfully deliver on contracted services and maintain close relationships with our customers, a
number of factors outside of our control could cause the loss of or reduction in business or revenue from our existing
customers. These factors include, among other things:

e the business or financial condition and requirements of that customer or the economy generally, such as periods of
financial downturn;

e reduction in demand for cards, cheques or allied offerings that affect the volume of orders customers place with us;
e the continued viability of the networks of customers;

o longer renewal cycles for cards as a result of efforts by financial services companies to reduce costs associated with
card replacement and renewal;

e ademand for price reductions by our customers;

e mergers, acquisitions or significant corporate restructurings involving customers; and

e adecision by that customer to switch to one or several of our competitors.

While we have not faced any such instances of loss of our key customers in the past, the loss of any one or more of such

key customers or a substantial reduction in demand from such key customers in the future could have an adverse effect

on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

2. Our revenues are dependent on a limited number of industry verticals, and any decrease in demand for our
services in these industry verticals could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our business, results of

operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

A substantial portion of our customers and revenues are concentrated in the BFSI industry. The table below sets forth
industry-wise breakdown of our revenues from customers for the periods indicated:
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Industry ~ Three months ended June Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
Vertical 30, 2024

Amount  Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of
Rin Revenue from R in Revenue from R in Revenue from R in Revenue from
million) Operations million) Operations million) Operations  million)  Operations
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Banking 2,377.65 65.99% 10,909.94 70.05% 7,357.60 64.21%  4,182.49 62.24%
Insurance 319.90 8.88%| 1,418.95 9.11%| 1,504.89 13.13%  549.25 8.17%
Fintech 331.62 9.20% 1,131.67 7.27% 1,121.79 9.79%  865.00 12.87%
NBFCs (0.49) (0.01)%|  104.91 0.67% 90.53 0.79%  76.10 1.13%
Others” 574.22 15.94%| 2,008.22 12.89% 1,383.71 12.08%  1,046.70 15.58%
Total 3,602.89 100.00%  15,573.68 100.009% 11,458.51 100.00%  6,719.53 100.00%

*Others comprise retail, manufacturing and pharmaceutical healthcare industries.

Our business is therefore largely dependent on the demand for our services from customers in the BFSI industry. A
downturn in the BFSI sector, a slowdown or reversal of the trend to outsource payments and communication services or
the introduction of regulations that restrict or discourage companies from outsourcing could result in a decrease in the
demand for our services and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. For
example, consolidation of public sector banks in India has had and may continue to have an impact on the demand for
our services and negatively affect our revenues and profitability. Other developments in the BFSI industry may also lead
to a decline in the demand for our services and we may not be able to successfully compensate for such a decline in
demand with our offerings in other verticals.

Further, our customers may experience rapid changes in their prospects, substantial price competition and pressure on
their profitability. This, in turn, may result in increasing pressure on us from customers in these key industries to lower
our prices, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

3. Our contracts with customers subject us to extensive compliance requirements. Failure to comply with the terms
of these contracts may lead to breach of the termination of the contracts and action against us for breach, which
may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our contracts with customers require us to maintain standards for information security management and data privacy and
implement policies to ensure compliance with the same. The terms of our contracts with customers include extensive
compliance requirements, for us to continue to be eligible to offer our services to customers. Our contracts may require
us to, among others:

comply with individual customer’s information technology and information security policies;

be registered with specific networks;

comply with prescribed rules and codes of conduct for manufacturing products for each of our customers;

maintain necessary consents, approvals, licenses and permits under applicable law, and at all times during the

validity of the contract/agreement keep such approvals valid and subsisting or promptly notify customers of any

expiry, modification or suspension of such approvals;

e inform customers of any change in name, material change in constitution, or seek consent for such changes;

e make our manufacturing units and relevant records available for inspection and audit by certain customers, correct
any deficiencies noted, and reimburse customers for any discrepancies;

e ensure that there is no co-mingling of information, documents, records and assets among different customers that
we service; and

o protect all confidential information, including privacy of the end-customers, that we may come into possession of

in course of our business.

Further, for any variations in the specifications or our obligations, we are typically required to obtain prior consent from
our customers. Further, our agreements also require us to indemnify our customers for losses arising out of, among other
things, non-performance, inadequate performance, provision of deficient services or breach of our obligations,
infringement of intellectual property rights and gross negligence. In certain contracts, the liability could even extend
beyond the contract value and for certain contracts, the capping of liability may not apply for instance in cases of security
and/or data leakage, breach of confidentiality, customer claims of certain nature such as reputation loss, claims on account
of breaches of regulations relating regulatory authorities, which are in the nature of consequential losses or indirect losses.
We are also required under certain agreements to pay penalties and/or liquidated damages in the event of delays or other
non-compliances. Furthermore, we have provided performance bank guarantees under certain agreements to our
customers in relation to our obligations. While there have not been any past instances of failure to perform our obligations
under such agreements, including any non-compliance with such specifications in the past, any such failure on our part
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in the future may lead to termination of the agreement, loss of business with such customer, loss of reputation and loss
of goodwill. Additionally, it could expose us to indemnity, monetary liability by way of penalties and liquidated damages
and may further result in litigation proceedings, which could adversely affect our business, operations, our cash flows
and financial condition.

While there have been no instances of contract termination, refusal of providing necessary compliance certifications, or
claims of indemnity against us by our customers in the past, any failure to comply with the terms of the contracts may
lead to termination of such contracts, along with claims against us for indemnity and damages, which may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

4. We are exposed to the risks of providing solutions and services to the government projects / institutions and public
sector enterprises.

We generate a portion of our revenue from government projects / institutions and public sector undertakings (including
nationalized banks and enterprises). Set forth below are details of revenue earned pursuant to contracts entered into with
government agencies and public sector undertakings in the corresponding periods:

Particulars Three months ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
R®in of Revenue R®in of Revenue (Rin of Revenue R®in of Revenue

million) from million) from million) from million) from
Operations Operations Operations Operations
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Revenue from Government| 1,495.31 41.50% | 6,947.80 44.61% | 4,253.31 37.12%| 2,036.81 30.31%

projects / institutions and
public sector undertakings

We are exposed to the risks of providing solutions and services to the government projects / institutions and public sector
enterprises including changes in government policies, budget allocations, and administrative priorities. Additionally, the
procurement process may involve stringent compliance requirements and approval timelines, which could impact project
initiation and completion. Any shifts in political climate or economic conditions could also impact the continuity and
scope of our contracts. These factors may lead to fluctuations in revenue, increased operational costs, and potential
reputational risks if service delivery expectations are not met.

5. Failure of our information technology infrastructure or any breach of our information technology systems may
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are a technology driven solutions provider focussed on payments, communications, and fulfilment offerings. Our
technological stack comprises platforms and applications that use advanced technologies such as Al, robotic automation,
big data, 10T, and various communication systems and protocols. Our technology platform enables us to offer
comprehensive services to our customers. As such, our information technological (“IT”) infrastructure is of utmost
importance to our business continuity. We are dependent on the effectiveness of our information security policies and
procedures, and our capabilities to protect our IT systems. The table below sets forth details of software expenses
capitalised by us towards our technology infrastructure, including our software under development for the periods
indicated.

Particulars Three months ended June Fiscal
30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Software expenses (X in million) 3.92 57.62 - 26.40
Software expenses, as a percentage of total expenses (%) 0.13% 0.43% - 0.42%

While there have not been any instances in the past, where we have experienced technology failures which have had an
adverse impact on our business operations, we cannot assure you that such instances will not arise in the future.

Our business requires high security and data protection, owing to access to highly sensitive cardholder information.
(Source: F&S Report) An external information security breach, such as a hacker attack, fraud, a virus or worm, or an
internal problem with information protection, such as failure to control access to sensitive systems, could materially
interrupt our business operations or cause disclosure or modification of sensitive or confidential information. Our
operations also rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information in our
computer systems and networks. Any failure of our IT systems could result in business interruption, financial loss,
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regulatory actions, legal liability and harm to our reputation. Further, any delay in implementation or disruption of the
functioning of our IT systems could impact our ability to track, record and process information of customers or engage
in normal business activities. While we have not faced any such instances in the past any such occurrences in the future
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

6. Our business is dependent and will continue to depend on our manufacturing units, and we are subject to certain
risks in our manufacturing process. Any slowdown or shutdown in our manufacturing operations or strikes, work
stoppages or increased wage demands by our employees that could interfere with our operations could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We serve our customers through a network of 24 manufacturing units as of June 30, 2024. Our business is dependent
upon our ability to manage our manufacturing units, which is subject to various operating risks, including those beyond
our control, such as the breakdown, failure of equipment or industrial accidents, severe weather conditions, fire, power
interruption and natural disasters. While there have been no such instances of any significant malfunction or breakdown
of our machinery, our equipment, our IT systems or any other part of our manufacturing processes or systems (together,
our “Manufacturing Assets”) may entail significant repair and maintenance costs and cause delays in our operations. If
we are unable to repair Manufacturing Assets in a timely manner or at all, our operations may need to be suspended until
we procure the appropriate Manufacturing Assets to replace them. In addition, we may be required to carry out planned
shutdowns of our units for maintenance, statutory inspections, customer audits and testing, or may shut down the facility
for capacity expansion and equipment upgrades.

In particular, any materially adverse social, political or economic development, civil disruptions, or changes in the
policies of the state or local governments in the states where our manufacturing units are located may adversely affect
operations of our integrated production facility. In the future, we may also experience plant shutdowns or periods of
reduced production because of regulatory issues, equipment failure, employee-related incidents that result in harm or
death, delays in raw material deliveries. In addition, we also may face protests from local citizens at our existing facility
or while setting up new units, which may delay or halt our operations. Further, we may be subject to manufacturing
disruptions due to contraventions by us of any of the conditions of our regulatory approvals, which may require our
manufacturing units to cease, or limit, production until the disputes concerning such approvals are resolved. We also
require a steady supply of utilities such as electricity and water in order to operate our manufacturing processes without
interruption. Although we have not experienced any significant disruptions at our manufacturing units in the past, we
cannot assure you that there will not be any disruptions in our operations in the future. Our inability to effectively respond
to such events and rectify any disruption, in a timely manner and at an acceptable cost, could lead to the slowdown or
shutdown of our operations or the under-utilization of our manufacturing units, reduction in inventory, inability to fulfil
customer orders, resulting in lawsuits, which in turn may have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.

7. We rely on the timely supply of different raw materials for manufacturing, personalizing and printing our
products. Our business could be adversely affected if our suppliers fail to meet their delivery obligations or raise
their prices.

Our production operations depend on adequate supply and deliveries of semiconductor chips/ banking chip modules,
overlay film, PVVC sheets, UV inks and varnishes, holograms by vendors and metal and alloy plates, inlay among other
materials. For cheque printing, our key raw materials include MICR paper, inks, offset printing plates, adhesives, pinning
coil, packing materials, plastic envelopes and other process consumables. We typically enter into long term supply
arrangements for certain raw materials we require, such as chips, PVC, paper, inlays and holograms, which sets out the
broad terms of our relationship, and then enter into specific purchase orders that define the quantities and prices of
products to be delivered to us. Set forth below are our cost of materials consumed in the corresponding periods:

Particulars Three months ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
R in of Revenue ®in of Revenue Rin of Revenue R in of Revenue

million) from million) from million) from million) from
Operations Operations Operations Operations
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Cost of materials consumed | 2,108.28 58.48%  9,493.87 60.93% 7,668.23 66.90% 4,228.41 62.87%

From time to time, suppliers may extend lead times, limit the amounts supplied to us or increase prices due to capacity
constraints or other factors. We may not be able to meet the demands of our customers in a timely manner, or at all, due
to shortages in the supply of critical materials. Products supplied to us such as chips and modules require precision and
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compliance with quality standards. Additionally, to the extent certain of our products are sourced from a limited number
of suppliers owing to quality specifications, we may not be able to find an adequate replacement for such materials if our
suppliers are unable to meet their delivery obligations to us. While we endeavor to diversify our supplier base and enter
into strategic alignments to ensure uninterrupted supply, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in acquiring
raw materials in a timely manner and at reasonable costs, or at all. Set forth below are details of raw materials supplied
by our largest, top five and top 10 suppliers in the corresponding periods:

Particulars Three months ended June Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
30, 2024
Amount  Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of Amount Percentage of
Rin Total Cost of R in Total Cost of Rin Total Cost of R®in  Total Cost of
million) Raw Materials million) Raw Materials million) Raw Materials million) Raw Materials

Consumed(%b) Consumed (%) Consumed(%b) Consumed(%b)
Largest supplier 501.31 25.79%  3,044.11 30.07% | 1,937.61 28.41% | 763.04 17.42%
Top 5 suppliers 1,062.67 54.67% 5,052.34 49.91% | 3,405.17 49.93% | 1,880.21 42.92%
Top 10 suppliers 1,407.50 72.41% | 6,422.20 63.44% | 4,458.64 65.37% | 2,487.73 56.78%

If any one or more of these suppliers of our raw materials, fails to deliver our requirements, our production could be
disrupted. In addition, as a result of a shortage, we may be compelled to delay shipments of our products or devote
additional resources to maintaining higher levels of inventory. For instance, we faced certain disruptions in our supply
chain for raw materials due to the lockdown imposed pursuant to the COVID-19 pandemic. We cannot assure you that
such instances will not occur in the future, if we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of quality materials in a timely
manner or if there are significant increases in the cost of these materials, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

8. Our business may be adversely affected by costs relating to errors or product defects, and we could be faced with
product liability and warranty claims.

We offer services and products that include debit cards, credit cards and pre-paid cards and payment on the go or non-
card form factors such as wearables and merchant QR codes. We also provide printing solutions such as cheque books
printing and secured transaction stationaries that include demand drafts, deposit receipts, letter of credits and CMS
payment cheques to private and public sector banks, fintech companies and other issuers. Due to the complexity of our
operations, there is a risk that defects or errors may occur in any of our services or products, such as non-compliance
with size specifications or technological defects that prevent their use as intended. Such defects or errors can give rise to
significant costs, including expenses relating to recalling products, replacing defective items, writing down defective
inventory and the loss of potential sales. We have faced certain instances of errors in collation of our products in the past.
In addition, the occurrence of such defects or errors may give rise to product liability and warranty claims, including
liability for damages caused by such defects. We have not faced any instance of product liability claims in the past. If
our cards or any of our payment solutions have defects and do not perform as expected, our reputation could suffer and
we may lose sales opportunities and incur liability for damages, including damage claims from customers in excess of
the amounts they pay us for our products, including consequential damages. If any of these risks materialize in the future,
our reputation would be harmed and there could be an adverse effect to our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

9. Certain forms filed by us with the RoC and certain corporate records and other documents, are not traceable and
have discrepancies. While we have conducted a search with the RoC, in respect of the unavailability of such forms
and other records, we cannot assure you that such forms or records will be available at all or any time in the
Sfuture.

Our Company is unable to trace certain corporate records and regulatory filings made by us. These include Form 1, Form
2, Balance Sheet and Profit Loss statements and annual returns. We have included details of such allotments in the Draft
Red Herring Prospectus based on other corporate records such as the board and shareholders’ resolutions.

We had commissioned a physical and electronic search of the RoC records through an independent practicing company
secretary, Pauravi Trivedi, to ascertain the details of all corporate actions undertaken by our Company since incorporation.
Pursuant to the foregoing, the practicing company secretary firm has issued its report dated December 26, 2024 (the
“Search Report”). The key observations in relation to the Search Report are as follows:

Nature of forms and records missing: The nature of forms and corporate records the practicing company secretary was

unable to locate in physical and electronic search of the RoC are in relation to certain regulatory filings and corporate
actions by our Company, include: (i) Application for availability of name, application of incorporation, memorandum of
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association, articles of association along with subscribers’ sheet for Incorporation, (ii) Form 2 and receipts in relation to
the allotment of equity shares dated March 31, 1994 and receipts to the Form 2 for the allotment of equity shares dated
March 28, 1995, March 25, 1996, December 30, 2002, December 12, 2008, March 31, 2009 and November 30, 2010, (iii)
Annual Returns filed as per Schedule V of the Companies Act, 1956, for the financial years 1994-1995, 1995-1996 and
1996-97, (iv) receipt for Form 5 and Form 23 in relation to the increase of the authorized share capital dated December
12, 2008 and February 27, 2012; (v) receipt for Form SH-7 and MGT-14 for the increase of authorised share capital dated
October 26, 2016; and (iv) Filings as per Schedule V1 of the Companies Act, 1956, in relation to balance sheet and profit
and loss statements for the financial years 1994-1995, 1995-1996 and 1996-97.

Further, our Company has by way of letter dated December 26, 2024 intimated the ROC with respect to the afore
mentioned missing documents.

While we have included the details of the build-up of the share capital of the Company in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus, by placing reliance on other corporate records such the resolutions passed by the Board and Shareholders,
where applicable and available. We cannot assure you that the regulatory filings or corporate records which we have not
been able to locate will be available in the future, or that the information gathered in this regard is correct, or that the
regulatory filings were done in accordance with applicable law or at all or in timely manner. Additionally, while no
notices, disputes or penalties have arisen or been imposed in connection with these corporate records and other documents
as of the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, we cannot assure you that no notices, dispute or penalties will arise
or be imposed on us in this regard in the future.

10. The emergence of new and advanced technologies could render our existing solutions obsolete or irrelevant which
could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The future success of our business depends in part on our ability to respond to technological advances and to emerging
industry standards and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis. Our customers operate in markets characterized by
rapidly changing technologies, regulatory parameters and business plans. We must continually change our offerings and
expand our business strategy in response to changes in customer requirements and evolving technology solutions. While
we have been able to develop and market new solutions that respond to technological change and evolving industry
standards, we may not be able to continue to do so and there can be no assurance that our new or future offerings will be
successful or will achieve widespread market acceptance. For instance, we have recently expanded our offerings to
address the internet of things (“10T”) requirements of our customers in retail, manufacturing, pharmaceutical and
healthcare industries in addition to the BFSI sector. These solutions are powered by technologies such as radio frequency
identification (“RFI1D”), Bluetooth low emission (“BLE”), Wi-Fi, Global System for Mobile Communications (“GSM”),
Near Field Communication (“NFC”) and Global Positioning System (“GPS”). Any new technology that is developed
that renders these technologies obsolete or unviable could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results
of operations. There can be no assurance that we will successfully implement new technologies effectively or adapt our
technology and systems to meet customer requirements or emerging industry standards.

In addition, if we do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to implement and sustain the proper IT
infrastructure, we could be subject to operational inefficiencies. Challenges relating to the revamping or implementation
of new IT structures can also subject us to certain errors, inefficiencies, and disruptions. Furthermore, some of our
technological implementation may not result in the expected efficiencies and benefits we anticipate, which could
adversely affect our operations and financial condition. While we have not faced any such instances in the past, we cannot
assure you that such instances will not arise in the future.

11. We import a portion of our raw materials and certain machinery from international markets. Any restrictions on
imports or fluctuation in global commodity prices could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition.

Our operations and our suppliers’ ability to provide raw materials and machinery to us at competitive prices is affected
by global commodity prices, inflation and our ability to negotiate with our suppliers effectively. For example, pricing
and availability of commodities can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control, including general domestic
and international economic conditions, geopolitical tensions, extreme weather changes, import duties and tariffs and
foreign currency exchange rates. Other factors such as tariffs and economic or political conditions of the countries where
we procure supplies from may also result in increases in costs of parts and materials, which could increase our production
and delivery costs and reduce our margins.

The table below sets forth the cost of raw materials and machinery sourced from India and outside India by our Company
for the periods indicated:
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Particulars Three months ended Fiscal
June 30, 2024 2024 2023 2022

Purchase of raw materials and machinery sourced from India (% in million) 1,179.17| 4,507.76| 4,467.05| 3,143.29
Purchase of raw materials and machinery sourced from India, as percentage 55.93% | 47.48%/| 58.25%| 74.34%
of cost of materials consumed (%)
Purchase of raw materials and machinery sourced from outside India (X in 1,004.30| 5,200.14| 3,045.58| 1,533.18
million)
Purchase of raw materials gnd machinery sourced from outside India, as a 4764%| 54.77%| 39720 36.26%
percentage of cost of materials consumed (%)

We import parts and materials primarily from countries such as Germany, China, Switzerland, United States of America
and South Korea. We therefore depend on the economic and political conditions of these countries. Negative incidents
involving these regions may materially impede our supply chain and operations. Further, while there have been no such
instances in the past, any imposition of import restrictions, change in geopolitical relationships or other circumstances
affecting our ability to import raw materials and machinery could require us to identify alternative sources of supply. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to identify alternative sources of supply in a timely and cost-efficient manner, or
at all, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

12. The nature of our industry requires adherence to different standards and certification requirements. Failure to
comply with such requirements may lead to revocation of our registration, which may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The nature of our industry requires adherence to different standards and certification requirements. For card payment
security, entities are required to adhere to various standards such as PCI-PIN, Payment Card Industry — PIN Transaction
Security, Payment Card Industry — Hardware Security Module, and Payment Card Industry — Point-to-Point Encryption,
over and above the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard and Payment Application Data Security Standard.
(Source: F&S Report)

Our manufacturing units have received the following certifications as of June 30, 2024:

Certifying Authority Number of Manufacturing Units Certification
Indian Banks Association IBA
Global Payment Schemes -
National Payments Corporation of India (Rupay) Rupay
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard PCIDSS
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard PCICP
CQM - Quality Audit - Master Card CcQM

International Organization for Standardization
International Organization for Standardization
International Organization for Standardization
International Organization for Standardization
International Organization for Standardization
Forest Stewardship Council

1ISO 9001 : 2015
ISO 27001 : 2022
ISO 14298 : 2021
ISO 14001 : 2015
ISO 20001-1: 2018
FSC

=
v v R RERwww oo~

These certifying authorities require us to comply with standards on card production and security requirements. Each of
our card units need to undergo assessment for compliance with various requirements, and depending on the outcome of
such assessment, our units are individually certified as eligible to undertake activities for the manufacturing and
distribution of cards. While we have not faced any instance of revocation of these certification or non-compliance with
the certification requirements in the past, we cannot assure you that we will continue to be eligible to undertake each of
the processes that we are presently able to, or that our registrations and certifications by such networks will continue to
be renewed. If we fail to comply with the standards prescribed, or if our units do not qualify for certain activities, we may
not be able to utilize our units effectively, and the volume of production may be affected. If the certifying authorities
impose more stringent criteria, we may need to expend additional resources to meet such criteria, and if our certifications
are revoked or cancelled, we may lose the ability to produce cards for or provide services to our customers. Any such
occurrence may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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13. We rely on external vendors for various critical aspects of our information technology infrastructure. Any failure
to effectively manage our reliance on such third-parties may have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

We rely on external vendors for various critical aspects of our information technology infrastructure, including lease line
providers, infrastructure support teams, and support for virtualisation and data encryption tools. Furthermore, our
dependence on external vendors may limit our control over the quality and timeliness of IT services, potentially leading
to delays in project implementation, increased costs, and reduced operational efficiency.

This reliance exposes us to several risks including potential disruptions in service due to vendor-related issues such as
financial instability, operational failures, or cybersecurity breaches. Any interruption in the services provided by our IT
vendors could lead to significant downtime, loss of data, and compromised security, which may adversely impact our
ability to conduct business operations effectively. We may also face challenges in integrating new technologies or systems
provided by external vendors with our existing infrastructure, which could result in operational inefficiencies and
increased vulnerability to cyber threats.

While we have not faced any such instances in the past Any failure to effectively manage our reliance on external vendors
for IT requirements may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

14. Our inability to accurately forecast demand for our products, manage our working capital balances, or our
inability to collect receivables in a timely manner may have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

While we have entered into master agreements with our customers, the actual quantum of production depends on the
purchase orders subsequently entered to, and there is no commitment on the part of such customers to continue to place
new purchase orders with us. We provide our customers with certain credit periods, as part of our standard payment terms.
While we generally limit the credit we extend to our customers based on their financial condition and payment history,
we may still experience losses because of a customer not paying our dues in a timely manner or at all. For instance, one
of our customers had defaulted on payment against invoices raised for X 71.87 million between December 13, 2019 to
March 1, 2021 and our Company, pursuant to a settlement agreement dated March 9, 2023, had to write off an amount of
% 29.77 million and we recovered an amount aggregating to only X 42.10 million in the Fiscal 2023. Any default in
payment by key customers may adversely affect our receivable days and our cash flows. The table below sets forth details
of certain parameters as of the dates indicated:

Particulars As of/ for the Three Months As of/ For the Year Ended March 31,

Ended June 30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Total Current Assets (% in million) 6,153.95 5,341.57 4,414.06 2,917.77
Receivable Turnover Days® 80.90 51.69 70.30 84.05
Total Current Liabilities (R in million) 4,225.29 3,580.43 3,463.61 2,661.22
Net Working Capital Days® 90.82 63.34 74.34 75.74
Net Working Capital Turnover Ratio ©® 1.00 5.76 4.91 4.82

Notes:
() Receivable Turnover Days is calculated as trade receivables multiplied by number of days divided by revenue from operations
() Net Working Capital Days is calculated as net working capital multiplied by number of days divided by revenue from operations.

© Net Working Capital Turnover Ratio is calculated as revenue from operations divided by net working capital.

If a customer delays in making its payment on a product to which we have devoted significant resources, it may also
affect our profitability and liquidity and decrease the capital resources that are otherwise available for other uses. Any
increase in our receivable turnover days will negatively affect our business. If we are unable to collect customer
receivables in a timely manner, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

15. Reliance has been placed on declarations and affidavits furnished by certain of Senior Managerial Personnel for
details of their profiles included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Our SMPs, K. Krishnan Kutty and Nandkumar B.L. have been unable to trace copies of certain documents pertaining to
their educational qualifications. The concerned SMPs have made attempts to trace the copies of certificates of their
educational qualifications with the universities and have written emails and letters to relevant universities, but they have
not received any material updates from the concerned universities. Accordingly, reliance has been placed on declarations,
undertakings and affidavits furnished by these Senior Managerial Personnel to disclose details of their educational
qualifications in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and we have not been able to independently verify these details.
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16. We face competition that may result in a loss of our market share and/or a decline in our profitability.

We expect our marketplace to continue to be highly competitive as new product markets develop, industry standards
become well known and other competitors attempt to enter the markets in which we operate. In addition, we expect to
encounter rise in competition in the markets in which we operate. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, and, when viewed globally, may have larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, sales and
marketing, manufacturing, distribution, technical and other capabilities than we do. These competitors may be able to
adapt more quickly to new or emerging technological requirements and changes in customer and/or regulatory
requirements. They may also be able to devote greater resources to the promotion and sale of their products and services.
We also face competition from newly established competitors, suppliers of products and customers who choose to
develop their own products and services. Existing or new competitors may develop products, technologies or services
that more effectively address our markets with enhanced features and functionality, greater levels of integration and at
lower costs. As the technological sophistication of our competitors and the size of the market increase, competing low-
cost producers could emerge and grow stronger. If our customers prefer low-cost alternatives to our products, our
revenues and profitability could be adversely affected. We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against
current or new competitors. If we fail to compete successfully, we may lose market share in our existing markets, which
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

17. There have been some instances of delayed filing with the Registrar of Companies under the Companies Act in
the past which may attract penalties.

There have been certain discrepancies in relation to statutory filings required to be made by us with the RoC under
applicable laws. Our Company has defaulted in complying with the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act,
2013 by delaying in expending 2% on CSR Activities in Fiscal 2022. Further, our Company has not deposited unspent
CSR expenses in separate bank account after notification of Companies (Amendment Act 2019 applicable w.e.f. January
22, 2021 i.e. unspent amount for the Fiscal 2021, 2022 and 2023. However, the said amount was deposited within the
timeframe prescribed under the Companies Act 2013. Additionally, our Company’s paid-up capital crossed X 50 million
on October 27, 2016, however the company secretary was appointed with effect from November 30, 2018 which led to
a default in complying with Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 from Fiscal 2017 till November 29, 2018.

Our Company has filed a suo-moto compounding applications dated December 23, 2024 with Regional Director, Western
Region for regularization of the said non-compliance and non-compliance for the timely appointment of the company
secretary and in the event that any fine or penalty is liable to be in relation to such non-compliance and non-compliance
for the timely appointment of the company secretary, the same shall be paid by our Company and our officer in default.
In the event such regularization process fails, we and our officer(s) in default may be held liable under Section 135(7) of
the Companies Act to a penalty of twice the amount of amount required to be transferred under section 135 of Companies
Act and each officer in default is one-tenth of the amount required to be transferred. Further, there can be no assurance
that there will be no such delays or non-compliances in the future and our Company will not be subject to adverse actions
by the authorities.

18. If we are unable to introduce new solutions in a timely manner, or at all, our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our customers benefit from our significant experience across various technologies, industry knowledge and proprietary
platforms and applications developed in-house. However, we may not be successful in developing new solutions that
meet the requirements of our customers. In addition, we may experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the
successful development, introduction or marketing of these solutions, or our new solutions and enhancements may not
adequately meet the demands of the marketplace or achieve market acceptance. We continually engage in significant
efforts to innovate and upgrade our solutions. However, our investments in research and development for new solutions
may result in higher costs without proportionate increase in revenues.

Our ability to develop and deliver new solutions successfully will depend on various factors, including our ability to:

o identify and capitalize upon new opportunities effectively and efficiently;

e invest resources in innovation and research and development;

o effectively compete with the rise in wireless payment systems or mobile payments;
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o license any required third-party technology or intellectual property rights;
e qualify for and obtain required industry certification for our solutions; and
e comply with applicable data protection regulations.

If we are unable to identify adequate opportunities to cross-sell our solutions, our financial condition could be adversely
affected. Further, if we are unable to develop and introduce new and innovative solutions in a cost-effective and timely
manner, our solutions could be rendered obsolete, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Further, we continually seek to develop and implement new initiatives to enhance our
business operations, expand our market presence, and drive growth. These initiatives may include the introduction of
new products and services, entry into new markets, strategic partnerships, and investments in technology and innovation.
However, there can be no assurance that these new initiatives will achieve the desired results or be successful. The success
of new initiatives depends on various factors, including market acceptance, competitive dynamics, regulatory approvals,
and our ability to effectively execute and integrate these initiatives into our existing operations.

Failure to successfully implement new initiatives could result in significant costs and resource allocation without
corresponding benefits, adversely affecting our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Additionally, new
initiatives may require substantial investments in research and development, marketing, and infrastructure, which may
not be recovered if the initiatives do not perform as expected. Furthermore, our competitors may respond more effectively
to market changes, thereby diminishing the potential success of our new initiatives. Any such instances may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

19. Our Statutory Auditors have included certain emphasis of matter in their audit report for our Restated Financial
Information. We cannot assure you that similar emphasis of matter or other qualifications will not be included in
our financial statements in the future.

Our Statutory Auditors have included certain emphasis of matter in their audit report for our Restated Financial
Information. For emphasis of matter included by our auditors in their audit report, see “Restated Financial Information
— Annexure VI - Statement of Adjustments to the Audited Special Purpose Interim Financial Statements as at and for the
three months period ended June 30, 2024 and Audited Financial Statements as at and for the years ended March 31,
2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 — Part B” on page 391. We cannot assure you that similar observations,
emphasis of matter or other qualifications will not be included in our financial statements in the future.

20. We have not yet placed orders in relation to the capital expenditure for the purchase of equipment proposed to be
funded from the Net Proceeds. In the event of any delay in placing the orders, or in the event the vendor is not
able to provide the equipment in a timely manner, or at all, it may result in time and cost overruns and our
business, prospects and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We intend to utilize a portion of the Net Proceeds for funding capital expenditure requirements towards the purchase of
equipment. While we have procured quotations from vendors in relation to the capital expenditure to be incurred, we
have not placed orders for the capital expenditure proposed to be funded from the Net Proceeds and have not entered into
any definitive agreements with the vendors in relation to such capital expenditure as of the date of this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. For details in respect of the foregoing, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 93. Such quotes are valid for a
certain period of time and may be subject to revisions, and other commercial and technical factors. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to undertake such capital expenditure within the cost indicated by such bid or that there will not be
cost escalations. Further, the actual amount and timing of our future capital requirements may differ from our estimates
as a result of, among other things, unforeseen delays or cost overruns, unanticipated expenses, regulatory changes, design
changes and technological changes. In the event of any delay in placing the orders, or an escalation in the cost of
acquisition of the equipment or in the event the vendor is not able to provide the equipment in a timely manner, or at all,
we may encounter time and cost overruns.

Further, if we are unable to procure the requisite equipment from the vendors from whom we have procured bid, we
cannot assure you that we may be able to identify alternate vendor to provide us with the equipment which satisfy our
requirements at acceptable prices. We have also obtained certain quotations for a validity of only 60 days or 90 days due
to the nature of such machinery, equipment or vehicles and may not be able to procure such plant, equipment and/ or
vehicles at the same costs. Our inability to procure the equipment at acceptable prices or in a timely manner, may result
in an increase in capital expenditure, the proposed schedule of implementation and deployment of the Net Proceeds may
be extended or may vary accordingly, thereby resulting in an adverse effect on our business, prospects and results of
operations.
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21. Our funding requirements and proposed deployment of the Net Proceeds of the Offer have not been appraised by
a bank or a financial institution and if there are any delays or cost overruns, our business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We intend to use the Net Proceeds of the Fresh Issue for the purposes described in “Objects of the Offer” on page 93.
The objects of the Fresh Issue and deployment of funds have not been appraised by any external agency or any bank or
financial institution or any other independent agency. While a monitoring agency will be appointed for monitoring
utilization of the Net Proceeds, the proposed utilization of Net Proceeds is based on our current business plan,
management estimates, prevailing market conditions and other commercial considerations, which are subject to change
and may not be within the control of our management. Based on the competitive nature of our industry, we may have to
revise our business plan and/ or management estimates from time to time and consequently our funding requirements
may also change. Our internal management estimates may exceed fair market value or the value that would have been
determined by third party appraisals, which may require us to reschedule or reallocate our project and capital expenditure
and may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our Company, in accordance with the policies established by the Board from time to time, will have flexibility to deploy
the Net Proceeds. Further, pending utilization of Net Proceeds towards the Objects of the Offer, our Company will have
the flexibility to deploy the Net Proceeds and to deposit the Net Proceeds temporarily in deposits with one or more
scheduled commercial banks included in Second Schedule of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, as may be approved by
our Board or IPO Committee. Accordingly, prospective investors in the Offer will need to rely upon our management’s
judgment with respect to the use of Net Proceeds.

22. Under-utilization of our printing and manufacturing units could have an adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

We serve our customers through a network of 24 manufacturing units as of June 30, 2024. For information in relation to
our manufacturing capabilities, see “Our Business — Business Operations - Capacity and Capacity Utilization” on page
249. Over the years, we have made investments in increasing our manufacturing capacity and setting up new
manufacturing units. The table below sets forth capital expenditure undertaken by us on capacity enhancement for the
periods indicated:

Particulars Three months ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024

Amount Percentage of  Amount| Percentage of A Amount | Percentage of | Amount | Percentage of

R®in Revenuefrom| (®in | Revenue from R®in | Revenuefrom  (Rin | Revenue from
million) | Operations million) | Operations | million) = Operations | million) | Operations
(%) (%) (%) (%)

Capital expenditure on 55.61 1.54% 657.62 4.22%| 612.39 5.34%| 372.24 5.53%
capacity enhancement

The level of our capacity utilization can impact our operating results. High capacity utilization allows us to spread our
fixed costs, resulting in higher gross profit margin. Failure to optimally use our existing capacities could lead to a strain
on our financial and operational efficiency.

Our capacity utilization is affected by the availability of industry/ market conditions as well as by the requirements of,
and procurement practice followed by, our customers. Further, if our customers have lower demand than anticipated or
cancel existing orders or change their policies, resulting in reduced quantities being supplied by us, it could result in the
under-utilization of our production capacities. Further, we make significant decisions, including determining the levels
of business that we will seek and accept, production schedules, personnel requirements and other resource requirements,
based on our estimates of customer orders. Changes in demand could reduce our ability to estimate accurately future
customer requirements, make it difficult to schedule production and lead to over production or utilization of our
production capacity, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

23. We depend on our senior management and qualified and skilled personnel, and if we are unable to recruit and
retain senior management, qualified and skilled personnel, our business, financial conditions, cash flows and
results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our Senior Management and Key Managerial Personnel have substantial experience and have contributed to the growth

of our business. For further details, see “Our Management” on page 271. Our future performance would depend on the
continued service of our Senior Management, Key Managerial Personnel, and qualified and skilled personnel, and the
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loss of any senior employee and the inability to find an adequate replacement may adversely affect our business, cash
flows, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. While there has been no instance in the past, where the
resignation of any Senior Management or Key Managerial Personnel had an adverse impact on our business, results of
operations, cash flows or financial conditions, we cannot assure you that such instance will not arise in the future. Our
future success, among other factors, will depend upon our ability to continue to attract, train and retain qualified personnel
with critical expertise, know-how and skills that are capable of helping us. We may therefore need to increase
compensation and other benefits in order to attract and retain personnel in the future, which may adversely affect our
business, financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

The market for qualified professionals is competitive and we may not continue to be successful in our efforts to attract
and retain qualified people. The following table sets forth the attrition rate in the periods indicated:

Particulars As of/For the three months As of / For the Year Ended March 31,
ended June 30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Number of Employees 790 816 782 794
Number of Employees Exited 26 15 25 20
Attrition Rate” 3.19% 1.92% 3.15% 2.47%

“Attrition rate is calculated as overall exits including retired employees divided by the total number of employees at the end of the
relevant period.

Our inability to hire, train and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel could impair the success of our operations.
This could have an adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

24. Our operations could be adversely affected by strikes or increased wage demands by our employees or any other
kind of disputes with our employees.

As of November 30, 2024, we had 817 employees across our operations. Our employees are not currently unionized,
however, owing to extraneous circumstances we may witness employee unrest. We cannot assure you that our
employees will not unionize in the future. Union organizing efforts or collective bargaining negotiations could lead to
strikes by our employees, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows and prospects. Furthermore, in the event that all or part of our employees are represented by one or more
labour union, we may face higher employee costs and increased risks of work stoppages, slowdowns and/or strikes,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

Although we have not experienced any strikes or employee unrest in the past, we cannot assure you that we will not
experience disruptions in future due to disputes or other problems with our work force, which may adversely affect our
ability to continue our business operations. In the event our employee relationships deteriorate there could be an adverse
impact on our operations. We are also subject to, and may continue to contest, regulatory claims alleging defaults in
relation to employee wage payments and contributions. Any such actions could adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

We are also subject to a number of stringent labour laws that protect the interests of workers, including legislation that
sets forth detailed procedures for dispute resolution and employee removal and legislation that imposes financial
obligations on employers upon retrenchment. If labour laws become more stringent, it may become more difficult for
us to maintain flexible human resource policies, discharge employees or downsize, any of which could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

25. We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and standards. Non-compliance with and
adverse changes in health, safety, labour, and environmental laws and other similar regulations applicable to our
operations may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Safety, health, labour, and environmental protection laws and regulations that we are subject to, impose controls on air
and water release or discharge, noise levels, storage handling, the management, use, generation, treatment, processing,
handling, storage, transport or disposal of hazardous materials, including the management of certain hazardous waste,
along with other aspects of our manufacturing operations. In case of any change in environmental or pollution regulations,
we may be required to invest in, among other things, environmental monitoring, pollution control equipment, and other
expenditure to comply with environmental standards. Any failure on our part to comply with any existing or future
regulations applicable to us may result in legal proceedings, including public interest litigation being commenced against
us, third party claims or the levy of regulatory fines. Further, any violation of the environmental laws and regulations
may result in fines, criminal sanctions, revocation of operating permits, or shutdown of our units.
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We are also subject to the laws and regulations governing employees in such areas as minimum wage and maximum
working hours, overtime, working conditions, hiring and termination of employees, and work permits. There is a risk that
we may fail to comply with such regulations, which could lead to enforced shutdowns and other sanctions imposed by
the relevant authorities, as well as the withholding or delay in receipt of regulatory approvals for our new products. We
have not faced any instance of non-compliance with the applicable laws, or action by the relevant regulatory authorities
in the past. We cannot assure you that we will not be involved in future litigation or other proceedings or be held liable
in any litigation or proceedings including in relation to safety, health and environmental matters, the costs of which may
be significant. For further details on the laws and regulations applicable to us, see “Key Regulations and Policies in India”
on page 259.

26. We require certain licenses, permits and approvals in the ordinary course of business, and the failure to obtain or
retain them in a timely manner may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

We are required to obtain certain approvals, registrations, permissions and licenses under various regulations, guidelines,
circulars and statutes regulated by the relevant authorities in India. For further information on the nature of approvals and
licenses required for our business and for information on the material approvals applied for, see “Government and Other
Approvals” on page 431. A majority of these approvals are granted for a limited duration and require renewal from time
to time. These approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions may be subject to numerous conditions. If we fail to
obtain some or all of these approvals or licenses, or renewals thereof, in a timely manner or at all, or if we fail to comply
with applicable conditions or it is claimed that we have breached any such conditions, our license or permission for
carrying on a particular activity may be suspended or cancelled and we may not be able to carry on such activity, which
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. There have been certain
instances of delay in obtaining regulatory approvals in the past. We cannot assure you that such instance will not arise in
the future.

Further, while our Subsidiary is currently registered with Employees’ State Insurance Corporation (“ESIC”) and
Employees’ PF Organization (“EPFO”) and has complied with all filing and disclosure requirements, it is unable to
locate the copies of the registration certificates. While there has been no instance in the past where our license was
suspended or cancelled by any regulatory authority which impacted our operations, there have been instances where our
Company and our Subsidiary have delayed in making certain payments of statutory dues.

Particulars June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Amount Period of Amount Period of Amount Period Amount Period of
® in million) delay (% in million) delay ® in million) of delay (X in million) delay
EPFO 0.01 1 to 30 days 0.06| 1 to 10 days - - 0.41|1to 75 days
ESIC - - 0.05| 1 to 90 days - - 0.01/1to 75 days
TDS 0.27| 1 to 23 days 6.68 1 to 135 days 0.27 1to 335 0.01, 1to185
days days

While our Company and our Subsidiary have made payments to ESIC and EPFO, we cannot assure you that such instance
will not arise in the future.

Further, we have made applications for certain regulatory approvals which are under process and there is no assurance
that we will receive such approvals in time or at all. For details of material approvals for which we have made an
application for renewal see “Government and Other Approvals - Material approvals or renewals applied for but not
received” on page 432. Any such occurrence in the future may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition.

27. We may be subject to pricing pressure from our customers, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

Our customers face continued competitive pressure. As these card issuers seek to reduce their expenses, we, in turn, may
experience a decline in the prices at which our products can be sold and at which such services can be offered. In such
instances, in order to continue to supply these products and services at competitive prices, we must reduce our production
costs. Typically, we are able to accomplish this through leveraging our scale and production efficiencies. However, we
may not be able to improve our efficiencies to a degree sufficient for maintaining the required margins. Moreover, we
may not be able to cease production of such products, either due to our ongoing contractual obligations or the risk of
losing our existing customer relationships, and as a result may be required to bear a loss only on such products. Further
competition may lead to price erosion, lower revenue growth rates and lower margins in the future. Should reductions in
our production costs fail to keep pace with reductions in market prices for the products we sell, there could be an adverse
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effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

28. Our Company, Promoters, and Directors are involved in certain tax proceedings. Any adverse decision in such
proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

There are outstanding tax proceedings involving our Company, our Promoters, and Directors which are pending at
different levels of adjudication before various courts, tribunals and other authorities. Such proceedings could divert the
management’s time and attention and consume financial resources in their defence or prosecution. The amounts claimed
in these proceedings have been disclosed to the extent that such amounts are ascertainable and quantifiable and include
amounts claimed jointly and severally, as applicable. Any unfavourable decision in connection with such proceedings,
individually or in the aggregate, could adversely affect our reputation, continuity of our management, business, cash
flows, financial condition and results of operations.

The summary of such outstanding legal and regulatory proceedings is set out below:

Name of Entity Criminal Tax Statutory or | Disciplinary actions by the | Material = Aggregate
proceedings | proceedings @ regulatory | SEBI or Stock Exchanges civil amount
proceedings |against our Promoters (last | litigation# involved
five years) ® in million)”
Company
By the Company - - - - - -
Against the Company - 12 - - - 116.59
Directors
By the Directors - - - - - -
Against the Directors - 6 - - - 5.52
Promoters
By Promoters - - - - - -
Against Promoters - 4 - - - 5.52

#Determined in accordance with the Materiality Policy.
*To the extent ascertainable and quantifiable.

Further, there are no pending litigation proceedings involving any of our Group Companies which will have a material
impact on our Company.

We cannot assure you that any of these matters will be settled in favour of our Company, Promoters, or Directors,
respectively, or that no additional liability will arise out of these proceedings. An adverse outcome in any of these
proceedings may have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, prospects, cash flows, results of operations
and our reputation. For further information, see “Outstanding Litigation and Other Material Developments” on page 426.

29. Our technology alliance partnerships expose us to a range of business risks and uncertainties that could have a
material adverse impact on our business and financial results.

We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into technology alliance partnerships with third parties to support our
future growth plans. Such relationships include technology licensing, joint technology development and integration, and
sell-through arrangements. For instance, we have an exclusive arrangement with a technology service provider for
offering tailor made chip modules of unique shapes as per the customer requirements. We face certain risks relating to
our technology alliance partnerships that could prevent us from realizing the desired benefits from such partnerships on
a timely basis or at all, which, in turn, could have a negative impact on our business and financial results. Technology
alliance partnerships require significant coordination between the parties involved, particularly if a partner requires that
we integrate its products with our solutions. This could involve a significant commitment of time and resources by our
technical personnel and their counterparts within our technology alliance partner. The integration of products from
different companies may be more difficult than we anticipate, and the risk of integration difficulties, incompatible
products and undetected programming errors or defects may be higher than the risks normally associated with the
introduction of new offerings. It may also be more difficult to market and sell offerings developed through technology
alliance partnerships than it would be to market and sell offerings that we develop on our own. Sales and marketing
personnel may require special training, as the new offerings may be more complex than our other offerings. We invest
significant time, money and resources to establish and maintain relationships with our technology alliance partners, but
we have no assurance that any particular relationship will continue for any specific period. If we lose a significant
technology alliance partner, we could lose the benefit of our investment of time, money and resources in the relationship.
In addition, we could be required to incur significant expenses to develop a new strategic alliance or to determine and
implement an alternative plan to pursue the opportunity that we targeted with the former partner.
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30. Our operations are dependent on adequate and uninterrupted external supply of electricity, fuel, and water. Any
disruption or shortage in electricity, fuel or water may lead to disruption in operations, higher operating cost and
consequent decline in our operating margins.

Our manufacturing, personalization and printing processes require uninterrupted and constant voltage power for
production and to increase the productivity and lifetime of our machinery and equipment. We source power from
electricity companies of the respective state governments.

Further, while they are not water-intensive, our manufacturing processes require a certain amount of water. To meet this
requirement, we primarily rely on external resources or local utility companies. Set forth below are details of our power
and fuel expenses and water charges in the corresponding periods:

Particulars Three months ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024

Amount | Percentage of  Amount | Percentage of Amount |Percentage of | Amount | Percentage of
R in Total R in Total R in Total R in Total
million) | Expenses (%) | million)  Expenses (%) million) | Expenses (%) million) | Expenses (%)
Power and fuel expenses 37.71 1.26%/| 159.13 1.19% 134.12 1.33% 103.87 1.67%
Water Charges 0.76 0.03% 4.80 0.04% 4.54 0.04% 3.21 0.05%

While we have faced certain instances of power failure in the past, these instances did not have a material impact on our
operations or financial condition We cannot assure you that we will continue to have an uninterrupted supply of
electricity, fuel or water in the future. Further, we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain alternate sources of
power, fuel or water in a timely manner, and at an acceptable cost, or at all, which may cause a slowdown or interruption
to our production process and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

31. Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our competitive position, business,
financial condition and results of operation.

We have 91 registered trademarks including trademarks on eTaTrak, IOMS and izelOT. For further information, see
“Our Business — Intellectual Property” on page 255. The use of our registered trademarks or logos by third parties could
adversely affect our reputation, which could in turn adversely affect our business and results of operations. The measures
we take to protect our registered trademarks may not be adequate to prevent unauthorized use of our registered trademarks
by third parties.

We have applied for the registration of 145 trademarks of which two have been opposed and others are marked for
examination. We cannot assure you that such registration of our trademarks will be granted to us in a timely manner, or
at all. As a result, we may not be able to prevent infringement of our trademarks until such time that such registration is
granted.

Further, the defence of intellectual property suits and related legal and administrative proceedings can be both costly and
time-consuming and may significantly divert the efforts and resources of our technical and management personnel. We
may not achieve a favourable outcome in any such litigation. While we have not experienced any instances of
infringement of our registered trademarks in the past, we cannot assure you that such instances will not occur in the
future.

32. We have incurred indebtedness and an inability to comply with repayment and other covenants in our financing
agreements could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We have entered into various financing arrangements with various lenders for short-term and long-term facilities. As of
November 15, 2024, our total outstanding borrowings amounted to X 3,271.83 million. Our ability to pay interest and
repay the principal for our indebtedness is dependent upon our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to service such
debt. Any additional indebtedness we incur may have significant consequences, including, requiring us to use a
significant portion of our cash flow from operations and other available cash to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing
the funds available for other purposes, including capital expenditure and reducing our flexibility in planning for or
reacting to changes in our business, competition pressures and market conditions.

Our financing arrangements include conditions that require us to obtain respective lenders’ consent prior to carrying out

certain activities and entering into certain transactions including altering our capital structure, further issuance of any
Equity Shares, effecting any scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction, changing the management and dilution of
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Promoters’ shareholding, alteration in the constitutional documents and creation of Security. Failure to meet these
conditions or obtain these consents could have significant consequences on our business and operations. While have
received all consents required from our lenders in connection with the Offer, Export Import Bank of India, one of the
lenders has included certain conditions that need to be met while the Company is undertaking the Issue including retaining
the right to appoint nominee directors in the event of any event of default. Our Company will take all necessary steps as
required in the consent letter and failure to meet these conditions could have significant consequences on our business
and operations.

In terms of security, we are required to create a mortgage or charge over our current assets, movable and immovable

properties. We may also be required to furnish additional security if required by our lenders. While there has been no

breach of such covenants in the past, we cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with these financial or other

covenants at all times or that we will be able to obtain the consent necessary to take the actions that we believe are

required to operate and grow our business.

33. Our Company is in the process of complying with and implementing the Scheme of Amalgamation. Any delay in
complying with the terms of the Scheme may affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our Company, Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited and Qupod Technovations Private Limited entered in to a Scheme of
Arrangement which became operational from March 13, 2024 pursuant to an order dated February 8, 2024 passed by the
National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai. Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement the BPO business undertaking of
Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited, ongoing concern basis were merged into Qupod Technovations Private Limited and
Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited alongwith its core business amalgamated with our Company as a going concern and
all assets, permits, contracts, liabilities, loan, debentures, duties and obligations of the Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited
shall, without any further act, instrument or deed, stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to have been transferred
to and vested in our Company. Our Company is in the process of amending various loan documents and other licences
in the name of the resulting entity i.e. “Seshaasai Technologies Limited”, in terms of the Scheme of Arrangement. For
further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters— Details regarding
material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in
the last 10 years” on page 266. For example, our Company is in the process of changing the name of the lender in loan
documentation entered into with State Bank of India from Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited to Seshaasai Technologies
Limited, in terms of the Scheme of Arrangement.

34. Growth achieved by our Company in the past does not guarantee the future performance of our Company. An
inability to effectively manage our growth and expansion may have an adverse effect on our business prospects
and future financial performance.

Growth achieved by our Company in the past does not guarantee the future performance of our Company. Our ability to
manage our expansion effectively and execute our growth strategy predominantly depends on our ability to grow our
business and operations in India. The development of such future business could be adversely affected by many factors,
including general political and economic conditions in India, government policies or strategies in respect of specific
industries, prevailing interest rates, and labour costs, among others. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively,
we may not be able to take advantage of market opportunities, execute our business strategies successfully or respond to
competitive pressures. Additional difficulties in executing our growth strategy, particularly in new geographical
locations, may include, among others, obtaining applicable regulatory approvals and other permits; managing local
operational, capital investment or sourcing regulatory requirements; managing fluctuations in the economy and financial
markets, as well as credit risks; and managing possible unfavourable labour conditions or employee strikes. We cannot
assure you that our growth and expansion strategy will continue to be successful or will continue to grow at historical
rates or that we will be able to execute our business plans efficiently in a cost-effective manner.

35. An inability to develop or implement effective internal controls and risk management frameworks could expose
us to unidentified risks or unanticipated levels of risk.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal measures commensurate with the size and
complexity of operations. Our internal audit functions make an evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal
systems on an ongoing basis so that our operations adhere to our policies, compliance requirements and internal
guidelines. We periodically test and update our internal processes and systems and there have been no material instances
of failure to maintain effective internal controls and compliance system in the past. However, we are exposed to
operational risks arising from the potential inadequacy or failure of internal processes or systems, and our actions may
not be sufficient to ensure effective internal checks and balances in all circumstances.

Further, while we have implemented various risk management frameworks, there can be no assurance that such
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frameworks will be effective in identifying or addressing all possible risks or levels of risks that we encounter in our
business and operations. In addition, there can be no assurance that our risk management frameworks are as
comprehensive as those implemented by our competitors, which could expose us to more risks than our competitors.

36. Defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our website, applications, backend systems or other technology systems could
impair the delivery of our platform and services, and our reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

The software underlying our platform is highly complex and may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of
which may only be discovered after the code has been released. Any errors or vulnerabilities discovered in our code could
result in negative publicity, a loss of users or loss of revenue, and access or other performance issues. Further, we rely
on our integrated technology platforms for customer communication management, deliverables and logistics management
and inventory and order management.

While there have been no such instances in the past, such vulnerabilities could also be exploited by malicious actors and
result in exposure of data of users on our platform, or otherwise result in a security breach or other security incident or
any disruption of operations at our stores, we cannot assure you that such instances will not happen going forward. We
may need to expend significant financial and development resources to analyse, correct, eliminate, or work around errors
or defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities. Any failure to timely and effectively resolve any such errors, defects,
or vulnerabilities could adversely affect our business, reputation, brand, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.

37. We may undertake acquisitions, investments, joint ventures or other strategic alliances, which may have an
adverse effect on our ability to manage our business, and such undertakings may be unsuccessful.

We may undertake acquisitions, investments, joint ventures or other strategic alliances to expand our business
operations. Any future acquisitions may expose us to new operational, regulatory, market and geographic risks as well
as risks associated with additional capital requirements as well as other considerable risks, including:

e our inability to integrate new operations, personnel, solutions, and technologies;
o unforeseen or hidden liabilities, including exposure to lawsuits associated with newly acquired companies;
o the diversion of resources from our existing businesses;

o failure to comply with laws and regulations as well as industry or technical standards of the overseas markets into
which we may expand,;

e our inability to generate sufficient revenues to offset the costs and expenses of such acquisitions or strategic
investment; and

e potential loss of, or harm to employees or customer relationships.

Any of these events could disrupt our ability to manage our business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Such risks could also result in our failure to derive the intended
benefits of the acquisitions, and we may be unable to recover our investment in such initiatives.

38. We have certain contingent liabilities that have been disclosed in our financial statements, which if materialize,
may adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The table below sets forth our contingent liabilities disclosed as per Ind AS 37, as of June 30, 2024.

(< in million)
Particulars | As of June 30, 2024
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts
Income tax matters* 10.43
Indirect Tax matters** 46.17
Legal and Other Matters -
Notes:

*The disputed tax liability as shown in the income tax portal is ¥ 10.43 million (assessment year 2008-2009 is T 0.80 million,
assessment year 2009-2010 is < 0.058 million, assessment year 2010-2011 is % 0.13 million, assessment year 2016-2017 is ¥ 0.048
million, assessment year 2017-18 is < 0.23 million, assessment year 2018-2019 is T 0.01 million, assessment year 2018-2019 is T 0.50
million, assessment year 2019-2020 is T 6.47 million, assessment year 2021-2022 is % 0.22 million, assessment year 2022-2023 is
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1.96 million). The said liability is mainly of TDS credit mismatches and other arithmetical errors. We have filed rectification letters
against the demand and is confident of resolving the same.
**Disputed tax liability related to indirect tax matters pending at CESTAT and Gujarat VAT.

If a significant portion of these liabilities materialize, it could have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations. For further information, see “Restated Financial Statements — Contingent liabilities
and commitments” on page 371.

39. We have witnessed negative cash flow from operating activities in the three months ended June 30, 2024. Any
negative cash flows in the future would adversely affect our cash flow requirements, which may adversely affect
our ability to operate our business and our financial condition.

The following table sets forth certain information relating to our cash flows from / (used in) operating activities for the
periods indicated:

(% in million)
Particulars Three Monthsended = Fiscal 2024 = Fiscal 2023 = Fiscal 2022
June 30, 2024
Net Cash (used in) / generated from Operating Activities (312.34) 1,978.06 513.64 583.97

Negative operating cash flows over extended periods, or significant negative cash flows in the short term, could materially
impact our ability to operate our business and implement our growth plans. As a result, our cash flows, business, future
financial performance and results of operations could be adversely affected. For further information, see “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Cash Flows” and “Summary of Financial
Information” on page 415 and 65.

40. An inability to maintain adequate insurance cover in connection with our business may adversely affect our
operations and profitability.

Notwithstanding the insurance coverage that we carry, we may not be fully insured against certain business risks. There
are many events that could significantly impact our operations, or expose us to third-party liabilities, for which we may
not be adequately insured. There can be no assurance that any claim under the insurance policies maintained by us will
be honoured fully, in part, or on time. To the extent that we suffer any loss or damage that is not covered by insurance or
exceeds our insurance coverage, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The table below provides details of the aggregate coverage of the insurance policies obtained by as a percentage of our
total assets in the periods indicated:

Particulars Asof June  Asof March = Asof March = Asof March

30, 2024 31, 2024 31, 2023 31, 2022 ##
Aggregate Coverage of Insurance Policies (% in million) 5,440.39 5,440.39 3,676.09 3,330.62
As a percentage of total assets 106.42% 112.96% 96.20% 116.23%

*Based on Restated Consolidated Financial Information
# Insured assets pertains to property, plant and equipment (excluding freehold land and vehicles), capital work in progress, inventory;
and percentage of insured asset is calculated accordingly.

Further, as of March 31, 2022, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024, the total inventory insured was 124.00%, 96.81%
and 164.27%, respectively. To the extent that we suffer loss or damage as a result of events for which we are not insured,
or for which we did not obtain or maintain insurance, or which is not covered by insurance, exceeds our insurance
coverage or where our insurance claims are rejected, the loss would have to be borne by us and our results of operations,
financial performance and cash flows could be adversely affected. For further information on our insurance arrangements,
see “Our Business — Insurance” on page 255.

The table below provides details of the total insurance claims filed by us in the periods set indicated:

Particulars Three months ended June 30, 2024  Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023  Fiscal 2022
Claims Filed - 1 - -
Total Claimed Amount (X in million) - 0.18 - -

While we believe that the insurance coverage which we maintain would be reasonably adequate to cover the normal risks
associated with the operation of our business, we cannot assure you that any claim under the insurance policies maintained
by us will be honoured fully, or in part, or on time, or that we have taken out sufficient insurance to cover all our losses.
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In addition, our insurance coverage expires from time to time. We apply for the renewal of our insurance coverage in the
normal course of our business, but we cannot assure you that such renewals will be granted in a timely manner, at an
acceptable cost, or at all. To the extent that we suffer loss or damage, for which we have not obtained or maintained
insurance, or which is not covered by insurance, which exceeds our insurance coverage, or where our insurance claims
are rejected, the loss would have to be borne by us and our results of operations, cash flows and financial performance
could be adversely affected.

41. If we inadvertently infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, our business and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

While we take care to ensure that we comply with the intellectual property rights of others, we cannot determine with
certainty as to whether we are infringing on any existing third-party intellectual property rights, which may force us to
alter our technologies, obtain licences or cease some of our operations. We may also be susceptible to claims from third
parties asserting infringement and other related claims. If claims or actions are asserted against us, we may be subject to
costly litigation or may be required to obtain a licence, modify our existing technology or cease the use of such technology
and design a new non-infringing technology. Such licences or design modifications can be extremely costly. Further,
necessary licences may not be available to us on satisfactory terms, if at all. In addition, we may decide to settle a claim
or action against us, which settlement could be costly. We may also be liable for any past infringement. Any of the
foregoing could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. An inadvertent breach or any
misuse of intellectual property or proprietary data by any of our employees or sub-contractors may expose us to expensive
infringement claims and may diminish our goodwill and reputation, making it difficult for us to operate our business and
compete effectively. While we have not experienced any such instances in the past, we cannot assure you that such
instances will not occur in the future.

42. Any downgrade in our credit ratings could increase our finance costs and adversely affect our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The cost and availability of capital depends in part on our short-term and long-term credit ratings. Credit ratings reflect
the opinions of rating agencies on our financial strength, operating performance, strategic position and ability to meet
our obligations. Any downgrade in our credit ratings could weaken our relationships and negotiating power with our
lenders, increase the average cost of borrowing, and cause our lenders to impose additional terms and conditions or
charge higher premiums in respect of any financing or refinancing arrangements that we enter into in the future. As of
the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, we have dual credit ratings from CRISIL as per the following table:

Instrument Rating Agency Rating

Cash Credit CRISIL Ratings Limited CRISIL A/ Stable
Letter of Credit CRISIL Ratings Limited CRISIL A1

Term Loan CRISIL Ratings Limited CRISIL A/ Stable

Any downgrade in our credit ratings could increase borrowing costs and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

43. Our directors including our independent directors do not have any experience of being a director in a listed
company. This may require them to divert their attention from our business concerns to understand the detailed
operations of a listed company.

Currently, our Board comprises of six (6) directors out of which three (3) are independent directors. Our Directors,
including our independent directors namely, Abbhijet Ghag, Sowmya Vencatesan and Mehul Suresh Shah have
never been appointed as an independent director on the board of a listed company. While the aforementioned
independent directors possess the required qualifications and appropriate skills, experience and knowledge required
to act as independent director of our Company and are experienced in their respective fields, they may not have
adequate experience in being a director of a listed company. Accordingly, our directors will need to familiarise
themselves with the regulatory framework within which listed companies in India operate and to the extent that they
are unfamiliar with such framework their ability to discharge their functions as independent directors could be
adversely affected. As a listed company, we will be subject to increased scrutiny of our affairs by shareholders,
regulators and the public at large that is associated with being a listed company and will also be subject to increased
corporate governance requirements. Accordingly, the lack of experience of our directors of never having been
directors of a listed company, may require them to divert their attention from our business concerns to understand
the detailed operations of a listed company.
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44. Qur Promoters, Directors, key managerial personnel and senior management personnel may have interests other
than reimbursement of expenses incurred and normal remuneration or benefits.

Our Promoters, Directors, key managerial personnel and senior management personnel may be interested in our
Company to the extent of the Equity Shares held by them in our Company, and any dividends, bonuses or other
distributions on such Equity Shares. For further details on our shareholding, see “Capital Structure” on page 80.

45. We have in the past entered into related party transactions and may continue to do so in the future.

We have entered into transactions with related parties in the past and from, time to time, we may enter into related party
transactions in the future. All such transactions have been conducted on an arm’s length basis, in accordance with the
Companies Act and other applicable regulations pertaining to the evaluation and approval of such transactions and all
related party transactions that we may enter into post-listing, will be subject to Board or Shareholder approval, as
necessary under the Companies Act, the SEBI Listing Regulations and other application laws. It is likely that we may
enter into additional related party transactions in the future. Such future related party transactions may potentially involve
conflicts of interest. The table below sets forth details of absolute sum of all related party transactions and the percentage
of such related party transactions to our revenue from operations in the years indicated:

(% in million, except percentages)

Particulars Three months ended ~ Fiscal 2024  Fiscal 2023  Fiscal 2022

June 30, 2024
Absolute sum of all Related Party Transactions 90.06 1473.09 714.62 859.78
Revenue from Operations ( in million) 3,606.02 15,582.56 11,462.99 6,725.57
Absolute sum of all Related Party Transactions as a 2.50% 9.45% 6.23% 12.78%

Percentage of Revenue from Operations (%)

For further information on our related party transactions, see “Summary of the Offer Document — Summary of Related
Party Transactions” and “Other Financial Information — Related Party Transactions” on page 29 and 397.

46. Our offices, including our Registered and Corporate Office, branches and manufacturing units are located on
leased or licensed or rented premises. If these leases, leave and license agreements or rental deeds are terminated
or not renewed on terms acceptable to us, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows.

Certain of our offices, including our Registered and Corporate Office, branches and manufacturing units, are located on
premises that we operate on a leave and license basis. For instance, our Registered and Corporate Office is leased from
Sunita Pravin Lalwani, a member of our promoter group, and certain other properties are leased from Srichakra Infratech
Private Limited, Srichakra Prints Private Limited and Prayaas Automation Private Limited, our group companies and
Sunita Jain, a member of our promoter group. For details in relation to our Properties, see “Our Business - Properties”
on page 256. We may not be able to renew or extend these agreements at commercially acceptable terms, or at all. Further,
we may be required to re-negotiate rent or other terms and conditions of such agreements. We may also be required to
vacate the premises at short notice as prescribed in the lease agreements, and we may not be able to identify and obtain
possession of an alternate location, in a short period of time. Occurrence of any of the above events may have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. Further, any adverse impact on
the ownership rights of our landlords may impede our effective future operations. We may also face the risk of being
evicted in the event that our landlords allege a breach on our part of any terms under these lease/ leave and license
agreements and there is no assurance that we will be able to identify suitable locations to re-locate our operations.

47. Our Promoters and members of our Promoter Group will continue to hold a significant equity stake in our
Company after the Offer and their interests may differ from those of the other shareholders.

After the completion of the Issue, our Promoters along with the members of Promoter Group will continue to collectively
hold majority of the shareholding in our Company and will continue to exercise significant influence over our business
policies and affairs and all matters requiring Shareholders’ approval. This concentration of ownership also may delay,
defer or even prevent a change in control of our Company and may make some transactions more difficult or impossible
without the support of these stockholders. The interests of the Promoters as our controlling shareholders could conflict
with our interests or the interests of our other shareholders. We cannot assure you that the Promoters will act to resolve
any conflicts of interest in our favour and any such conflict may adversely affect our ability to execute our business
strategy or to operate our business. For further information in relation to the interests of our Promoters, please see “Our
Promoters and Promoter Group” and “Our Management” on page 294 and 271, respectively.
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48. One of our Group Companies, Srichakra Transtech Private Limited, is involved in ventures which are engaged
in the same line of activity or business as that of our Company.

One of our Group Companies, Srichakra Transtech Private Limited (“SCTT”) is engaged in the business of offering
logistic services such as mail management system, liaising with Indian postal agencies and foreign postal agencies with
respect to information and end to end solutions from print to dispatch and door delivery, technology web enabled devices,
SMS, telephone, e mail, call centre for tracking and query handling (“Logistics Management Services”) for its
customers. SCTT offer these services to independent third-party customers based on contracts entered with such third-
party customers. While these customers are common between the Company and SCTT, there are no services which
overlaps or are availed by our Company from SCTT. For instance, SCTT only engage as logistic partners to its customers,
other than the Company and not as a full fledge offerings from printing/manufacturing to delivery as is the case of the
Company Further, our Company does not offer any standalone logistic service to its customers similar to that offered by
SCTT. While, our Company has entered into sales transactions amounting to ¥48.58 million, X 61.82 million and X 8.14
million and X 15.48 million during Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022, and three months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, no
service is availed by our Company from SCTT. Our Company and SCTT have entered into a letter agreement dated
December 26, 2024 to provide a right to first refusal to our Company for all the contracts that SCTT would enter into
with its customers from the date of the execution of the letter agreement for offering Logistics Management Services.
For details see “Group Companies - Common Pursuits” on page 301. While there is no assurance that SCTT or the other
Group Companies, which are engaged in business ventures that may compete with us, either directly or indirectly, will
not provide competitive services or otherwise compete in business lines in which we are already present or will enter into
in the future. This may give rise to a conflict of interest, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

49. Certain sections of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus disclose information from the F&S Report which is a paid
report and commissioned and paid for by us exclusively in connection with the Issue and any reliance on such
information for making an investment decision in the Issue is subject to inherent risks.

We have availed the services of an independent third-party research agency, Frost & Sullivan, appointed by us pursuant
to an engagement letter dated August 9, 2024, to prepare an industry report titled “Connected Transactions: Exploring
the Payment Card, IoT RFID, and ESIM Markets” dated December 2024, for the purposes of inclusion of such
information in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus to understand the industry in which we operate. The F&S Report has
been commissioned by our Company exclusively in connection with the Issue for a fee. The F&S Report is subject to
various limitations and based upon certain assumptions that are subjective in nature. Further the commissioned report is
not a recommendation to invest or divest in our Company. Prospective investors are advised not to unduly rely on the
commissioned report or extracts thereof as included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, when making their investment
decisions.

50. Certain non-GAAP financial measures relating to our operations and financial performance have been included
in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. These non-GAAP financial measures are not measures of operating
performance or liquidity defined by Ind AS and may not be comparable.

Certain non-GAAP financial measures relating to our operations and financial performance have been included in this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus. We compute and disclose such non-GAAP financial measures as we consider such
information to be useful measures of our business and financial performance.

These Non-GAAP Measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity under Ind AS and should
not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the periods or any other
measure of financial performance or as an indicator of our operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows
generated by operating, investing or financing activities derived in accordance with Ind AS. In addition, these are not
standardised terms, hence a direct comparison of these Non-GAAP Measures between companies may not be possible.
Other companies may calculate these Non-GAAP Measures differently from us, limiting its usefulness as a comparative
measure. These non-GAAP financial measures and other statistical and other information relating to our operations and
financial performance may not be computed on the basis of any standard methodology that is applicable across the
industry and therefore may not be comparable to financial measures and statistical information of similar nomenclature
that may be computed and presented by other companies and are not measures of operating performance or liquidity
defined by Ind AS and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.
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51. Any variation in the utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus shall be
subject to certain compliance requirements, including prior approval of the shareholders of our Company.

We propose to utilize the Net Proceeds towards funding capital expenditure for the expansion of existing manufacturing
units and Repayment and / or prepayment, in part or in full, of certain outstanding loans of our Company. For further
details of the proposed objects of the Offer, see “Objects of the Offer” beginning on page 93. Further, we cannot determine
with any certainty if we would require the Net Proceeds to meet any other expenditure or fund any exigencies arising out
of the competitive environment, business conditions, economic conditions or other factors beyond our control. In
accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI ICDR Regulations, we cannot undertake variation in the
utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus without obtaining the approval of the
Shareholders through a special resolution. In the event of any such circumstances that require us to vary the disclosed
utilization of the Net Proceeds, we may not be able to obtain the approval of the Shareholders in a timely manner, or at
all. Any delay or inability in obtaining such approval of the Shareholders may adversely affect our business or operations.
Further, our Promoters would be required to provide an exit opportunity to the shareholders of our Company who do not
agree with our proposal to modify the objects of the Offer, at a price and manner as prescribed by SEBI.

Additionally, the requirement on Promoters to provide an exit opportunity to such dissenting shareholders of our
Company may deter our Promoters or controlling shareholders from agreeing to the variation of the proposed utilization
of the Net Proceeds, even if such variation is in the interest of our Company. Further, we cannot assure you that our
Promoters will have adequate resources at their disposal at all times to enable them to provide an exit opportunity. In
light of these factors, we may not be able to vary the objects of the Offer to use any unutilized proceeds of the Fresh
Issue, if any, even if such variation is in the interest of our Company. This may restrict our ability to respond to any
change in our business or financial condition by re-deploying the unutilized portion of Net Proceeds, if any, which may
adversely affect our business, financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

EXTERNAL RISK FACTORS

52. The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions and the Offer Price, price to
earnings ratio and market capitalization to revenue multiple based on the Offer Price of our Company, may not
be indicative of the market price of our Company on listing or thereaffter.

Our revenue from operations for Fiscal 2024 was X 15,582.56 million and profit for the year for Fiscal 2024 was %
1,692.78 million, respectively. The table below provides details of our price to earnings ratio and market capitalization
to revenue from operations at the upper end of the Price Band:

Particulars Price to Earnings Ratio Market Capitalization Market Capitalization
(on floor price) to Revenue (on cap price) to Revenue
Fiscal 2024 [e] [e] [e]

“To be populated at Prospectus stage.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions and will be determined by our Company
in consultation with the BRLMs. The relevant financial parameters based on which the Price Band will be determined
shall be disclosed in the advertisement that will be issued for the publication of the Price Band. Further, the Offer Price
of the Equity Shares is proposed to be determined on the basis of assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares
offered through the book-building process prescribed under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and certain quantitative and
qualitative factors as set out in the section “Basis for Offer Price” on page 106 and the Offer Price, multiples and ratios
may not be indicative of the market price of our Company on listing or thereafter.

Prior to the Offer, there has been no public market for our Equity Shares, and an active trading market on the Stock
Exchanges may not develop or be sustained after the Offer. Listing does not guarantee that a market for the Equity Shares
will develop, or if developed, the liquidity of such market for the Equity Shares.

The market price of the Equity Shares may be subject to significant fluctuations in response to, among other factors,
variations in our operating results, market conditions specific to the industry we operate in, developments relating to
India, announcements by third parties or governmental entities of significant claims or proceedings against us, volatility
in the securities markets in India and other jurisdictions, variations in the growth rate of financial indicators, variations
in revenue or earnings estimates by research publications, and changes in economic, legal and other regulatory factors.
As a result, we cannot assure you that an active market will develop, or sustained trading will take place in the Equity
Shares or provide any assurance regarding the price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing. Further, the
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market price of the Equity Shares may decline below the Offer Price. We cannot assure you that you will be able to sell
your Equity Shares at or above the Offer Price.

53. Changing laws, rules and regulations in India could lead to new compliance requirements that are uncertain.

Our business, financial performance, cash flow and results of operations could be adversely affected by unfavourable
changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations applicable to us and our
business. Our business, cash flows, results of operations and prospects may be adversely impacted, to the extent that we
are unable to suitably respond to and comply with any such changes in applicable law and policy. The regulatory and
policy environment in which we operate are evolving and are subject to change. The Gol may implement new laws or
other regulations and policies that could affect our business in general, which could lead to new compliance requirements,
including requiring us to obtain approvals and licenses from the Government and other regulatory bodies, or impose
onerous requirements.

Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations including
foreign investment and stamp duty laws governing our business and operations could result in us being deemed to be in
contravention of such laws and may require us to apply for additional approvals. For instance, the Supreme Court of India
has in a decision clarified the components of basic wages which need to be considered by companies while making
provident fund payments, which resulted in an increase in the provident fund payments to be made by companies. Any
such decisions in future or any further changes in interpretation of laws may have an impact on our results of operations.

Furthermore, changes in capital gains tax or tax on capital market transactions or the sale of shares could affect investor
returns. As a result, any such changes or interpretations could have an adverse effect on our business and financial
performance. For further discussion on capital gains tax, see “- Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of
income arising on the sale of the Equity Shares.” on page 60.

Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing law,
regulation or policy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including by reason of an absence, or a limited body, of
administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as costly for us to resolve and may impact the viability
of our current business or restrict our ability to grow our business in the future. We may incur increased costs and other
burdens relating to compliance with such new requirements, which may also require significant management time and
other resources, and any failure to comply may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition and prospects. For instance, the Supreme Court of India has in a decision clarified the components of basic
wages which need to be considered by companies while making provident fund payments, which resulted in an increase
in the provident fund payments to be made by companies. Any such decisions in future or any further changes in
interpretation of laws may have an impact on our financial conditions, cash flows and results of operations.

Further, the Government of India has recently introduced various amendments to the Income Tax Act, by way of the
Finance Act, 2024. We have not fully determined the impact of these recent and proposed laws and regulations on our
business, financial condition, future cash flows and results of operations. Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of
existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations including foreign investment and stamp duty laws
governing our business and operations could result in us being deemed to be in contravention of such laws and may
require us to apply for additional approvals.

54. Natural or man-made disasters, fires, epidemics, pandemics, acts of war, terrorist attacks, civil unrest and other
events could adversely affect our business.

Natural disasters (such as typhoons, flooding and earthquakes), epidemics, pandemics and man-made disasters, including
acts of war, terrorist attacks and other events such as political instability, including strikes, demonstrations, protests,
marches or other types of civil disorder, many of which are beyond our control, may lead to economic instability,
including in India or globally, which may in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results
of operations. Our operations may be adversely affected by fires, natural disasters and/or severe weather, which can result
in damage to our property or inventory and generally reduce our productivity and may require us to evacuate personnel
and suspend operations.

A number of countries in Asia, including India, as well as countries in other parts of the world, are susceptible to
contagious diseases and, for example, have had confirmed cases of diseases such as the highly pathogenic H7N9, H5N1
and H1N1 strains of influenza in birds and swine and more recently, the COVID-19. As a result, any future outbreak of
a contagious disease could have an adverse effect on our business and the trading price of the Equity Shares.
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55. A downgrade in ratings of India and other jurisdictions we operate in may affect the trading price of the Equity
Shares.

Our borrowing costs and our access to the debt capital markets depend significantly on the credit ratings of India. Any
further adverse revisions to credit ratings for India and other jurisdictions we operate in by international rating agencies
may adversely impact our ability to raise additional financing. This could have an adverse effect on our ability to fund
our growth on favourable terms and consequently adversely affect our business and financial performance and the price
of the Equity Shares.

56. We may be affected by competition laws in India, the adverse application or interpretation of which could
adversely affect our business.

The Competition Act, 2002, of India, as amended (“Competition Act”), regulates practices having an appreciable
adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India (“AAEC”). Under the Competition Act, any formal or
informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes or is likely to cause an AAEC is considered void
and may result in the imposition of substantial penalties. Further, any agreement among competitors which directly or
indirectly involves the determination of purchase or sale prices, limits or controls production, supply, markets, technical
development, investment or the provision of services or shares the market or source of production or provision of services
in any manner, including by way of allocation of geographical area or number of consumers in the relevant market or
directly or indirectly results in bid-rigging or collusive bidding is presumed to have an AAEC and is considered void.
The Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise. If it is proved that the contravention
committed by a company took place with the consent or connivance or is attributable to any neglect on the part of, any
director, manager, secretary or other officer of such company, that person shall be also guilty of the contravention and
may be punished.

Further, the CCI has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any agreements, abusive conduct or combination
occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has an AAEC in India. However, the impact of the
provisions of the Competition Act on the agreements entered into by us cannot be predicted with certainty at this stage.
In the event we pursue an acquisition in the future, we may be affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or
interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any
adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or prosecution by the CCI or if any prohibition or substantial
penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it would adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows
and prospects. The manner in which the Competition Act and the CCI affect the business environment in India may also
adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

The Competition (Amendment) Act, 2023 (“Competition Amendment Act”) was recently notified. The Competition
Amendment Act amends the Competition Act and give the CCI additional powers to prevent practices that harm
competition and the interests of consumers. The Competition Amendment Act, inter alia, modifies the scope of certain
factors used to determine AAEC, reduces the overall time limit for the assessment of combinations by the CCI from 210
days to 150 days and empowers the CCI to impose penalties based on the global turnover of entities, for anti-competitive
agreements and abuse of dominant position.

57. Financial and political instability in other countries may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets.

The Indian market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in other countries,
including conditions in the United States of America, Europe and certain emerging economies in Asia. In particular, the
ongoing military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine could result in increased volatility in, or damage to, the worldwide
financial markets and economy. Increased economic volatility and trade restrictions could result in increased volatility in
the markets for certain securities and commaodities and may cause inflation. Any worldwide financial instability including
possibility of default in the US debt market may cause increased volatility in the Indian financial markets and, directly
or indirectly, adversely affect the Indian economy and financial sector and us. Although economic conditions are different
in each country, investors’ reactions to developments in one country can have adverse effects on the securities of
companies in other countries, including India. A loss of investor confidence in the financial systems of other emerging
markets may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets and, indirectly, in the Indian economy in general.
Concerns related to a trade war between large economies may lead to increased risk aversion and volatility in global
capital markets and consequently have an impact on the Indian economy.

In addition, China is one of India’s major trading partners and there are rising concerns of a possible slowdown in the

Chinese economy as well as a strained relationship with India, which could have an adverse impact on the trade relations
between the two countries. In response to such developments, legislators and financial regulators in the United States and
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other jurisdictions, including India, implemented a number of policy measures designed to add stability to the financial
markets. However, the overall long-term effect of these and other legislative and regulatory efforts on the global financial
markets is uncertain, and they may not have the intended stabilising effects.

58. The Indian tax regime has undergone substantial changes which could adversely affect our business and the
trading price of the Equity Shares.

Any change in Indian tax laws could have an effect on our operations. The Government of India has implemented two
major reforms in Indian tax laws, namely the Goods and Services Tax (“GST”), and provisions relating to general anti-
avoidance rules (“GAAR?”). The indirect tax regime in India has undergone a complete overhaul. The indirect taxes on
goods and services, such as central excise duty, service tax, central sales tax, state value added tax, surcharge and excise
have been replaced by GST with effect from July 1, 2017. The GST regime continues to be subject to amendments and
its interpretation by the relevant regulatory authorities is constantly evolving. GAAR became effective from April 1,
2017. The tax consequences of the GAAR provisions being applied to an arrangement may result in, among others, a
denial of tax benefit to us and our business. In the absence of any substantial precedents on the subject, the application
of these provisions is subjective. If the GAAR provisions are made applicable to us, it may have an adverse tax impact
on us. Further, if the tax costs associated with certain of our transactions are greater than anticipated because of a
particular tax risk materializing on account of new tax regulations and policies, it could affect our profitability from such
transactions.

Earlier, distribution of dividends by a domestic company was subject to Dividend Distribution Tax (“DDT?), in the hands
of the company at an effective rate of 20.56% (inclusive of applicable surcharge and cess). Such dividends were generally
exempt from tax in the hands of the shareholders. However, the Gol has amended the Income-tax Act, 1961 (“IT Act”)
to abolish the DDT regime. Accordingly, any dividend distribution by a domestic company is subject to tax in the hands
of the investor at the applicable rate. Additionally, we are required to withhold tax on such dividends distributed at the
applicable rate.

The Government of India announced the union budget for Fiscal 2025, following which the Finance Bill, 2024 (“Finance
Bill”) was introduced in the Lok Sabha on February 1, 2024. Subsequently, the Finance Bill received the assent from the
President of India and became the Finance Act, 2024, with effect from April 1, 2024 (“Finance Act”). Investors are
advised to consult their own tax advisors and to carefully consider the potential tax consequences of owning, investing
or trading in the Equity Shares. There is no certainty on the impact that the Finance Act may have on our business and
operations or on the industry in which we operate. Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of
any amendment to, or change in, governing law, regulation or policy, including by reason of an absence, or a limited
body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as costly for us to resolve and may affect
the viability of our current business or restrict our ability to grow our business in the future.

We cannot predict whether any new tax laws or regulations impacting our services will be enacted, what the nature and
impact of the specific terms of any such laws or regulations will be or whether if at all, any laws or regulations would
have an adverse effect on our business. Further, any adverse order passed by the appellate authorities/ tribunals/ courts
would have an effect on our profitability. In addition, we are subject to tax related inquiries and claims.

59. Significant differences exist between Ind AS and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS,
which investors may be more familiar with and may consider material to their assessment of our financial
condition.

Our Restated Financial Statements are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the three
months ended June 30, 2024 and years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, prepared in
accordance with Ind AS, and restated in accordance with requirements of Section 26 of Part | of Chapter 111 of Companies
Act, SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Guidance Note on “Reports in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2019)” issued by
ICAL. Ind AS differs in certain significant respects from IFRS, U.S. GAAP and other accounting principles with which
prospective investors may be familiar in other countries. If our financial statements were to be prepared in accordance
with such other accounting principles, our results of operations, cash flows and financial position may be substantially
different. Prospective investors should review the accounting policies applied in the preparation of our financial
statements, and consult their own professional advisers for an understanding of the differences between these accounting
principles and those with which they may be more familiar. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting
practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus should be limited accordingly.
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60. Pursuant to listing of the Equity Shares, we may be subject to pre-emptive surveillance measures like Additional
Surveillance Measure (ASM) and Graded Surveillance Measures (GSM) by the Stock Exchanges in order to
enhance market integrity and safeguard the interest of investors.

SEBI and Stock Exchanges in order to enhance market integrity and safeguard interest of investors, have been introducing
various enhanced pre-emptive surveillance measures. The main objective of these measures is to alert and advice
investors to be extra cautious while dealing in these securities and advice market participants to carry out necessary due
diligence while dealing in these securities. Accordingly, SEBI and Stock Exchanges have provided for (a) GSM on
securities where such trading price of such securities does hot commensurate with financial health and fundamentals such
as earnings, book value, fixed assets, net-worth, price per equity multiple and market capitalization; and (b) ASM on
securities with surveillance concerns based on objective parameters such as price and volume variation and volatility.

For further details in relation to the ASM and GSM Surveillance Measures, including criteria for shortlisting and review
of Listed Securities, exemptions from shortlisting and frequently asked questions (FAQs), among other details, refer to
the websites of the NSE and the BSE.

On listing, we may be subject to general market conditions which may include significant price and volume fluctuations.
The price of our Equity Shares may also fluctuate after the Offer due to several factors such as volatility in the Indian
and global securities market, our profitability and performance, performance of our competitors, changes in the estimates
of our performance or any other political or economic factor. The occurrence of any of the abovementioned factors may
trigger the parameters identified by SEBI and the Stock Exchanges for placing securities under the GSM or ASM
framework such as net worth and net fixed assets of securities, high low variation in securities, client concentration and
close to close price variation.

In the event our Equity Shares are covered under such pre-emptive surveillance measures implemented by SEBI and the
Stock Exchanges, we may be subject to certain additional restrictions in relation to trading of our Equity Shares such as
limiting trading frequency (for example, trading either allowed once in a week or a month) or freezing of price on upper
side of trading which may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Equity Shares or may in general cause
disruptions in the development of an active market for and trading of our Equity Shares.

61. Our Company may not be able to pay dividends in the future. Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend
upon our future earnings, financial condition, profit after tax available for distribution, cash flows, working
capital requirements and capital expenditure and the terms of our financing arrangements.

Any dividends to be declared and paid in the future are required to be recommended by our Company’s Board of Directors
and approved by its Shareholders, at their discretion, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and applicable
law, including the Companies Act. Our Company’s ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon our future
results of operations, financial condition, profit after tax available for distribution, cash flows, sufficient profitability,
working capital requirements and capital expenditure requirements. We cannot assure you that we will generate sufficient
revenues to cover our operating expenses and, as such, pay dividends to our Company’s shareholders in future consistent
with our past practices, or at all. For information pertaining to dividend policy, see “Dividend Policy” on page 302.

62. The Equity Shares have never been publicly traded and the Offer may not result in an active or liquid market for
the Equity Shares. Further, the price of the Equity Shares may be volatile, and the investors may be unable to
resell the Equity Shares at or above the Offer Price, or at all.

Prior to the Offer, there has been no public market for the Equity Shares, and an active trading market on the stock
exchanges may not develop or be sustained after the Offer. Listing and quotation does not guarantee that a market for the
Equity Shares will develop, or if developed, the liquidity of such market for the Equity Shares. Our Equity Shares are
expected to trade on NSE and BSE after the Offer, but there can be no assurance that active trading in our Equity Shares
will develop after the Offer, or if such trading develops that it will continue. Investors may not be able to sell our Equity
Shares at the quoted price if there is no active trading in our Equity Shares. There has been significant volatility in the
Indian stock markets in the recent past, and the trading price of our Equity Shares after the Offer could fluctuate
significantly as a result of market volatility or due to various internal or external risks, including but not limited to those
described in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. The market price of our Equity Shares may be influenced by many factors,
some of which are beyond our control, including, among others:

e the failure of security analysts to cover the Equity Shares after the Offer, or changes in the estimates of our
performance by analysts;

e the activities of competitors and suppliers;
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e  future sales of the Equity Shares by us or our Shareholders;

e investor perception of us and the industry in which we operate;

e  changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations of principles;
e our quarterly or annual earnings or those of our competitors;

e  developments affecting fiscal, industrial or environmental regulations; and

the public’s reaction to our press releases and adverse media reports.
A decrease in the market price of our Equity Shares could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.
63. Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of income arising on the sale of the Equity Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares in an
Indian company is generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on equity shares sold on an
Indian stock exchange. Any capital gains exceeding ¥100,000, realized on the sale of listed equity shares on a recognised
stock exchange, held for more than 12 months may be subject to long-term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 10%
(plus applicable surcharge and cess). This beneficial provision is, inter alia, subject to payment of STT. Further any
capital gains realised on the sale of listed equity shares of an Indian company, held for more than 12 months, which are
sold using any platform other than a recognized stock exchange and on which no STT has been paid, will be subject to
long term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and cess), without indexation benefits.

Further, any gain realized on the sale of our Equity Shares held for a period of 12 months or less immediately preceding
the date of transfer, will be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India at the rate of 15% (plus applicable surcharge
and cess), subject to STT being paid at the time of sale of such shares. Otherwise, such gains will be taxed at the applicable
rates.

Capital gains arising from the sale of the Equity Shares will not be chargeable to tax in India in cases where relief from
such taxation in India is provided under a treaty between India and the country of which the seller is resident read with
the Multilateral Instrument, if and to the extent applicable, and the seller is entitled to avail benefits thereunder. Generally,
Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As a result, residents of other countries may
be liable for tax in India as well as in their own jurisdiction on a gain realised upon the sale of the Equity Shares. We
may or may not grant the benefit of a tax treaty (where applicable) to a non-resident shareholder for the purposes of
deducting tax at source pursuant to any corporate action including dividends.

The stamp duty for transfer of certain securities, other than debentures, on a delivery basis is currently specified at 0.015%
and on a non-delivery basis is specified at 0.003% of the consideration amount.

Any dividends paid by an Indian company will be subject to tax in the hands of the shareholders at applicable rates. Such
taxes will be withheld by the Indian company paying dividends. The Company may or may not grant the benefit of a tax
treaty (where applicable) to a non-resident shareholder for the purposes of deducting tax at source pursuant to any
corporate action including dividends. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors and to carefully consider the
potential tax consequences of owning Equity Shares.

For details of certain other provisions of tax laws applicable to our Company and Shareholders, see “Statement of Possible
Special Tax Benefits” on page 112.

Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations including
foreign investment and stamp duty laws governing our business and operations could result in us being deemed to be in
contravention of such laws and may require us to apply for additional approvals.

64. Investors will not be able to sell immediately on an Indian stock exchange any of the Equity Shares they purchase
in the Offer.

The Equity Shares will be listed on the Stock Exchanges. Pursuant to applicable Indian laws, certain actions must be

completed before the Equity Shares can be listed and trading in the Equity Shares may commence. Investors’ book entry,
or ‘demat’ accounts with depository participants in India, are expected to be credited with the Equity Shares within one
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working day of the date on which the Basis of Allotment is approved by the Stock Exchanges. The Allotment and transfer
of Equity Shares in this Offer and the credit of such Equity Shares to the applicant’s demat account with depository
participant could take approximately three Working Days from the Bid Closing Date and trading in the Equity Shares
upon receipt of final listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges is expected to commence within three
Working Days of the Bid Closing Date. There could be a failure or delay in the listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock
Exchanges. Any failure or delay in obtaining the approval or otherwise any delay in commencing trading in the Equity
Shares would restrict investors” ability to dispose of their Equity Shares. There can be no assurance that the Equity Shares
will be credited to investors’ demat accounts, or that trading in the Equity Shares will commence, within the time periods
specified in this risk factor. We could also be required to pay interest at the applicable rates if allotment is not made,
refund orders are not dispatched or demat credits are not made to investors within the prescribed time periods.

65. Any future issuance of Equity Shares, or convertible securities or other equity linked instruments by us may dilute
your shareholding and sale of Equity Shares by shareholders with significant shareholding may adversely affect
the trading price of the Equity Shares.

We may be required to finance our growth through future equity offerings. Any future equity issuances by us, including
a primary offering of Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to Equity Shares including through exercise
of employee stock options, may lead to the dilution of investors’ shareholdings in our Company. Any future equity
issuances by us or sales of our Equity Shares by our shareholders may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity
Shares, which may lead to other adverse consequences including difficulty in raising capital through offering of our
Equity Shares or incurring additional debt. Any disposal of Equity Shares by our major shareholders or the perception
that such issuance or sales may occur, including to comply with the minimum public shareholding norms applicable to
listed companies in India may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares, which may lead to other adverse
consequences including difficulty in raising capital through offering of the Equity Shares or incurring additional debt.
There can be no assurance that we will not issue Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to Equity Shares
or that our Shareholders will not dispose of, pledge or encumber their Equity Shares in the future. Any future issuances
could also dilute the value of your investment in the Equity Shares. In addition, any perception by investors that such
issuances or sales might occur may also affect the market price of our Equity Shares.

66. Under Indian law, foreign investors are subject to investment restrictions that limit our ability to attract foreign
investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Under foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfer of shares between non-residents and residents are
freely permitted (subject to certain restrictions), if they comply with the pricing guidelines and reporting requirements
specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares, which are sought to be transferred, is not in compliance with such pricing
guidelines or reporting requirements or falls under any of the exceptions referred to above, then a prior approval of the
RBI will be required. Additionally, shareholders who seek to convert Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into
foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from India require a no-objection or a tax clearance certificate from
the Indian income tax authorities. As provided in the foreign exchange controls currently in effect in India, the RBI has
provided that the price at which the Equity Shares are transferred be calculated in accordance with internationally
accepted pricing methodology for the valuation of shares at an arm’s length basis, and a higher (or lower, as applicable)
price per share may not be permitted. We cannot assure investors that any required approval from the RBI or any other
Indian government agency can be obtained on any particular terms, or at all. Further, due to possible delays in obtaining
requisite approvals, investors in the Equity Shares may be prevented from realizing gains during periods of price increase
or limiting losses during periods of price decline.

The Equity Shares will be quoted in Indian Rupees on the Stock Exchanges. Any dividends in respect of the Equity
Shares will be paid in Indian Rupees and subsequently converted into appropriate foreign currency for repatriation. In
addition, any adverse movement in exchange rates during a delay in repatriating the proceeds from a sale of Equity Shares
outside India, for example, because of a delay in regulatory approvals that may be required for the sale of Equity Shares,
may reduce the net proceeds received by shareholders.

In addition, pursuant to the Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, issued by the DPIIT, which has been
incorporated as the proviso to Rule 6(a) of the FEMA Non-debt Rules, all investments under the foreign direct investment
route by entities of a country or where the beneficial owner of the Equity Shares is situated in or is a citizen of any such
country, can only be made through the Government approval route, as prescribed in the Consolidated FDI Policy dated
October 15, 2020 and the FEMA Rules. While the term “beneficial owner” is defined under the Prevention of Money-
Laundering (Maintenance of Records) Rules, 2005 and the General Financial Rules, 2017, neither the foreign direct
investment policy nor the FEMA Rules provide a definition of the term “beneficial owner”. The interpretation of
“beneficial owner” and enforcement of this regulatory change involves certain uncertainties, which may have an adverse
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effect on our ability to raise foreign capital. Further, there is uncertainty regarding the timeline within which the said
approval from the Gol may be obtained, if at all.

We cannot assure investors that any required approval from the RBI or any other governmental agency can be obtained
on any particular terms or at all. For further information, see “Restrictions on Foreign Ownership of Indian Securities”
on page 484.

67. QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of
Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage after the submission of their Bid, and Retail Individual Bidders
are not permitted to withdraw their Bids after closure of the Bid/ Offer Closing Date.

Pursuant to the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders are required to pay the Bid Amount on
submission of the Bid and are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Equity Shares or the
Bid Amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid. Retail Individual Bidders can revise their Bids during the Bid/ Offer
Period and withdraw their Bids until the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. While we are required to complete all necessary
formalities for listing and commencement of trading of the Equity Shares on all Stock Exchanges where such Equity
Shares are proposed to be listed, including Allotment, within three Working Days from the Bid/ Offer Closing Date or
such other period as may be prescribed by the SEBI, events affecting the investors’ decision to invest in the Equity Shares,
including adverse changes in international or national monetary policy, financial, political or economic conditions, our
business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition may arise between the date of submission of the Bid and
Allotment.

Retail Individual Bidders can revise their Bids during the Bid / Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until Bid / Offer
Closing Date. While our Company is required to complete all necessary formalities for listing and commencement of
trading of the Equity Shares on all Stock Exchanges where such Equity Shares are proposed to be listed including
Allotment pursuant to the Offer within three Working Days from the Bid / Offer Closing Date, events affecting the
Bidders’ decision to invest in the Equity Shares, including material adverse changes in international or national monetary
policy, financial, political or economic conditions, our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition
may arise between the date of submission of the Bid and Allotment. We may complete the Allotment of the Equity Shares
even if such events occur, and such events may limit the Investors’ ability to sell the Equity Shares Allotted pursuant to
the Offer or cause the trading price of the Equity Shares to decline on listing.

68. Investors may be restricted in their ability to exercise pre-emptive rights under Indian law and thereby may suffer
future dilution of their ownership position.

Under the Companies Act, a company having share capital and incorporated in India must offer its holders of equity
shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a proportionate number of shares to maintain their existing ownership
percentages before the issuance of any new equity shares, unless the pre-emptive rights have been waived by adoption
of a special resolution by holders of three-fourths of the equity shares voting on such resolution.

However, if the law of the jurisdiction the investors are in, does not permit them to exercise their pre-emptive rights
without our Company filing an offering document or registration statement with the applicable authority in such
jurisdiction, the investors will be unable to exercise their pre-emptive rights unless our Company makes such a filing. If
we elect not to file a registration statement, the new securities may be issued to a custodian, who may sell the securities
for the investor’s benefit. The value such custodian receives on the sale of such securities and the related transaction costs
cannot be predicted. In addition, to the extent that the investors are unable to exercise pre-emptive rights granted in
respect of the Equity Shares held by them, their proportional interest in our Company would be reduced.

69. Rights of shareholders of companies under Indian law may be more limited than under the laws of other
Jjurisdictions.

Our Articles of Association, composition of our Board, Indian laws governing our corporate affairs, the validity of
corporate procedures, directors’ fiduciary duties, responsibilities and liabilities, and shareholders’ rights may differ from
those that would apply to a company in another jurisdiction. Shareholders’ rights under Indian law may not be as
extensive and widespread as shareholders’ rights under the laws of other countries or jurisdictions. Investors may face
challenges in asserting their rights as shareholder of our Company than as a shareholder of an entity in another
jurisdiction.
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70. The requirements of being a publicly listed company may strain our resources.

We are not a publicly listed company and have not, historically, been subjected to the increased scrutiny of our affairs by
shareholders, regulators and the public at large that is associated with being a listed company. As a listed company, we
will incur significant legal, accounting, corporate governance and other expenses that we did not incur as an unlisted
company. We will be subject to the SEBI Listing Regulations, which will, among other things, require us to file audited
annual and unaudited quarterly reports with respect to our business and financial condition. If we experience any delays,
we may fail to satisfy our reporting obligations and/or we may not be able to readily determine and accordingly report
any changes in our results of operations as promptly as other listed companies. Further, as a publicly listed company, we
will need to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, including keeping adequate records of daily transactions. In order to maintain and improve the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, significant resources
and management attention will be required. As a result, our management’s attention may be diverted from our business
concerns, which may adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
In addition, we may need to hire additional legal and accounting staff with appropriate experience and technical
accounting knowledge, but we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so in a timely and efficient manner.

71. Compliance with provisions of Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act may affect payments on the Equity Shares.

The U.S. “Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” (or “FATCA”) imposes a new reporting regime and potentially,
imposes a 30% withholding tax on certain “foreign passthru payments” made by certain non-U.S. financial institutions
(including intermediaries).

If payments on the Equity Shares are made by such non-U.S. financial institutions (including intermediaries), this
withholding may be imposed on such payments if made to any non-U.S. financial institution (including an intermediary)
that is not otherwise exempt from FATCA or other holders who do not provide sufficient identifying information to the
payer, to the extent such payments are considered “foreign passthru payments”. Under current guidance, the term “foreign
passthru payment” is not defined and it is therefore not clear whether and to what extent payments on the Equity Shares
would be considered “foreign passthru payments”. The United States has entered into intergovernmental agreements with
many jurisdictions (including India) that modify the FATCA withholding regime described above. It is not yet clear how
the intergovernmental agreements between the United States and these jurisdictions will address “foreign passthru
payments” and whether such agreements will require us or other financial institutions to withhold or report on payments
on the Equity Shares to the extent they are treated as “foreign passthru payments”. Prospective investors should consult
their tax advisors regarding the consequences of FATCA, or any intergovernmental agreement or non-U.S. legislation
implementing FATCA, to their investment in Equity Shares.
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SECTION Il - INTRODUCTION

THE OFFER

The following table summarizes details of the Offer:
Offer of Equity Shares®®@"
Fresh Issue®"
Offer for Sale®

The Offer consists of:
Employee Reservation Portion®

Net Offer consists of
A) QIB Portion®®®

of which:
i. Anchor Investor Portion®

ii. Net QIB Portion available for allocation to QIBs other
than Anchor Investors (assuming Anchor Investor
Portion is fully subscribed)
of which:

a. Available for allocation to Mutual Funds only (5%
of the Net QIB Portion)

b. Balance of QIB Portion for all QIBs including
Mutual Funds

B) Non-Institutional Portion®

of which:

a. One-third of the Non-Institutional Portion available
for allocation to Bidders with an application size of
more than X 0.20 million and up to X 1.00 million

b. Two-third of the Non-Institutional Portion available
for allocation to Bidders with an application size of
more than X 1.00 million

C) Retail Portion®

Pre- and post-Offer Equity Shares

Equity Shares outstanding prior to the Offer

(as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus)
Equity Shares outstanding after the Offer”

Use of Net Proceeds of the Offer

*To be updated upon finalization of the Offer Price.

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 210 each, aggregating up to
Z [e] million

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each, aggregating up to
Z 6,000 million

Up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares of face value of 10 each, aggregating
up to X[e] million

Up to [@] Equity Shares of face value of 310 each aggregating up to 2
[e] million

Not more than [@] Equity Shares of face value of 210 each aggregating
up to X [e] million

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each

Not less than [e] Equity Shares of face value of *10 each aggregating
up to X [e] million

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of *10 each

Up to [e] Equity Shares of face value of R10 each

Not less than [e] Equity Shares of face value of 310 each aggregating
up to T [e] million

147,616,500 Equity Shares of face value of *10 each

[e] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each

See “Objects of the Offer” on page 93 for information about the use of

the Net Proceeds of the Offer. Our Company will not receive any
proceeds from the Offer for Sale.

" Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider a Pre-IPO Placement, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus.
The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-
IPO Placement is completed the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh Issue, subject to
compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20% of the size of the Fresh
Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement,
prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may proceed with the Offer or
the Offer may be successful and will result into listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. Further, relevant disclosures in
relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement (if undertaken) shall be appropriately made in the relevant

sections of the RHP and Prospectus.

(@ The Offer has been authorized by a resolution of our Board dated December 17, 2024 and the Fresh Issue has been authorized by
our Shareholders by a special resolution dated December 18, 2024. Further, our Board has taken on record the consents of the
Promoter Selling Shareholders to participate in the Offer for Sale pursuant to a resolution of our Board dated December 17, 2024.
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The Equity Shares being offered by the Promoter Selling Shareholders are eligible for being offered for sale as part of the Offer
for Sale in terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Each Promoter Selling Shareholder, severally and not jointly confirms that it has
authorized the sale of its portion of the Offered Shares in the Offer for Sale as set out below:

Selling Shareholder Total No. of Offered Shares Aggregate Value of Offer for Sale | Date of consent Letter
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani Up to 3,937,008 Equity Shares Up to Z /e] million December 17, 2024
Gautam Sampatraj Jain Up to 3,937,007 Equity Shares Up to Z /e] million December 17, 2024

In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation
and Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 30.20 million (net of Employee Discount, if
any), subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employees not exceeding 30.50 million(net of Employee
Discount, if any). The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation up to 30.50 million(net
of Employee Discount, if any) to each Eligible Employee), shall be added to the Net Offer. Our Company, in consultation with the
BRLMs, may offer a discount of up to [e]% on the Offer Price (equivalent of T [®] per Equity Share) to Eligible Employees bidding
in the Employee Reservation Portion which shall be announced two Working Days prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date. For further
details, see “Offer Structure” and “Offer Procedure” on pages 456 and 461, respectively

Subject to valid bids being received at or above the Offer Price, under subscription, if any, in any category, except in the QIB
Portion, would be allowed to be met with spill-over from any other category or combination of categories of Bidders, as applicable,

at the discretion of our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs and the Designated Stock Exchange, subject to applicable laws.

Undersubscription, if any, in the QIB Portion (excluding the Anchor Investor Portion) will not be allowed to be met with spill-over
from other categories or a combination of categories.

Allocation to Bidders in all categories, except Anchor Investors, if any, Non-Institutional Investors and Retail Individual Investors,

shall be made on a proportionate basis subject to valid Bids received at or above the Offer Price. The allocation to each Retail
Individual Investors shall not be less than the minimum Bid Lot, subject to availability of Equity Shares in the Retail Portion and

the remaining available Equity Shares, if any, shall be allocated on a proportionate basis. Not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall

be available for allocation to Non-Institutional Investors of which one-third of the Non-Institutional Portion will be available for
allocation to Bidders with an application size of more than ¥ 0.20 million and up to ¥ 1.00 million and two-thirds of the Non-
Institutional Portion will be available for allocation to Bidders with an application size of more than ¥ 1.00 million and under-
subscription in either of these two sub-categories of Non-Institutional Portion may be allocated to Bidders in the other sub-
category of Non-Institutional Portion. The allocation to each Non-Institutional Investors shall not be less than the Minimum NII

Application Size, subject to availability of Equity Shares in the Non-Institutional Portion and the remaining available Equity
Shares, if any, shall be allocated on a proportionate basis.

Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMSs, allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor Investors on a discretionary

basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic
Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investors Allocation Price.

Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the

remainder of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIB Bidders other than Anchor

Investors, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. In the event of under-

subscription, or non-allocation in the Anchor Investor Portion, the balance Equity Shares shall be added to the Net QIB Portion.

For further information, see “Offer Procedure” on page 461.

For details of the terms of the Offer, see “Terms of the Offer” on page 449.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth the summary financial information derived from the Restated Financial Information as at
and for the three months period ended June 30, 2024 and as at and for Fiscal years ended March 31, 2024, March 31,
2023 and March 31, 2022.

The Restated Financial Information referred to above are presented under “Financial Information” on page 303. The
summary financial information presented below should be read in conjunction with “Restated Financial Information”

and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 303 and 400,
respectively.

[The remainder of this page has intentionally been left blank]
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Restated Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities for June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024 and Restated
Standalone Statement of Assets and Liabilities for March 31, 2023 and 2022

Particulars

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

a. Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets

Capital work-in-progress
Intangible assets

Intangible assets under development
Financial assets

i. Investments

ii. Other financial assets

g. Current tax assets (net)

h. Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

~ho o0 T

Current assets
a. Inventories
b. Financial assets
i. Trade receivables
ii. Cash and cash equivalents
iii. Bank balances other than (ii) above
iv. Other financial assets
c. Other current assets
Total current assets
Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

a. Equity share capital

b. Other equity

Total Equity

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
a. Financial liabilities
i. Borrowings
ii. Lease liabilities
b. Provisions
c. Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Total non-current liabilities

Current Liabilities
a. Financial liabilities
i. Borrowings
ii. Trade payables
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and
small enterprises
Total outstanding dues of other than micro
enterprises and small enterprises
iii. Lease liabilities
iv. Other financial liabilities

(% in million, unless otherwise stated)

As at
June 30, March 31,

2024 2024 2023 2022
Consolidated Standalone
3,111.78 3,057.59 2,430.17 1,791.96

241.24 266.12 269.58 301.92
184.42 29.26 - 61.91
381.59 389.00 147.63 160.66
9.55 5.63 - -
0.50 0.50 7.10 7.10
235.08 232.97 221.21 204.16
58.20 33.25 34.68 17.48
262.74 230.17 300.99 225.56
4,485.10 4,244.49 3,411.36 2,770.75
1,628.35 1,576.60 1,332.46 995.95
3,204.77 2,206.88 2,207.87 1,548.68
510.67 781.44 215.39 40.83
282.92 287.16 333.47 92.62
129.54 75.48 114.93 118.60
397.70 414.01 209.94 121.09
6,153.95 5,341.57 4,414.06 2,917.77
10,639.05 9,586.06 7,825.42 5,688.52
1,476.17 1,476.17 888.17 19.13
3,271.91 2,864.29 2,012.91 1,797.28
4,748.08 4,340.46 2,901.08 1,816.41
1,285.00 1,319.85 1,064.31 814.17
168.24 192.62 196.89 197.84
12.26 14.54 107.57 112.92
200.18 138.16 91.96 85.96
1,665.68 1,665.17 1,460.73 1,210.89
2,344.71 1,887.67 1,761.95 1,182.63
159.73 177.37 160.78 116.16
1,004.88 1,101.89 909.42 1,045.22
101.07 102.24 96.77 124.63
333.50 180.85 121.39 112.80
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3 in million, unless otherwise stated,

b. Provisions 42.79 32.19 27.72 24.31
c. Current tax liabilities (net) 171.33 55.94 66.17 44.38
d. Other current liabilities 67.28 42.28 319.41 11.09
Total current liabilities 4,225.29 3,580.43 3,463.61 2,661.22
Total Liabilities 5,890.97 5,245.60 4,924.34 3,872.11
Total equity and liabilities 10,639.05 9,586.06 7,825.42 5,688.52
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Restated Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the quarter ended June 30,2024 and year ended March
31, 2024 and Restated Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Particulars

REVENUE
Revenue from operations
Other income

Total Income (I1+11)

EXPENSES
Cost of raw material consumed
Purchases of stock in trade
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress
and stock-in-trade
Employee benefits expense
Finance Cost
Depreciation and amortization
Other expenses
Total expenses (1V)

Profit before exceptional items and tax
Exceptional items
Profit before Tax

Tax Expenses:

Current Year

Deferred Tax

Tax Adjustments of Earlier Years
Profit/(Loss) for the year

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
i. Re-measurements of the defined benefit plans
ii. Equity instruments through other comprehensive income
iii. Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss

B) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss

1. Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

2. Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss

Total Other Comprehensive Income for the year

Restated total other comprehensive income/(loss) (A + B)

Earnings per equity share of face value ¥ 100 each fully
paid up for profit/ (Loss)

- Basic (in )

- Diluted (in %)

Earnings per equity share of face value X 10 each fully paid
up for profit/ (Loss) - Post Share Split

- Basic (in %)

- Diluted (in %)
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For quarter ended
June 30, 2024

(% in million, unless otherwise stated)

For the year ended March 31,

2024

Consolidated

3,605.03
16.41
3,621.44

2,108.28
12.71
23.30

156.97
84.98
96.08

503.11

2,985.43

636.01
636.01
170.05

61.08

0.00
404.88

(3.68)

0.93
(2.75)
407.63

27.43
27.43

2.74
2.74

15,582.56
114.15
15,696.71

9,493.87
66.31
318.87

556.49
341.66
358.47
2,231.07
13,366.74

2,329.97
2,329.97
590.00
45.93

1.26
1,692.78

(4.81)

121
(3.60)
1,696.38

185.54
114.67

18.55
11.47

2023 2022
Standalone
11,462.99| 6,725.57
75.40 37.43
11,538.39  6,763.00
7,668.23 4,228.41
93.56 65.33
(307.90) (96.34)
454,96 405.97
319.97 239.55
322.93 274.63
1,555.27 1,102.18
10,107.02 6,219.73
1,431.37 543.27
1,431.37 543.27
361.49 150.74
(0.34) 19.00
(10.76)

1,080.98 373.53
(13.24) (9.30)
6.28 2.70
(6.96) (6.60)
1,087.94 380.13
121.71 42.06
73.23 25.30
12.17 421
7.32 2.53



Restated Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the quarter ended June 30, 2024 and year ended March 31,
2024 and Restated Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Particulars

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Profit before tax & Extraordinary Items
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Interest Expenses
Profit on Sale of Fixed Assets
Interest Income
Sundry Balance W/off
Bad Debts
Allowance for expected credit loss
Operating profit before working capital changes

ADJUSTMENTS FOR WORKING CAPITAL
CHANGES:
(Increase) / decrease Other non - current financial assets
(Increase) / decrease Other non - current assets
(Increase) / decrease Inventories
(Increase) / decrease Trade Receivable
(Increase) / decrease Other financial assets
(Increase) / decrease Other current assets
Increase / (decrease) Provisions
Increase / (decrease) Trade payables
Increase / (decrease) Other current financial liabilities
Increase / (decrease) Other current liabilities
Cash generated from operations
Direct Taxes paid
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A)

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment including
Capital Work in Progress
Goodwill arising on Business combination
Disposal of Investments
Interest Received
Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITY (B)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net Increase in Term loans and preference shares
Net Increase in Short Term Borrowings
Repayment of Lease liabilities
Dividend Paid
Interest Expenses
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY (C)

NET CHANGES IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
(A+B+C)

OPENING BALANCES OF CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
CLOSING BALANCES OF CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
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June 30, 2024

(% in million, unless otherwise stated)

For Quarter Ended For the Year Ended March 31

2024

Consolidated

636.01

96.08
84.98
(0.17)
(6.80)

0.27

12.50
822.87

(2.38)
(32.57)
(51.75)

(1,010.39)
(54.06)
20.55
11.99
(114.66)
152.66
25.01
(232.73)
(79.61)
(312.34)

(278.22)

0.00
0.00
6.80
1.33

(270.09)

(66.03)
488.22
(25.55)

(84.98)
311.66

(270.77)
781.44

510.67
(270.77)

2,329.97

358.47
341.66
(1.56)
(54.72)
30.58
20.82
4.96
3,030.18

(42.34)
70.83
(244.14)
(24.80)
39.45
(157.76)
(83.75)
209.08
59.45
(277.13)
2,579.07
(601.01)
1,978.06

(952.91)

(203.61)
6.60
54.72
4.12
(1,091.08)

329.20

52.05
(103.52)
(257.00)
(341.66)
(320.93)

566.05
215.39

781.44
566.05

2023 2022
Standalone

1,431.37 543.27
322.93 274.63
319.97 239.55
(1.94) (0.72)
(35.44) (26.76)
19.33 42.28
37.79 2.04
- 5.65
2,094.01, 1,079.94
(36.38) (9.04)
(75.44) (178.27)
(336.50) (248.96)
(696.98) (384.15)
3.67 (61.28)
(329.69) 4421
11.29 3.28
(91.19) 469.19
8.59 35.24
308.32 (47.22)
859.70 702.94
(346.06) (118.97)
513.64 583.97
(768.86) (438.93)
0.00 (6.60)
35.44 26.76
14.05 9.25
(719.37) (409.52)
363.96 14.70
465.50 178.35
(125.93) (104.50)
(3.27) (3.27)
(319.97) (239.55)
380.29 (154.27)
174.56 20.18
40.83 20.65
215.39 40.83
174.56 20.18



GENERAL INFORMATION
Registered and Corporate Office of our Company

Seshaasai Technologies Limited

(formerly known as Seshaasai Business Forms Limited)
9, Lalwani Industrial Estate

14, Katrak Road, Wadala (West)

Mumbai — 400 031

Maharashtra India

For details of change in our Registered Office, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Change in registered office
of our Company” on page 263.

Company registration number and corporate identity number

a. Registration number: 074023
b. Corporate identity number: U21017MH1993PLC074023

The Registrar of Companies

Our Company is registered with the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai which is situated at the following
address:

Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai
100, Everest, Marine Drive

Mumbai — 400 002

Mabharashtra, India

Board of Directors

The following table sets out the brief details of our Board as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus:

Name Designation DIN Address
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani |Chairman and Managing 01870792  |4/193, Vijay Niwas, Station Road,
Director R A Kidwaal Road, Wadala West,
Mumbai — 400 031, Maharashtra, India
Gautam Sampatraj Jain Whole Time Director 02060629 | Suchandra Plot No. G-21,

Sector - 20, Belapur Gavthan,
Navi Mumbai — 400 614, Maharashtra, India

Jayeshkumar Chandrakant | Non-Executive Director 00224935 601 Heena Gaurav Heights, S. V. Road,
Shah Next to Reliance Energy, Kandivali West

Mumbai — 400 067, Maharashtra, India
Abbhijet Ghag Independent Director 01993457 | A Wing, 604 Celestia Spaces,

Tokerse Jivraj Road, Sewri West,

Mumbai — 400 015, Maharashtra, India
Sowmya Vencatesan Independent Director 07108505 602 B Wing, Lloyds Garden,

A. M. Marg, Prabhadevi,

Mumbai — 400 025, Maharashtra, India
Mehul Suresh Shah Independent Director 10740056 104, Tower IV, Challangers CHS Limited

Thakur Village, Kandivali East,

Mumbai — 400 101, Maharashtra, India

For further information of our Board of Directors, see “Our Management — Board of Directors” on page 271.
Company Secretary and Compliance Officer

Manali Siddharth Shah is our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer. Her contact details are as set forth below:
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Manali Siddharth Shah

9, Lalwani Industrial Estate,

14, Katrak Road, Wadala (West)

Mumbai — 400 031, Maharashtra India
Tel: +91 22 6627 0927

E-mail: companysecretary@seshaasai.com

Investor grievances

Bidders may contact the Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, BRLMs or the Registrar to the Offer in case of
any pre-Offer or post-Offer related queries, grievances and for redressal of complaints including non-receipt of letters of
Allotment, non-credit of Allotted Equity Shares in the respective beneficiary account, non-receipt of refund orders or
non-receipt of funds by electronic mode, etc.

All Offer-related grievances, other than that of Anchor Investors, may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer with a
copy to the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) with whom the Bid cum Application Form was submitted, giving full
details such as name of the sole or First Bidder, Bid cum Application Form number, Bidder’s DP ID, Client ID, UPI ID,
PAN, address of Bidder, number of Equity Shares applied for, ASBA Account number in which the amount equivalent
to the Bid Amount was blocked or the UPI ID (for UPI Bidders who make the payment of Bid Amount through the UPI
Mechanism), date of Bid cum Application Form and the name and address of the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies)
where the Bid was submitted. Further, the Bidder shall enclose a copy of the Acknowledgment Slip or provide the
application number received from the Designated Intermediary(ies) in addition to the documents or information
mentioned hereinabove. All grievances relating to Bids submitted through Registered Brokers may be addressed to the
Stock Exchanges with a copy to the Registrar to the Offer. The Registrar to the Offer shall obtain the required information
from the SCSBs for addressing any clarifications or grievances of ASBA Bidders.

All Offer-related grievances of the Anchor Investors may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer, giving full details
such as the name of the sole or First Bidder, Anchor Investor Application Form number, Bidders’ DP ID, Client ID, PAN,
date of the Anchor Investor Application Form, address of the Bidder, number of the Equity Shares applied for, Bid
Amount paid on submission of the Anchor Investor Application Form and the name and address of the BRLMs where
the Anchor Investor Application Form was submitted by the Anchor Investor.

Book Running Lead Managers

IHIFL CAPITAL SERVICES LIMITED ICICI SECURITIES LIMITED

(formerly known as IFL Securities Limited) ICICI Venture House

24" Floor, One Lodha Place Appasaheb Marathe Marg

Senapati Bapat Marg, Lower Parel (West) Prabhadevi, Mumbai — 400 025

Mumbai — 400 013, Maharashtra, India Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4646 4728 Tel: +91 22 6807 7100

E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@iiflcap.com E-mail: seshaasai.ipo@icicisecurities.com
Investor grievance E-mail: ig.ib@iiflcap.com Investor Grievance E-mail: customercare@icicisecurities.com
Website: www.iiflcap.com Website: www.icicisecurities.com

Contact person: Mansi Sampat / Pawan Kumar Jain Contact Person: Gaurav Mittal / Sohail Puri
SEBI Registration number: INM000010940 SEBI Registration No.: INM000011179

SBI CAPITAL MARKETS LIMITED
1501, 15" floor, A & B Wing

Parinee Crescenzo, G Block

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East)
Mumbai — 400 051, Maharashtra, India
Tel: +91 22 4006 9807

Email: seshaasai.ipo@sbicaps.com
Website: www.sbicaps.com

Investor grievance E-mail: investor.relations@sbicaps.com
Contact person: Sylvia Mendonca
SEBI registration no.: INM000003531
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Syndicate Members
[e]
Statement of inter-se allocation of responsibilities among the BRLMs

The responsibilities and coordination by the BRLMs for various activities in the Offer are as follows:

Sr. Activity Responsibility Co-ordination

No.

1. Capital structuring with the relative components and formalities such as BRLMs IFL
composition of debt and equity, type of instruments, and positioning strategy

2. Due diligence of Company including its operations / management / business plans BRLMs IFL

/ legal etc., Drafting and design of Draft Red Herring Prospectus, Red Herring
Prospectus and Prospectus. Ensure compliance and completion of prescribed
formalities with the Stock Exchanges, SEBI including finalisation of RHP,
Prospectus, Offer Agreement, and Underwriting Agreements and RoC filing
3. Drafting and approval of all statutory advertisements BRLMs IFL
4, Drafting and approval of all publicity material other than statutory advertisements BRLMs ICICI Securities
as mentioned in point 3 above, including corporate advertising and brochures and
filing of media compliance report with SEBI

5. Appointment of Registrar Ad agency and printer (including coordination of all BRLMs IFL
agreements)
6. Appointment of all other intermediaries including Banker (s) to the Issue, sponsor BRLMs SBICAP

bank, syndicate members, share escrow agent, monitoring agency, etc. (including
coordination of all agreements)

7. Preparation of road show presentation BRLMs ICICI Securities
8. FAQs for the road show team BRLMs SBICAP
9. International institutional marketing of the Offer, which will cover, inter alia: BRLMs ICICI Securities

e Institutional marketing strategy
e Finalising the list and division of international investors for one-to-one

meetings
e Finalising international road show and investor meeting schedules
10. | Domestic institutional marketing of the Offer, which will cover, inter alia: BRLMs IFL

e  Finalising the list and division of domestic investors for one-to-one meetings
e Finalising domestic road show and investor meeting schedules

11. | Conduct non-institutional and retail marketing of the Offer, which will cover, BRLMs SBICAP
inter-alia:

e Finalising media, marketing, public relations strategy and publicity budget
including list of frequently asked questions at retail road shows;
Formulating strategies for marketing to Non — Institutional Investors
Finalising collection centres
Finalising centres for holding conferences for brokers etc.
Finalising commission structure and co-ordinate with RTA for commission
payouts
e Follow-up on distribution of publicity and Offer material including form,
RHP / Prospectus and deciding on the quantum of the Offer material
12. | Coordination with Stock Exchanges for book building software, bidding BRLMs ICICI Securities
terminals and mock trading, anchor coordination, anchor CAN and initiation of
anchor allocation
13. | Managing the book and finalization of pricing in consultation with Company BRLMs ICICI Securities
14. | Post-Offer activities — finalisation of the basis of allotment, coordination with BRLMs SBICAP
various agencies connected with the post-offer activity such as registrar to the
offer, bankers to the offer, Self-Certified Syndicate Banks etc., including
responsibility for underwriting arrangements, as applicable, listing of instruments,
demat credit and refunds / unblocking of funds, payment of the applicable STT
on behalf of the Selling Shareholder, coordination for investor complaints related
to the Offer, submission of final post issue report.
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Legal Counsel to our Company as to Indian Law

KHAITAN & CO

10t & 13" Floors, Tower 1C
One World Centre

841, Senapati Bapat Marg
Mumbai — 400 013
Maharashtra, India
Telephone: +91 22 6636 5000

Registrar to the Offer

LINK INTIME INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

C-101, 247 Park, L.B.S. Marg

Vikhroli (West), Mumbai 400 083

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 81081 14949

E-mail: seshaasaibusiness.ipo@linkintime.co.in

Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Investor Grievance ID: seshaasaibusiness.ipo@linkintime.co.in
Contact Person: Shanti Gopalkrishnan

SEBI Registration Number: INR0O00004058

Banker(s) to the Offer

[e]

Designated Intermediaries
Self-Certified Syndicate Banks

The list of SCSBs notified by SEBI  for the ASBA  process is  available at
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes, or at such other website as may be prescribed
by SEBI from time to time. A list of the Designated SCSB Branches with which an ASBA Bidder (other than a UPI
Bidders), not Bidding through Syndicate/Sub Syndicate or through a Registered Broker, RTA or CDP may submit the
Bid cum Application Forms, is available at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=34, or at such other websites as
may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Further, the branches of the SCSBs where the Designated Intermediaries could submit the ASBA Form(s) of Bidders
(other than Rlls) is provided on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35 which may be updated from
time to time or at such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Details of nodal officers of SCSBs, identified for Bids made through the UPI Mechanism, are available at
www.sebi.gov.in.

Eligible SCSBs and mobile applications enabled for UP1 Mechanism

In accordance with SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76 dated June 28, 2019 and SEBI Circular No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85  dated July 26, 2019 read with  SEBI  Circular  No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5, 2022 (to the extent not rescinded by the SEBI ICDR Master Circular
in relation to the SEBI ICDR Regulations), read with other applicable UPI Circulars, UPI Bidders, bidding using the UPI
Mechanism may only apply through the SCSBs and mobile applications using the UPI handles specified on the website
of the SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40) and
(www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=43) respectively, as updated from time
to time.

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to Bids (other than Bids by Anchor Investors and RIIs) submitted to a member of the Syndicate, the list of
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branches of the SCSBs at the Specified Locations named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of Bid cum
Application Forms from the members of the Syndicate is available on the website of the SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes&intmld=35, as updated from time to time or any
such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time. For more information on such branches collecting
Bid cum Application Forms from the Syndicate at Specified Locations, see the website of the SEBI at
www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes&intmld=35 or any such other website as may be
prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Registered Brokers

Bidders can submit ASBA Forms in the Offer using the stockbroker network of the stock exchange, i.e., through the
Registered Brokers at the Broker Centres. The list of the Registered Brokers eligible to accept ASBA Forms, including
details such as postal address, telephone number and e-mail address, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges
at www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com, as updated from time to time.

Registrar and Share Transfer Agents

The list of the RTAs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated RTA Locations, including details such as address,
telephone number and e-mail address, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
www.bseindia.com/Static/Markets/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx? and
www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time to time.

Collecting Depository Participants

The list of the CDPs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated CDP Locations, including details such as their
name and contact details, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
www.bseindia.com/Static/Markets/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx? and www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/
ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time to time.

Experts
Except as stated below, our Company has not obtained any expert opinions:

Our Company has received the written consent dated December 27, 2024 from our Statutory Auditors, Vatsaraj & Co.,
Chartered Accountants, to include their name as required under section 26 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
SEBI ICDR Regulations, in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and as an “expert” as defined under section 2(38) of the
Companies Act, 2013 to the extent and in their capacity as our Statutory Auditors, and in respect of their (i) examination
report dated December 17, 2024 on the Restated Financial Information; and (ii) their report dated December 17, 2024 on
the statement of special tax benefits available to the Company and its shareholders, its Subsidiary under the applicable
tax laws in India, included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and such consent has not been withdrawn as on the date
of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. However, the term “expert” shall not be construed to mean an “expert” as defined
under the U.S. Securities Act.

Our Company has also received written consent dated December 27, 2024, from Kanu Doshi Associates LLP, Chartered
Accountants holding a valid peer review certificate from ICAI, to include their name as required under Section 26(5) of
the Companies Act, 2013 read with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus as an “expert” as
defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act, 2013, in respect of various certifications issued by them in their
capacity as independent chartered accountant to our Company.

Written consent dated December 26, 2024 from the independent practicing company secretary, Pauravi Kairav Trivedi,
to be named as an “expert” under Section 2(38) and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 in its capacity
as practicing company secretary and in respect of their certificate dated December 26, 2024 issued in connection with
inter alia the share capital buildup and such consent has not been withdrawn as of the date of this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. However, the term ‘expert’ shall not be construed to mean an ‘expert’ as defined under U.S. Securities Act.

Additionally, our Company has also received written consent dated December 26, 2024, from Lalit M. Sarvaiya, the
independent chartered engineer, to include their name as required under Section 26(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 read
with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus as an “expert” as defined under Section 2(38) of
the Companies Act, 2013, in relation to our manufacturing units, including products manufactured at the facility, and the
installed capacity, actual production and capacity utilisation.
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Statutory Auditor to our Company

VATSARAJ & CO.

204-205, Inizio Business Centre
Cardinal Gracious Road

Chakala, Andheri East

Mumbai — 400 099, Maharashtra, India
E-mail: admin@vatsarajco.com

Tel: +91 22 6978 3900

Firm registration number: 111327W
Peer review number: 016237

Changes in Auditors

Except as stated below, there has been no change in our statutory auditors in the three years preceding the date of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Particulars Date of change Reason for change

DEVESH SHAH & CO. March 9, 2023 Resigned as the firm was not Peer Reviewed
AJ06, Gayatri SRA C.H.S,

Umeda ashram road, opp. Rajeda School,
Shimpoli road no 1, Borivali West,
Mumbai — 400 092, Maharashtra, India
E-mail: deveshshah1968@gmail.com
Tel: +91 98332 77947

Firm registration number: 102425W
Peer review number: NA

VATSARAJ & CO. March 10, 2023 Appointment as the statutory auditors of the
204-205, Inizio Business Centre Company upon casual vacancy of statutory
Cardinal Gracious Road, Chakala auditor due to resignation of previous auditor for
Andheri East, Mumbai — 400 099 a period up to September 30, 2023

Maharashtra, India September 30, 2023 | Reappointment as the Statutory auditors of the
E-mail: admin@vatsarajco.com Company for a period of five years on
Tel: +91 22 6978 3900 September 30, 2023

Firm registration number: 111327W
Peer review number: 016237

Bankers to our Company

ICICI BANK LIMITED AXIS BANK LIMITED

ICICI Bank Tower Mega Wholesale Banking Centre,

Near Chakli Circle, Old Padra Road Mittal Tower, A Wing

Vadodara — 390 007, Gujarat, India First Floor, Nariman Point

Tel: +91 99300 60895 / 981078 5853 Mumbai — 400 021, Maharashtra, India
Email: abhishek.kal@icicibank.com/ Tel: +91 73404 98172
kishore.mishra@icicibank.com Email: abhinav4@axisbank.com
Website: www.icicibank.com Website: www.axisbank.com

Contact person: Abhishek Kalyani / Kishore Mishra Contact Person: Abhinav

STATE BANK OF INDIA

B Wing, Ground Floor

Mittal Court, Nariman Point
Mumbai — 400 021

Tel: +91 83291 75322

Email: sbi.11688@sbi.co.in
Website: https://sbi.co.in
Contact Person: Avinash Raiban
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Grading of the Offer

No credit agency registered with SEBI has been appointed for obtaining grading for the Offer.
Appraising Entity

No appraising entity has been appointed in relation to the Offer.

Monitoring Agency

Our Company will appoint a monitoring agency prior to the filing of the Red Herring Prospectus in accordance with
Regulation 41 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations to monitor utilization of proceeds from the Gross Proceeds. For details,
see ‘Objects of the Offer — Monitoring utilization of funds from the Offer’ on page 104.

Credit Rating

As the Offer is of Equity Shares, credit rating is not required.

Debenture Trustee

As the Offer is of Equity Shares, the appointment of trustee is not required.
Green Shoe Option

No green shoe option is contemplated under the Offer.

Filing of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

A copy of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus has been filed through SEBI’s online intermediary portal at
https://siportal.sebi.gov.in, as specified in Regulation 25(8) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and in accordance with SEBI
master circular bearing reference no. SEBI/HO/CFD/PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/00094 dated June 21, 2023. It will also be filed
at:

Securities and Exchange Board of India
Corporation Finance Department

Division of Issues and Listing

SEBI Bhavan, Plot No. C4 A, ‘G’ Block
Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E)
Mumbai - 400 051, Maharashtra, India

A copy of the Red Herring Prospectus, along with the material contracts and documents required to be filed under Section
32 of the Companies Act would be filed with the RoC at its office and a copy of the Prospectus to be filed under Section
26 of the Companies Act, 2013 would be filed with the RoC at its office, and through the electronic portal.

Book Building Process

Book building, in the context of the Offer, refers to the process of collection of Bids from Bidders on the basis of the Red
Herring Prospectus and the Bid cum Application Forms and the Revision Forms within the Price Band. The Price Band
and the minimum Bid Lot will be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, and will be advertised in
all editions of [e] (a widely circulated English national daily newspaper), all editions of [e] (a widely circulated Hindi
national daily newspaper) and [e] editions of [®] (a widely circulated Marathi newspaper, Marathi being the regional
language of Maharashtra, where our Registered Office is located), at least two Working Days prior to the Bid/Offer
Opening Date and shall be made available to the Stock Exchanges for the purposes of uploading on their respective
websites. Pursuant to the Book Building Process, the Offer Price shall be determined by our Company, in consultation
with the BRLMs, after the Bid/Offer Closing Date. For details, see “Offer Procedure” on page 461.

All Bidders other than Anchor Investors shall only participate through the ASBA process by providing the details of their
respective ASBA Account in which the corresponding Bid Amount will be blocked by the SCSBs or in the case of UPI
Bidders, by using the UPI Mechanism. In addition to this, the Retail Individual Investors shall participate through the
ASBA process by providing the details of their respective ASBA Account in which the corresponding Bid Amount will
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be blocked by the SCSBs or by using the UPI Mechanism. Non-Institutional Investors with an application size of up to
% 0.50 million shall use the UPI Mechanism and shall also provide their UPI ID in the Bid cum Application Form
submitted with Syndicate Members, Registered Brokers, Collecting Depository Participants and Registrar and Share
Transfer Agents. Anchor Investors are not permitted to participate in the Offer through the ASBA process.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Investors are not permitted to withdraw or
lower the size of their Bids (in terms of the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail Individual
Investors and Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion can revise their Bids during the Bid/
Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. Further, Anchor Investors cannot withdraw their
Bids after the Anchor Investor Bidding Date. Allocation to QIBs (other than Anchor Investors) will be on a proportionate
basis while allocation to Anchor Investors will be on a discretionary basis.

For further information, see “Terms of the Offer” and “Offer Procedure” on pages 449 and 461, respectively.

Our Company will comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and any other directions issued by SEBI in relation
to this Offer. Each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders have, severally and not jointly, specifically confirmed
that they will comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and any other directions issued by SEBI, as applicable to
such Promoter Selling Shareholder, in relation to its portion of the Offered Shares. In this regard, our Company
and the Promoter Selling Shareholders have appointed the Book Running Lead Managers to manage this Offer
and procure Bids for this Offer.

The Book Building Process under the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Bidding process are subject to change from
time to time, and the Bidders are advised to make their own judgment about investment through the aforesaid
processes prior to submitting a Bid in the Offer.

Bidders should note that the Offer is also subject to (i) filing of the Prospectus by our Company with the RoC;
and (ii) our Company obtaining final listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges, which our Company
shall apply for after Allotment.

For further information on the method and procedure for Bidding, see “Offer Procedure” and “Offer Structure” on pages
461 and 456, respectively.

Underwriting Agreement

After the determination of the Offer Price and allocation of Equity Shares but prior to the filing of the Prospectus with
the RoC, our Company and the Promoter Selling Shareholders will enter into an Underwriting Agreement with the
Underwriters for the Equity Shares proposed to be offered through the Offer. Pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement, the obligations of the Underwriters will be several and will be subject to certain conditions to closing, as
specified therein.

The Underwriting Agreement is dated [e]. The Underwriters have indicated their intention to underwrite the following
number of Equity Shares:

(The Underwriting Agreement has not been executed as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. This portion
has been intentionally left blank and will be filled in before filing of the Prospectus with the RoC)

(< in million)
Name, address, telephone and e-mail Indicative Number of Equity Shares of face Amount
address of the Underwriters value of 10 each to be Underwritten Underwritten

[e] [e] [e]
[e] [e] [e]
[e] (o] [e]

The above-mentioned underwriting commitment is indicative and will be finalized after determination of the Offer Price
and Basis of Allotment and will be subject to the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

In the opinion of our Board of Directors, the resources of the abovementioned Underwriters are sufficient to enable them
to discharge their respective underwriting obligations in full. The Underwriters are registered with the SEBI under Section
12(1) of the SEBI Act or registered as brokers with the Stock Exchange(s). Our Board at its meeting held on [e], has
accepted and entered into the Underwriting Agreement mentioned above on behalf of our Company.
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Allocation among the Underwriters may not necessarily be in proportion to their underwriting commitments set forth in
the table above. Notwithstanding the above table, the Underwriters shall be severally responsible for ensuring payment
with respect to Equity Shares allocated to Bidders procured by them.

Subject to the applicable laws and pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the BRLMs will be responsible
for bringing in the amount devolved in the event that the Syndicate Members do not fulfil their underwriting obligations.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of our Company as, on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, is set forth below:

(in T except share data unless otherwise stated)

Aggregate value at | Aggregate value at
face value Offer Price*
A |AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL®
162,500,000 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each 1,625,000,000.00 -
Total 1,625,000,000.00 -
B |ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL BEFORE THE OFFER
147,616,500 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each ‘ 1,476,165,000.00 ‘ -
C |PRESENT OFFER IN TERMS OF THIS DRAFT RED HERRING PROSPECTUS
Offer of up to [e] Equity Shares @G#) [o] [o]
Which includes: [e] [e]
Fresh Issue of up to [e] Equity Shares @ aggregating up to % 6,000.00 million [o] [o]
Offer for Sale of up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares by the Promoter Selling [e] [e]
Shareholders® ) aggregating up to % [¢] million
Offer includes
Employee Reservation Portion of up to [®] Equity Shares of face value of [o] [e]
%10 each aggregating up to ¥[e] million®
Net Offer of up to [e®] Equity Shares of face value of 10 each aggregating [e] [e]
up to X[e] million
D | ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL AFTER THE OFFER?*
[e] Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each * \ [o]] -
SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT
Before the Offer 36,900,000
After the Offer [e]

1)

@

(©)]

4)

®)

Subject to finalisation of the Basis of Allotment.

To be updated upon finalization of the Offer Price.

For details in relation to the changes in the authorised share capital of our Company since incorporation, see “History and Certain
Corporate Matters — Amendments to our Memorandum of Association” on page 263.

Our Board has authorized the Offer, pursuant to their resolution dated December 17, 2024. Our Shareholders have authorized the
Fresh Issue pursuant to special resolution dated December 18, 2024.

Each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders has, severally and not jointly, confirmed that their respective portion of the Offered
Shares are eligible for being offered for sale in the Offer in accordance with the provisions of SEBI ICDR Regulations. Each of
the Promoter Selling Shareholders has, severally and not jointly, confirmed and authorized their participation in the Offer for
Sale. For details on authorization of the Promoter Selling Shareholders in relation to their respective portion of the Offered Shares,
see “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” on page 435.

Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider a Pre-IPO Placement, prior to the filing of the Red Herring
Prospectus. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the
BRLMs. If the Pre-1PO Placement is completed, the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-1IPO Placement will be reduced from the
Fresh Issue, subject to compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20%
of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately, intimate the subscribers to
the Pre-1PO Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may
proceed with the Offer, or the Offer may be successful and will result into listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges.
Further, relevant disclosures in relation to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-IPO Placement (if undertaken) shall be
appropriately made in the relevant sections of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus.

The Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed 5% of our post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital. The maximum Bid Amount
under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall not exceed <0.50 million (net of Employee Discount).
However, the initial allocation to an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed <0.20 million (net
of Employee Discount). Only in the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion
will be available for allocation and Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess ofZ 0.20 million
(net of Employee Discount), subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding <0.50
million (net of Employee Discount). The unsubscribed portion if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion shall be added back to
the Net Offer. In case of under-subscription in the Net Offer, spill-over to the extent of such under-subscription shall be permitted
from the Employee Reservation Portion. Further, our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, may offer
a discount of up to /7% to the Offer Price (equivalent of X [e] per Equity Share) to Eligible Employees, which shall be announced
at least two Working Days prior to the Bid /Offer Opening Date. For details, see “Offer Structure” on page 456.
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Notes to the Capital Structure

1. Equity Share capital history of our Company

Our Company is in compliance with the Companies Act, 1956 and the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable,
with respect to issuance of Equity Shares from the date of incorporation of our Company till the date of filing of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus. The history of the Equity Share capital of our Company is set out in the table below:

The following table sets forth the history of the Equity Share capital of our Company:

Date of Reason for or No. of |Cumulative, Face Issue | Nature of Details of allottees
allotment of nature of Equity | number of \value per price per | considera
Equity Shares allotment Shares Equity Equity = Equity tion
allotted Shares | Share () Share )
September 17, |Initial subscription 1,000 1,000 | 100.00 100.00 Cash  |Allotment of 500 equity shares of
1993 to the Memorandum % 100 each to Pragnyat Pravin
of Association Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj
Jain
March 31, 1994 |Further Issue 4,500 5,500 | 100.00 100.00 Cash Allotment of 2,100 equity shares
of W00 to Pragnyat Pravin
Lalwani and Allotment of 2,400
equity shares of X 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain
March 28, 1995 |Further Issue 14,550 20,050 | 100.00 100.00 Cash  |Allotment of 7,550 equity shares
of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin
Lalwani and Allotment of 7,000
equity shares of X 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain
March 25, 1996 |Further Issue 250 20,300 | 100.00 100.00 Cash Allotment of 250 equity shares of
% 100 to Gautam Sampatraj Jain
March 30, 2003 |Bonus issue in the 20,300 40,600 | 100.00 - Nil Allotment of 10,150 equity shares
ratio of one Equity of T 100 each to Pragnyat Parvin
Share for every one Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj
existing Equity Jain
Share held
August 1, 2008 |Bonus issue in the 50,400 91,000 100.00 - Nil Allotment of 25,200 equity shares
ratio of 1.24 Equity of % 100 each to Pragnyat Parvin
Share for every one Lalwani and Gautam Sampatraj
existing Equity Jain
Share held*
December 15, |Further Issue 50,000 141,000 100.00 400.00 Cash Allotment of 6,250 equity shares
2008 of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin
Lalwani, Allotment of 6,250
equity shares of X 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain and Allotment of
37,500 equity shares of ¥ 100 to
Seshaasai  E-Forms  Private
Limited
March 31, 2009 |Further Issue 12,500 153,500 100.00 400.00 Cash Allotment of 6,250 equity shares
of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin
Lalwani and Allotment of 6,250
equity shares of % 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain
November 30, |Further Issue 16,000 169,500 | 100.00 | 625.00 Cash  |Allotment of 8,000 equity shares
2010 of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin
Lalwani and Allotment of 8,000
equity shares of ¥ 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain
March 22, 2012 |Further Issue 6,500 176,000 | 100.00 | 1,600.00 | Other than |Allotment of 6,500 equity shares
cash of ¥ 100 to Seshaasai E-Forms
Private Limited against purchase
of certain assets of the allottee
October 27, Further Issue 79,000 255,000 100.00 100.00 Cash Allotment of 29,625 equity shares
2016 of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin

Lalwani, Allotment of 29,625
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Date of Reason for or No. of |Cumulative| Face Issue | Nature of Details of allottees
allotment of nature of Equity | number of value per price per | considera
Equity Shares allotment Shares Equity Equity = Equity tion
allotted Shares | Share () Share )
equity shares of X 100 to Gautam
Sampatraj Jain and Allotment of
19,750 equity shares of X 100 to
Seshaasai  E-Forms  Private
Limited
March 9, 2023 |Bonus issue in the| 11,587,200 (11,842,200 | 100.00 - Nil Allotment of 4,345,200 equity
ratio of 4544 shares of X 100 to Pragnyat Parvin
Equity Shares for Lalwani, Allotment of 4,345,200
every one existing equity shares of 2 100 to Gautam
Equity Share held Sampatraj Jain and Allotment of
2,896,800 equity shares of X 100
to Seshaasai E-Forms Private
Limited
March 15, 2024 |Reduction pursuant | (2,960,550)| 8,881,650 | 100.00 - NA Cancellation of equity shares
to merger/ held by Seshaasai E-Forms
amalgamation Private Limited
March 15, 2024 |Allotment pursuant | 5,880,000 | 14,761,650 | 100.00 192.00 | Other than |Allotment of 2,940,000 equity
to Scheme of cash shares of T 100 to Pragnyat Pravin
Arrangement* Lalwani and Allotment of
2,940,000 equity shares of X 100
to Gautam Sampatraj Jain

October 22,
2024

Pursuant to a resolution passed by our Board and Shareholders on September 15, 2024 and October 22, 2024,
respectively, our Company sub-divided the face value of its equity shares from 2100 each to %10 each.

147,616,500 |

* Our Company, Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited and Qupod Technovations Private Limited filed a scheme of arrangement under
Section 230 and 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 before the National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai. Under this Scheme of
Arrangement, the BPO business undertaking (including data entry, data processing, data verification, payout processing etc.) of
Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited, on a going concern basis were merged into Qupod Technovations Private Limited and
subsequently Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited amalgamated its core business i.e. secure communications, smart payments
including manufacturing of contactless payment cards, QR kits facilitating UPI payments at the merchant, encrypted QR based cheque
instruments as a fraud prevention, smart traceability involving RFID based asset management and traceability, supply chain and
logistics management and smart fulfilment involving a portal driven just in time manufacturing and delivery of stationary and allied
products with our Company. For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters—
Details regarding material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets,
etc. in the last 10 years” on page 266.

#the resolution passed by the Company erroneously mentions the ratio as 1:1.5 instead of 1:1.24. Our Company has passed a board
resolution dated December 20, 2024 taking note of the error.

2.

Preference Share capital history of our Company

Our Company does not have any outstanding preference share capital as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Set out below is the history of our preference share capital:

Date of Nature of No. of Cumulative Face value | Issue price | Form of Details of allottees
allotment of | allotment Preference number of per per consideration
Preference Shars Equity |Preference Preference
Shares allotted Shares | Share ) | Share (%)
March 22, Preferential 245,000 245,000 100.00 100.00 Cash Allotment of 90,000 preference
2012 issue shares of ¥ 100 to Gautam Jain
HUF, 10,000 preference shares of X
100 to Sampat Jain HUF and
145,000 preference shares of T 100
to Bharat Trading Corporation
December 27, |Redemption | (245,000) - 100.00 100.00 Cash -
2023

3. Shares issued for consideration other than cash or by way of bonus issue or out of revaluation reserves

Our Company has not issued Equity Shares or Preference Shares out of revaluation reserves since its incorporation.
Further, except as disclosed below, our Company has not issued Equity Shares or Preference Shares through bonus issue
or out of revaluation reserves or for consideration other than cash.
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Date of No. of Face Issue Details of allottees Reason for or nature | Benefits
allotment Equity |value per| price per of allotment accrued to
of Equity Shares Equity | Equity our

Shares allotted [Share () Share (%) Company

March 30, 20,300 | 100.00 - |Allotment of 10,150 equity shares of X 100|Bonus issue in the ratio -
2003 each to Pragnyat Parvin Lalwani and Gautam|of one Equity Share for
Sampatraj Jain every one  existing
Equity Share held
August 1, 50,400 | 100.00 - |Allotment of 25,200 equity shares of X 100|Bonus issue in the ratio -
2008 each to Pragnyat Parvin Lalwani and Gautam|of 1.24 Equity Share for
Sampatraj Jain every one  existing
Equity Share held
March 9, 11,587,200 | 100.00 - |Allotment of 4,345,200 equity shares of * 100|Bonus issue in the ratio -
2023 to Pragnyat Parvin Lalwani, Allotment of|of 45.44 Equity Shares
4,345,200 equity shares of ¥ 100 to Gautam|for every one existing
Sampatraj Jain and Allotment of 2,896,800|Equity Share held
equity shares of ¥ 100 to Seshaasai E-Forms
Private Limited
March 15, 5,880,000 | 100.00 192 |Allotment of 2,940,000 equity shares of ¥ 100/ Allotment pursuant to -
2024 to Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and Allotment of|Scheme of
2,940,000 equity shares of X 100 to Gautam|Arrangement*
Sampatraj Jain

* Our Company, Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited and Qupod Technovations Private Limited filed a scheme of arrangement under
Section 230 and 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 before the National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai. Under this Scheme of
Arrangement, the BPO business undertaking (including data entry, data processing, data verification, payout processing etc.) of
Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited, on a going concern basis were merged into Qupod Technovations Private Limited and
subsequently Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited amalgamated its core business i.e. secure communications, smart payments
including manufacturing of contactless payment cards, QR kits facilitating UPI payments at the merchant, encrypted QR based cheque
instruments as a fraud prevention, smart traceability involving RFID based asset management and traceability, supply chain and
logistics management and smart fulfilment involving a portal driven just in time manufacturing and delivery of stationary and allied
products with our Company. For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters—
Details regarding material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets,
etc. in the last 10 years” on page 266.

4. Equity Shares allotted in terms of any schemes of arrangement

Our Company has not allotted any Equity Shares in terms of any scheme approved under Section 391-394 of the
Companies Act, 1956 or Section 230-234 of the Companies Act, 2013, except as stated below:

Date of No. of Face Issue Details of allottees Nature of Reason for or
allotment | Equity | value per price per consideration nature of
of Equity = Shares Equity | Equity allotment
Shares allotted |Share (%) Share <)
March 15, 5,880,000/ 100.00 192 | Allotment of 2,940,000 equity shares of % |Other than Allotment pursuant
2024 100 to Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and |cash to Scheme of
Allotment of 2,940,000 equity shares of Arrangement*
100 to Gautam Sampatraj Jain

*Our Company, Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited and Qupod Technovations Private Limited filed a scheme of arrangement under
Section 230 and 232 of the Companies Act, 2013 before the National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai. Under this Scheme of
Arrangement, the BPO business undertaking (including data entry, data processing, data verification, payout processing etc.) of
Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited, on a going concern basis were merged into Qupod Technovations Private Limited and
subsequently Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited amalgamated its core business i.e. secure communications, smart payments
including manufacturing of contactless payment cards, QR kits facilitating UPI payments at the merchant, encrypted QR based
cheque instruments as a fraud prevention, smart traceability involving RFID based asset management and traceability, supply chain
and logistics management and smart fulfilment involving a portal driven just in time manufacturing and delivery of stationary and
allied products with our Company. For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate
Matters — Details regarding material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation
of assets, etc. in the last 10 years” on page 266.

5. Shares allotted at a price lower than the Offer Price in the last year

The Offer Price shall be determined in compliance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations after the Bid / Offer Closing Date.
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Date of No. of Face Issue Details of allottees Nature of Reason for or
allotment | Equity value per |price per consideration nature of
of Equity | Shares = Equity | Equity allotment

Shares allotted Share (%) |Share <)

March 15, | 5,880,000 | 100.00 192 | Allotment of 2,940,000 equity shares of ¥ 100 |Other than cash |Allotment

2024 to Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani and Allotment of pursuant to
2,940,000 equity shares of ¥ 100 to Gautam Scheme of
Sampatraj Jain Arrangement*

* For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters— Details regarding material
acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in the last 10 years” on
page 266.

6.

Details of Shareholding of our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group in our Company

Equity Shareholding of the Promoters

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, our Promoters collectively hold 140,235,574 Equity Shares,
equivalent to 95.00% of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company, as set forth in the

table below:

Sr.
No.

Name of the Shareholder

Pre-Offer Equity Share Capital

Post-Offer Equity Share Capital*

No. of Equity Shares

% of total
shareholding

No. of Equity Shares %

shareholding

of total

1. |Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 70,117,787 47.50 [e] [e]
2. | Gautam Sampatraj Jain 70,117,787 47.50 [e] [e]
Total 140,235,574 95.00 [e] [o]

" Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

All Equity Shares held by our Promoters are in dematerialised form as on the date of this Draft Red Herring

Prospectus.

Build-up of the Promoters’ shareholding in our Company

The build-up of the Equity Shareholding of our Promoters and Promoter Selling Shareholders since the incorporation
of our Company is set forth in the table below:

Date of Allotment/ Nature of transaction No. of  Face value Issue Price/ | Percentage Percentage
Transfer Equity per Transfer Price | of pre-Offer of post-Offer
Shares Equity per Equity Equity  Equity Share
Share ) Share ) | Share capital capital**
(A) Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani
September 17,1993 | Subscription to the MoA 500, 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
March 31, 1994 Further Issue 2,100 100.00 100.00 0.01% [e]
March 28, 1995 Further Issue 7,550 100.00 100.00 0.05% [e]
March 30, 1998 Disposal by way of transfer to (10)|  100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
Kalavati Chejjad
March 30, 1998 Disposal by way of transfer to (10)|  100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
Vineet Investment
Acquisition by way of transfer 10| 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
from Kalavati Chejjad
February 2,2001  racoisition by way of transfer 10 100.00 10000 Negligible o]
from Vineet Investment
March 30, 2003 Bonus Issue 10,150/ 100.00 NA 0.07% [e]
August 1, 2008 Bonus Issue 25,200 100.00 NA 0.17% []
December 15, 2008 Further Issue 6,250 100.00 400.00 0.04% [e]
March 31, 2009 Further Issue 6,250 100.00 400.00 0.04% [e]
November 30, 2010 | Further Issue 8,000/ 100.00 625.00 0.05% [e]
October 27, 2016 Further Issue 29,625/ 100.00 100.00 0.20% [e]
March 9, 2023 Bonus Issue 4,345,200/ 100.00 NA 29.44% [e]
March 15, 2024 Allotment pursuant to Scheme 2,940,000 100.00 192.00 19.92% [e]
of Arrangement* between
Seshaasai E Forms Private
Limited and Seshaasai Business
Forms Private Limited
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iv.

Vi.

Oswal by way of gift

Date of Allotment/ Nature of transaction No.of  Facevalue Issue Price/ | Percentage Percentage
Transfer Equity per Transfer Price  of pre-Offer |of post-Offer
Shares Equity per Equity Equity  Equity Share
Share ) Share ) | Share capital capital**
Transfer to Pranati Ratnadeep 2) 100.00 Nil Negligible [e]
Patil by way of gift
June 11, 2024 Transfer to Qanesh Srinivasan (1) 100.00 Nil Negligible [o]
by way of gift
Transfer to Shweta Abhay 2) 100.00 Nil Negligible [e]

October 22, 2024

Pursuant to a resolution passed

by our Board and Shareholders on September 15, 2024 an
2024, respectively, our Company sub-divided the face value of its equity shares from 10

d October 22,
0 each to %10

each.
December 20, 2024 Transfer to Florintree Nextech | (3,690,413) 10.00 339.00 2.50% [*]
LLP
Sub-total (A) 70,117,787 47.50%
(B) Gautam Sampatraj Jain
September 17, 1993 | Subscription to the MoA 500, 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
March 31, 1994 Further Issue 2,400/ 100.00 100.00 0.02% [e]
March 28, 1995 Further Issue 7,000/ 100.00 100.00 0.05% [e]
March 25, 1996 Further Issue 250/ 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
March 30, 1998 Transfer to Rakesh Balan (10)| 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
March 30, 1998 Transfer to Nilesh Chajjed (10) 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
February 2, 2001 Transfer from Rakesh Balan 10| 100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
February 2, 2001 Transfer from Nilesh Chajjed 10/  100.00 100.00|  Negligible [e]
March 30, 2003 Bonus Issue 10,150 100.00 NA 0.07% [e]
August 1, 2008 Bonus Issue 25,200 100.00 NA 0.17% [e]
December 15, 2008 | Further Issue 6,250/ 100.00 400.00 0.04% [e]
March 31, 2009 Further Issue 6,250/ 100.00 400.00 0.04% [e]
November 30, 2010 | Further Issue 8,000 100.00 625.00 0.05% [e]
October 27, 2016 Further Issue 29,625 100.00 100.00 0.20% [e]
March 9, 2023 Bonus Issue 4,345,200 100.00 NA 29.44% [e]
March 15, 2024 Allotment pursuant to Scheme 2,940,000 100.00 192.00 19.92% [e]
of Arrangement™ between
Seshaasai E Forms Private
Limited and Seshaasai Business
Forms Private Limited
Transfer to Gautam Jain HUF 2) 100.00 Nil Negligible [e]
by way of gift
June 3, 2024 Transfer to Sunita Gautam Jain 3) 100.00 Nil Negligible [e]
by way of gift

October 22, 2024

Pursuant to a resolution passed

by our Board and Shareholders on September 15, 2024 an

d October 22,

2024, respectively, our Company sub-divided the face value of its equity shares from 2100 each to 10

each.

December 20, 2024 Transfer to Florintree Nextech | (3,690,413) 10.00 339.00 2.50% [e]
LLP

Sub-total (B) 70,117,787 47.50%

Grand Total (A)+(B) 140,235,574 95.00% [e]

* For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters— Details regarding
material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in the last
10 years” on page 266.

™ Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

All the Equity Shares held by our Promoters were fully paid-up on the respective dates of allotment or acquisition,
as applicable, of such Equity Shares.

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, none of the Equity Shares held by our Promoters are pledged.

Equity Shareholding of the Promoter Group

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, the members of our Promoter Group (other than our Promoters)
collectively hold 70 Equity Shares, equivalent to negligible % of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity Share
capital of our Company, as set forth in the table below:
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Vii.

viii.

S. | Name of the Shareholder Pre-Offer Equity Share Capital Post-Offer Equity Share Capital”
No. No. of Equity % of total No. of Equity % of total
Shares Shareholding Shares Shareholding
1. | Gautam Jain HUF 20 Negligible [e] [o]
2. | Sunita Gautam Jain 30 Negligible [e] [e]
3. |Pranati Ratnadeep Patil 20 Negligible [e] [e]
Total 70 Negligible [e] [e]

* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

None of the members of the Promoter Group, the Promoters, the Directors of our Company, nor any of their
respective relatives have purchased or sold any securities of our Company during the period of six months
immediately preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus except as below:

Date of Allotment/ Transferor Transferee Nature of No. of |Face value Issue Price/
Transfer transaction | equity | per equity  Transfer Price per
shares | share () | Equity Share )
December 20, Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani | Florintree Nextech |Transfer 3,690,413 10.00 339.00
2024 Gautam Sampatraj Jain | LLP Transfer 3,690,413 10.00 339.00

There have been no financing arrangements whereby our Promoters, members of the Promoter Group, our Directors,
or their relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company during a period of six
months immediately preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and three years immediately preceding
the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Details of minimum Promoters’ contribution and applicable lock in

Pursuant to Regulations 14 and 16(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, an aggregate of 20% of the fully diluted post-
Offer Equity Share capital of our Company held by our Promoters shall be considered as minimum promoters’
contribution and locked-in for a period of three years or any other period as may be prescribed under applicable law,
from the date of Allotment (“Promoter’s Contribution’). Our Promoters’ shareholding in excess of 20% shall be
locked in for a period of one year from the date of Allotment. As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus,
our Promoters hold 140,235,574 Equity Shares, equivalent to 95.00% of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity
Share capital of our Company, the required portion of which are eligible for Promoters’ Contribution.

Our Promoters have given consent to include such number of Equity Shares held by them, in aggregate, as may
constitute 20% of the fully diluted post-Offer Equity Share capital of our Company as Promoter’s Contribution. Our
Promoters have agreed not to dispose, sell, transfer, charge, pledge or otherwise encumber in any manner the
Promoters’ Contribution from the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, until the expiry of the lock-in period
specified above, or for such other time as required under SEBI ICDR Regulations, except as may be permitted, in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The details of Equity Shares held by our Promoters, which will be locked-in for minimum Promoter’s contribution
for a period of three years, from the date of Allotment as Promoters’ Contribution are as provided below:

Name of | Number | Number | Dateof |Facevaluel Allotment/ Nature of % of the post- ~ Date up to
the of Equity of Equity |allotment/ per acquisition | transaction Offer paid-up = which Equity
Promoter | Shares Shares | transfer” = Equity | price per Equity Equity Share ' Shares locked-
held | locked-in™ Share %) Share %) capital** in
[e] [e] [l [e] [] [e]/[] [e]/[]
[e] [e] [l [] [] [e]/[] [e]/[]
Total [] [] []

Note: To be updated at the Prospectus stage.
#Equity Shares were fully paid-up on the date of allotment/acquisition.

** Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

The Equity Shares that are being locked-in are not and will not be ineligible for computation of Promoters’
Contribution under Regulation 15 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In particular, these Equity Shares do not and shall
not consist of:

e Equity Shares acquired during the three years preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus (a) for
consideration other than cash and revaluation of assets or capitalisation of intangible assets is involved in such
transaction, or (b) as a result of bonus shares issued by utilization of revaluation reserves or unrealised profits
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or from bonus issue against Equity Shares which are otherwise in-eligible for computation of Promoters’
Contribution;

e Equity Shares acquired during the one year preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, at a price
lower than the price at which the Equity Shares are being offered to the public in the Offer;

e  Equity Shares held by the Promoters that are subject to any pledge or any other form of encumbrance.
Details of share capital locked-in for six months or any other period prescribed under applicable law

In terms of Regulation 17 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, except for (i) the Promoters’ shareholding which shall be
locked-in as above, and (ii) Equity Shares issued by our Company to eligible employees (or such persons as permitted
under the SEBI SBEB & SE Regulations and the ESOP Scheme) pursuant to exercise of options by the eligible
employees, whether currently employees or not, and including the legal heirs or nominees of any deceased eligible
employees, in accordance with the ESOP Scheme, the entire pre-Offer Equity Share capital of our Company, shall,
unless otherwise permitted under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, be locked-in for a period of six months from the date
of Allotment or any other period as may be prescribed under applicable law.

Further, in terms of Regulation 17 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, Equity Shares held by a venture capital fund or
alternative investment fund of category | or category Il or a foreign venture capital investor shall not be locked-in
for a period of six months from the date of Allotment, provided that such Equity Shares shall be locked-in for a
period of at least six months from the date of purchase by the venture capital fund or alternative investment fund of
category | or category Il or foreign venture capital investor.

In terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR, and in compliance with Regulation 6(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations this
is an Offer wherein not more than 50% of the Net Offer will be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to
QIBs, provided that our Company in consultation with the BRLMs, may allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to
Anchor Investors, on a discretionary basis, of which one-third shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject
to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. Further,
such number of Equity Shares representing 5% of the QIB Portion (excluding the Anchor Investor Portion) shall be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remaining Net QIB Portion shall be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIBs (other than Anchor Investors) including Mutual Funds,
subject to valid Bids being received from them at or above the Offer Price. Further, not less than such number of
Equity Shares representing 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to Non-Institutional Bidders and
not less than such number of Equity Shares representing 35% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to
Retail Individual Bidders, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or
above the Offer Price. All Bidders (except Anchor Investors) shall mandatorily participate in this Offer only through
the ASBA process and shall provide details of their respective bank accounts in which the Bid Amount will be
blocked by SCSBs to participate in the offer. For details, please refer to the section titled “Offer Procedure” on page
461.

As required under Regulation 20 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company shall ensure that the details of the
Equity Shares locked-in are recorded by the relevant Depository.

In terms of Regulation 22 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, Equity Shares held by our Promoters which are locked-
in, may be transferred to Promoters or members of the Promoter Group or to any new Promoters, subject to
continuation of lock-in in the hands of the transferees for the remaining period and compliance with provisions of
the SEBI Takeover Regulations, as applicable and such transferee shall not be eligible to transfer them till the lock-
in period stipulated in SEBI ICDR Regulations has expired. The Equity Shares held by persons other than our
Promoters and locked-in for a period of six months from the date of Allotment in the Offer or any other period as
may be prescribed under applicable law, may be transferred to any other person holding Equity Shares which are
locked-in, subject to the continuation of the lock-in the hands of the transferee for the remaining period and
compliance with the provisions of the Takeover Regulations.

In terms of Regulation 21 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held by our Promoters which are locked-
in as per Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, may be pledged only with scheduled commercial banks or
public financial institutions or systemically important non-banking finance companies or deposit taking housing
finance companies as collateral security for loans granted by such entity, provided that such pledge of the Equity
Shares is one of the terms of the sanctioned loan. However, such lock-in will continue pursuant to any invocation of
the pledge and the transferee of the Equity Shares pursuant to such invocation shall not be eligible to transfer the
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Equity Shares until the expiry of the lock-in period stipulated above.

In terms of Regulation 22 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held by persons other than our Promoters
and locked-in pursuant to Regulation 17 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations for a period of six months from the date of
Allotment, may be transferred to any other person holding Equity Shares which are locked in along with the Equity
Shares proposed to be transferred, subject to the continuation of the lock in applicable to the transferee and
compliance with the provisions of the Takeover Regulations.

xi. Lock-in of Equity Shares Allotted to Anchor Investors
50% of the Equity Shares allotted to Anchor Investors under the Anchor Investor Portion shall be locked-in for a

period 90 days from the date of Allotment and the remaining 50% shall be locked-in for a period of 30 days from
the date of Allotment.
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7. Shareholding Pattern of our Company

The table below presents the shareholding pattern of our Company as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus:

(A)  |Promoter and 51 140,235,644 -
Promoter Group

140,235,644 95.00 | 140,235,644 - | 140,235,644 95.00 - 95.00 - - - - | 140,235,644

(B) |Public 3| 7,380,856 - 7,380,856 5.00 | 7,380,856 -| 7,380,856 5.00 - 5.00 - - - - | 7,380,856
©) Non Promoter- - - - - - - - - - - - - - R - - R
Non Public
(C)(1) |Shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - R
underlying DRs
(C)(2) |Shares held by - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - R
Employee
Trusts

Total 8| 147,616,500 -
(A)+(B)+(C)

147,616,500 100.00| 147,616,500 -| 147,616,500/ 100.00 - 100.00 - - - -1 147,616,500
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10.

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, our Company has eight (8) Shareholders.

Shareholding of our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management in our Company

Apart from the Equity Shares held by our Promoters and Ganesh Srinivasan, a Senior Management Personnel, none
of our other Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or Senior Management Personnel hold any Equity Shares. For
details of our Promoters’ shareholding in our Company, see “— Details of Shareholding of our Promoters and
members of the Promoter Group in our Company — Equity Shareholding of the Promoters” on page 84.

Major shareholders of our Company

The list of our major Shareholders and the number of Equity Shares held by them is provided below:

a. The details of our Shareholders holding 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company as on

the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are set forth below:

Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder Number of Equity Shares held |% of the pre-Offer Equity share capital
1. Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 70,117,787 47.50
2. Gautam Sampatraj Jain 70,117,787 47.50
3. Florintree Nextech LLP 7,380,826 5.00
Total 147,616,400 100.00

b. The details of our Shareholders who held 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company ten
days prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are set forth below:

Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder Number of Equity Shares held % of the pre-Offer Equity share capital
1. Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 73,808,200 50.00
2. Gautam Sampatraj Jain 73,808,200 50.00
Total 147,616,400 100.00*

Note: Details as on December 16, 2024, being the date ten days prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.
*100 shares were held by members of promoter group and other public shareholders

c. The details of our Shareholders who held 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company one
year prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are set forth below:

Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder Number of Equity Shares held % of the pre-Offer Equity share capital
1. Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 4,440,825 37.50
2. Gautam Sampatraj Jain 4,440,825 37.50
3. Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited 2,960,550 25.00
Total 11,842,200 100.00

Note: Details as on December 27 2023, being the date one year prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

d. The details of our Shareholders who held 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company two
years prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are set forth below:

Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder Number of Equity Shares held % of the pre-Offer Equity share capital
1. Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani 95,625 37.50
2. Gautam Sampatraj Jain 95,625 37.50
3. Seshaasai E-Forms Private Limited 63,750 25.00
Total 255,000 100.00

Note: Details as on December 27, 2022, being the date two years prior to the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Secondary transactions of Equity Shares

Except as disclosed in “Capital Structure — Details of Shareholding of our Promoters and members of the Promoter
Group in our Company - Build-up of the Promoters’ shareholding in our Company” on page 84, no other acquisition
of securities through secondary transactions by our Promoters who are also the Selling Shareholders has been
undertaken as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Further, except as disclosed below no other acquisition of securities through secondary transactions by the members
of the Promoter Group, has been undertaken as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus:
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11.

12.

13.

14,

15.

16.

17.

Date of No. of Details of Details of Nature of transaction| Face Issue Price/ Nature of
transfer | Equity | transferor(s) transferee(s) value per | Transfer Price consideration
Shares Equity per Equity
Share <) Share <)

Promoter Group

June 11, 2024 2 Pragnyqt Pravin Pra_nati Ratnadeep Transfer_of Eq_uity 100 N.A. N.A.
Lalwani Patil Shares via a gift deed
2 Gautam Jain HUF | Transfer of Equity 100 N.A. N.A.
June 3. 2024 Gautam Shares via a gift deed
' 3 Sampatraj Jain |Sunita Gautam Transfer of Equity 100 N.A. N.A.
Jain Shares via a gift deed

Except for the allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the Fresh Issue, there will be no further issue of specified
securities whether by way of public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, qualified institutions placement, bonus
issue or otherwise, until the listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges or the refund of application monies.

Except for the allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the Fresh Issue, and (ii) any exercise of employee stock options
that may be granted under the ESOP Scheme, if any, there is no proposal or intention or negotiations or consideration
by our Company to alter our capital structure by way of split or consolidation of the denomination of the shares or
issue of specified securities on a preferential basis or issue of bonus or rights issue or further public offer of specified
securities within a period of six months from the Bid / Offer Opening Date.

Our Company has not made any public issue or rights issue, as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulation, of any
kind or class of securities since its incorporation. For further information, please see “—Equity Share capital history
of our Company” on page 81.

ESOP scheme

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, except as mentioned below, our Company does not have any
active employee stock option plan:

Seshaasai Technologies Limited Employee Stock Ownership Option Plan 2024 (“ESOP 2024”)

Our Company adopted the ESOP 2024 pursuant to resolutions passed by our Board on December 9, 2024, and by
our Shareholders on December 9, 2024. The objective of the ESOP 2024 is (i) to create a sense of ownership among
employees and incentivise long term focus, (ii) to motivate and retain talent within the organization; and (iii) to
reward key employees for their performance. The aggregate number of Equity Shares which may be issued under
the ESOP 2024 shall not exceed 2% of the paid-up capital of the Company as on March 31, 2024. The ESOP 2024
is in compliance with the SEBI SBEB & SE Regulations.

In terms of the ESOP 2024, minimum vesting period is one year from the date of grant of options. Subject to certain
conditions, the employee can exercise the vested options within the exercise period, as may be determined by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Our Company has not granted any options under the ESOP 2024 as of the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

No person connected with the Offer, including, but not limited to, our Company, the Promoter Selling Shareholders,
the members of the Syndicate, our Promoters, the members of our Promoter Group or our Directors, shall offer any
incentive, whether direct or indirect, in any manner, whether in cash or kind or services or otherwise to any Bidder
for making a Bid, except for fees or commission for services rendered in relation to the Offer. Further, no payment,
direct or indirect benefit in the nature of commission (except underwriting commission that may be paid to the
underwriters) and allowance or otherwise shall be offered or paid either by our Company or our Promoters to any
person in connection with making an application for or receiving any Equity Shares pursuant to this Offer.

Except for our Promoters, who are also the Promoter Selling Shareholders, none of the members of our Promoter
Group will participate in the Offer.

Our Company, Directors, Promoters or members of our Promoter Group shall not make any payments direct or

indirect, discounts, commissions, allowances or otherwise under the Offer except as disclosed in this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

217.

28.

29.

As on date, none of the shareholders of the Company are directly/indirectly related to the BRLMs and their
respective associates (as defined under SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations). None of the BRLMs are associates
of the Company.

The BRLMs and persons related to the BRLMs or Syndicate Member cannot apply in the Offer under the Anchor
Investor Portion, except for Mutual Funds sponsored by entities which are associates of the BRLMs, or insurance
companies promoted by entities which are associates of the BRLMs or AlFs sponsored by entities which are
associates of the BRLMs or FPIs other than individuals, corporate bodies and family offices which are associates
of the BRLMs or pension funds sponsored by entities which are associates of the BRLMs.

The BRLMs and their associates (determined as per the definition of ‘associate company’ under the Companies Act,
and as per definition of the term “associate’ under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers)
Regulations, 1992) do not hold any securities as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. The BRLM and
their affiliates may engage in the transactions with and perform services for our Company, the Promoter Selling
Shareholders and their respective affiliates or associates, in the ordinary course of business, and have engaged, or
may in the future engage in commercial banking and investment banking transactions with our Company, or the
Promoter Selling Shareholders or their respective affiliates or associates for which they have received, and may in
the future receive compensation.

There are no outstanding warrants, options or rights to convert debentures, loans or other instruments into, or which
would entitle any person any option to receive Equity Shares of our Company, as on the date of this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus.

All transactions in specified securities of our Company by our Promoters and members of our Promoter Group
between the date of filing of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and the date of closing of the Offer shall be reported
to the Stock Exchanges within 24 hours of such transactions.

The Promoters and members of our Promoter Group will not receive any proceeds from the Offer, except to the
extent of their participation as Promoter Selling Shareholders in the Offer for Sale.

At any given time, there shall be only one denomination of the Equity Shares of our Company, unless otherwise
permitted by law.

Our Company has not raised any bridge loans which are proposed to be repaid from the proceeds of the Offer.

Our Company shall comply with such disclosure and accounting norms as may be specified by SEBI from time to
time.

Our Company, the Promoter Selling Shareholders, the Promoters, the Directors and the BRLMs have not entered
into buy-back arrangements and / or any other similar arrangements for the purchase of Equity Shares being offered
through the Offer.

All Equity Shares issued or transferred pursuant to the Offer shall be fully paid-up at the time of Allotment and
there are no partly paid-up Equity Shares as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Except as disclosed in “- Equity Share Capital of our Company” on page 81, our Company has not made any public

issue or rights issue, as defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulation, of any kind or class of securities since its
incorporation. For further information, please see “—Equity Share capital history of our Company ” on page 81.
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SECTION 1V - PARTICULARS OF THE OFFER
OBJECTS OF THE OFFER

The Offer comprises the Fresh Issue of up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to % 6,000.00 million by our Company
and the Offer for Sale of up to 7,874,015 Equity Shares aggregating up to X [¢] million by the Promoter Selling
Shareholders. For further information, see “The Offer” and “Summary of the Offer Document — The Offer” on pages 64
and 24, respectively.

Appraising entity

The Objects for which the Net Proceeds will be utilised have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or
other independent agency.

Offer for Sale
Name of the Promoter Selling Shareholder Number of Equity Shares Offered/ Amount Date of consent letter
Pragnyat Pravin Lalwani Up to 3,937,008 Equity Shares December 17, 2024
Gautam Sampatraj Jain Up to 3,937,007 Equity Shares December 17, 2024

Each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders will be entitled to their respective portion of the proceeds of the Offer for
Sale, after deducting their respective portion of the Offer-related expenses and relevant taxes thereon. For details about
the Offer-related expenses, see “— Offer Expenses” on page 102. Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the
Offer for Sale by the Promoter Selling Shareholders and the proceeds from the Offer for Sale will not form part of the
Net Proceeds.

It is further clarified that all such payments of Offer related expenses shall be made by our Company, in the first instance
and (a) upon successful consummation of the transfer of the Offered Shares in the Offer, or (b) in the event Offer is
postponed, withdrawn, abandoned, or not successfully completed for any reason, as may be applicable, any payments by
our Company in relation to the Offer expenses on behalf of any of the Promoter Selling Shareholders shall be reimbursed
by such Promoter Selling Shareholder, severally and not jointly, to our Company inclusive of relevant taxes thereon.

Fresh Issue
Our Company proposes to utilise the Net Proceeds from the Fresh Issue towards funding the following objects:

1. Funding capital expenditure for the expansion of existing manufacturing units;
2. Repayment and / or prepayment, in part or in full, of certain outstanding borrowings of our Company;
3. General corporate purposes.

(collectively referred to herein as the “Objects”)

The main objects and objects incidental and ancillary to the main objects, as set out in our Memorandum of Association,
enable our Company to undertake our existing business activities and the activities for which funds are being raised by
us through the Fresh Issue. In addition, our Company expects to receive the benefits of listing of Equity Shares on the
Stock Exchanges including enhancing our visibility and our brand image among our existing and potential customers and
creating a public market for our Equity Shares in India.

Net Proceeds

The details of the Net Proceeds of the Fresh Issue are summarised in the table below:

(% in million)
Particulars Amount
Gross Proceeds from the Fresh Issue @ 6,000.00
Less: Estimated Offer related expenses in relation to the Fresh Issue to be borne by our Company* [®]*
Net Proceeds [o]*

* To be finalised upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with the RoC.

@ Our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider an issue of specified securities, as may be permitted under applicable law, at
its discretion, aggregating up to < 1,200.00 million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC (“Pre-1PO Placement”). The
Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs. If the Pre-IPO Placement
is completed, the amount raised pursuant to the Pre-1IPO Placement will be reduced from the Fresh Issue, subject to compliance with Rule
19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, shall not exceed 20.00%
of the size of the Fresh Issue. Prior to the completion of the Offer, our Company shall appropriately intimate the subscribers to the Pre-IPO
Placement, prior to allotment pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement, that there is no guarantee that our Company may proceed with the Offer
or the Offer may be successful and will result in listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. Further, relevant disclosures in relation

93



to such intimation to the subscribers to the Pre-1PO Placement (if undertaken) shall be appropriately made in the relevant sections of the Red
Herring Prospectus and Prospectus.

#For details, please see the section entitled, ““Offer Expenses” on page 102

Utilization of Net Proceeds and schedule of implementation and deployment

The Net Proceeds are proposed to be deployed in accordance with the schedule set forth below:

(< in million)
Particulars Amount which will be Estimated deployment of Net Proceeds
financed from Net Proceeds Fiscal 2026 Fiscal 2027
A. Funding capital expenditure for the expansion of 1,953.28 798.01 1,155.27
existing manufacturing units

B. Repayment and / or prepayment, in part or in full, of 3,000.00 3,000.00 -
certain outstanding borrowings of our Company

C. General corporate purposes® [o] [e] [o]

Total® (A+B+C) [e] [e] [e]

® To be finalised upon determination of Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with the RoC. The amount utilised for general
corporate purposes shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds.

The fund requirement, the deployment of funds and the intended use of the Net Proceeds indicated above is based on our
current business plan as approved by our Board of Directors, on December 27, 2024, the current management estimates,
current circumstances of our business plan and the prevailing market conditions, which may be subject to change. The
fund requirement and the deployment of funds described herein has not been appraised by any bank or financial institution
or any other independent agency. See “Risk Factors — Our funding requirements and proposed deployment of the Net
Proceeds of the Offer have not been appraised by a bank or a financial institution and if there are any delays or cost
overruns, our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected ” on page 44.

We may have to revise our funding requirements and deployment on account of a variety of factors, including our
financial condition, business and growth strategy and certain external factors such as market conditions, the regulatory
climate, interest or exchange rate fluctuations and other similar factors which may not be within the control of our
management. This may entail rescheduling or revising the planned expenditure, implementation schedule and funding
requirements, at the discretion of our management, subject to compliance with applicable laws. In case of a shortfall in
raising requisite capital from the Net Proceeds, business considerations may require us to explore a range of options
including utilising our internal accruals and seeking additional debt from existing and future lenders. To the extent our
Company is unable to utilise any portion of the Net Proceeds towards the aforementioned Objects as per the estimated
scheduled of deployment specified above, our Company shall deploy the Net Proceeds in subsequent Fiscals towards the
aforementioned Objects. Further, our Company may decide to accelerate the estimated Objects ahead of the schedule
specified above. See “Risk Factors — Any variation in the utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus shall be subject to certain compliance requirements, including prior approval of the shareholders of
our Company” on page 55.

Details of the Objects
The details in relation to Objects are set forth herein below:
1. Funding Capital Expenditure for the expansion of existing Manufacturing Units

Our Company proposes to utilize an amount of I 1,953.28 million, out of the Net proceeds towards procurement and
installation of equipment in our existing units at (i) Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, (ii) Okhla, New Delhi, (iii) Nagpur,
Maharashtra, (iv) Kundli, Haryana; and (v) Bengaluru, Karnataka in order to upgrade and expand the capacity of
manufacturing of products in the Payments Solutions and 10T Solutions verticals. Our units have an installed capacity to
manufacture over 0.45 million cards and over 1.02 million RFID tags in a single day, as of June 30, 2024.

A. Payment Solutions

We are one of the top two payments card manufacturers in India with a market share of 34.5% in Fiscal 2024 for credit
and debit cards issuance in India improving from 23.77% in Fiscal 2022. (Source: F&S Report). To ensure that we
maintain our leadership position in the Payment Solutions vertical for the BFSI industry, we propose to augment our
capacity in the metal cards segment to tap the growing business. The Indian metal cards market is expected to grow from
%260 million in 2020 to 2,220 million in 2023 and reach 321,410 million in 2029, growing at a CAGR of 53.2% between
Fiscal 2024 to Fiscal 2029 (Source: F&S Report). We are also adding personalization, lamination and punching
equipment which would be required for the enhanced capacities. For details regarding our strategy of consolidation of
leadership position in payment solutions, see “Our Business - Business Strategies - Consolidate Leadership Position in
Payment Solutions” on page 233.
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The equipment that we intend to purchase to augment our capabilities in the Payment Solutions vertical, along with details of the quotations we have received in this respect is set forth

below:

Sr. Name of machinery

No.

1. |Ricoh VC Continuous feed

Printer

2. Bobst Punching machine -

Novacut

3. |Makino CNC Vertical

Machining

4. Makino CNC Vertical

Machining

5. |Komori Sheet fed Offset

press

6. | Muhlbauer DICL

7. |MX Card Issuance DOD

System

8. |MX Card Issuance System
9. 'MX Card Issuance System

10. | Plastic Card Lamination
Plant SMARTLAM

“including GST

#As certified by our Statutory Auditors, Vatsaraj & Co., Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024

Vendor/ Supplier

Minosha India Limited

Bobst Mex SA,
Switzerland

Makino India Private

Limited

Makino India Private

Limited

Komori India Private

Limited

MB Automation GmbH

& Co

Country
India
Switzerland
India
India
Japan

Germany

Entrust Security Solutions  USA

India Private Limited

Entrust Security Solutions | USA

India Private Limited

Entrust Security Solutions  USA

India Private Limited
Robert Biirkle GMBH

Germany

Quotation
Date
October 25,

2024
October 24,
2024
October 9,
2024
October 9,
2024
October 24,
2024
November
6, 2024
October 7,
2024
November
11, 2024
November
11, 2024
November
5, 2024

Quotation
Validity Till

March 31,
2025
April 23,
2025
March 31,
2025
March 31,
2025
March 31,
2025
March 31,
2025
December
31, 2025
December
31, 2025
December
31, 2025
June 30,
2025

Location
Navi Mumbai
and New Delhi
Bengaluru and
Kundli
Bengaluru
Bengaluru
Nagpur
Bengaluru and
Navi Mumbai
Bengaluru
Navi Mumbai

Navi Mumbai

Bengaluru

O CHF 4,35,000.00 per equipment, assuming exchange rate of ¥ 95.06 of 1 CHF as on November 14, 2024

@ gssuming exchange rate of ¥ 89.06 of 1 EUR as on November 14, 2024

@) assuming exchange rate of ¥ 0.56 of 1 JPY as on November 14, 2024

@) assuming exchange rate of ¥ 84.41 of 1 USD as on November 14, 2024
®) includes freight charges of ¥ 0.85 million, insurance charges of ¥ 0.21 million, custom duty of T 6.91 million, installation charges of ¥ 0.07 million and other charges of 0.71 million

© insurance charges of T 10.35 million
O includes freight charges of ¥ 0.85 million, custom duty of T 7.18 million and installation charges of T 2.91 million
® includes freight charges of ¥ 0.42 million and custom duty of ¥ 5.94 million
O includes freight charges of ¥ 0.42 million and custom duty of ¥ 3.61 million
19 includes freight charges of ¥ 0.42 million and custom duty of ¥ 3.61 million
) includes custom duty of ¥ 4.70 million

B. 10T Solutions

2

2

6

10

 in million)

63.00
41.350

7.18

7.18
94.08
38.650)
74.414
43.07®
43.07®

56.91@

Quantity (nos. Rate per equipment Other costs
unless specified)

9.370

10.35®)
10.200
6.60®
4.01
4.0149

4,704

22.68

16.45

7.75

12.92

18.80

15.75

14.58

8.48

8.48

11.09

GST and other Total Cost™
® in million) Tax R in million) X in million)

148.68

108.52

50.82

84.69

123.23

103.19

95.59

55.56

55.56

72.69

Our IoT solutions encompass a comprehensive range of radio frequency identification (“RFID”)-enabled offerings and 10T ecosystem services tailored to meet diverse industry needs.



We manufacture and supply RFID-enabled inlays, which are then converted into customized tags and labels using our proprietary platform, ensuring they are printed, encoded, and
shipped to vendors for source tagging. Additionally, we produce customized RFID-enabled tags which are designed to meet specific end-use cases across various industries. We are
focusing our efforts on end to end domestic manufacturing which includes inlay design and production, tags manufacture, firmware and middleware software and 10T automation
hardware. To be able to meet increased demand in the 10T space, we intend to expand our existing production capabilities for RFID enabled devices. We intend to do this by expanding
capacity at our existing unit in Kundli, Haryana, Bengaluru in Karnataka and Nagpur, Maharashtra. For further details see “Our Business - Business Strategies - Expand Offerings in
the 10T and RFID Space” on page 234.

In RFID manufacturing, chip bonding is the cornerstone of tag functionality, bridging the gap between design and practical application. As industries increasingly adopt RFID,
domestic production of RFID components and systems becomes essential to address several economic, strategic, and operational challenges. Advancements in chip bonding will play
a key role in enhancing performance, reducing costs, and enabling new use cases. (Source: F&S Report) We are scaling up the Chip Bonding facility in our Bengaluru and Kundli
units, so as to develop in-house capacity to manufacture inlays, which we have been procuring from third parties. This would ensure supply chain resilience, cost efficiency and
improve the efficiency of our entire process chain. To enhance short run capabilities and variable data printing capabilities, we are adding inkjet machines to the capability of our TAG
production. All equipment installations have been planned in a manner which have been aligned with capacity requirements, business plan and lead times.

The equipment that we intend to purchase, along with details of the quotations we have received to augment our capabilities in the IOT Solutions vertical, is set forth below:

Sr. Name of machinery Vendor/ Supplier Country Quotation Quotation Location Quantity (nos. Rate per equipment Other costs GST and other Tax Total Cost™

No. Date Validity Till unless specified) (R in million) (R in million)  ® in million) (X in million)

1. | Melzer Smart Ticket & Melzer Maschinenbau Germany |October 22, | June 30, Bengaluru 2 110.78M 18.28C) 43.17 283.01
Label Production Line GmbH 2024 2025 and Kundli

2. ' Muhlbauer DDA MB Automation GmbH & | Germany |October 17, |March 31, |Bengaluru 2 74.25M 12.25@ 26.73 187.47

Co 2024 2025 and Kundli

3. |RMGT Sheet fed Offset Provin Technos Private Japan October 22, |March 31, |Bengaluru 1 80.20 - 14.44 94.64
press Limited 2024 2025

4. |RFID Label Automatic China October 30, /March 31, |Kundli 3 26.75 - 14.45 94.71
Lamination Converting 2024 2025
machine

5. |Foam Metal RFID Label China October 30, ' March 31, Kundli 1 12.17 - 2.19 14.36
Converting machine 2024 2025

6. |RFID Label Converting China October 30, |March 31, |Kundli 2 4,58 - 1.65 10.82
machine 2024 2025

7. | Printing & Encoding . . China October 30, 'March 31, |Kundli 6 14.48 - 15.64 102.55
machine for RFID Hand Al_"a Prm_t S_olutlons 2024 2025
tags Private Limited

8. |RFID Hand Tag QC China October 30, 'March 31, Kundli 4 3.98 - 2.87 18.80
machine 2024 2025

9. |RFID Label Ultrasonic China October 30, |March 31, |Kundli 2 2.62 - 0.94 6.18
cutting machine 2024 2025

10. |Roll type RFID Printing & China October 30, 'March 31, |Kundli 3 12.89 - 6.96 45.63
Encoding machine 2024 2025
11. | Wide sheet labelling China October 30, 'March 31, Kundli 3 11.43 - 6.17 40.48
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Sr. Name of machinery Vendor/ Supplier Country Quotation Quotation Location Quantity (nos. Rate per equipment Other costs GST and other Tax Total Cost™

No. Date Validity Till unless specified) ([ in million) (R in million) ® in million) (X in million)
machine (6 stations) 2024 2025
12. | Ultraflex Colour full Servo |U.V. Graphic Technologies| India October 28, 'March 31, |Bengaluru 1 38.12 - 6.86 44.98
driven Flexographic Label |Private Limited 2024 2025
& Film Printing Press
13. | Miyakoshi LED - UV Inkjet |Provin Technos Private Japan October 28, 'March 31, | Bengaluru 1 58.24@ 35.940) 16.95 111.13
Printer Limited 2024 2025

#As certified by Statutory Auditors, Vatsaraj & Co., Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024
“including GST

@ assuming exchange rate of T 89.06 of 1 EUR as on November 14, 2024

@ gssuming exchange rate of ¥ 0.56 of 1 JPY as on November 14, 2024

® custom duty of ¥ 18.28 million at 8.25%

@ custom duty of T 12.25 million at 8.25%

® includes custom duty of T 4.95 million and ancillary equipment for installation of ¥ 30.99 million

Our Company has not placed orders for procurement of any of the equipment mentioned above, for expansion in our existing Manufacturing Units as on the date of this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus. See, “Risk Factors — We have not yet placed orders in relation to the capital expenditure for the purchase of equipment proposed to be funded from the Net
Proceeds. In the event of any delay in placing the orders, or in the event the vendor is not able to provide the equipment in a timely manner, or at all, it may result in time and cost
overruns and our business, prospects and results of operations may be adversely affected. ” on page 43. The fund requirements, the deployment of funds and the intended use of the
Net Proceeds, for procurement of equipment as described hereinabove, are based on our current estimates. The specific number and nature of such equipment to be procured by our
Company will depend on our business requirements and the details of our equipment to be procured from the Net Proceeds will be suitably updated at the time of filing of the Red
Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The purchase of equipment and the proposed deployment is subject to final terms and conditions agreed with the supplier including the finalization
of price, payment/credit terms, delivery schedule and other market factors prevailing at that time. There may be revision in the final amounts payable towards these quotations pursuant
to any other taxes or levies payable on such item including, change of suppliers and manufacturers and/or increase due to change in the exchange rates.

While all the quotations received from the vendors mentioned above are valid as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, however, we have not entered into any definitive
agreements with any of these vendors and there can be no assurance that the same vendors would be engaged to eventually supply the equipment or provide the service at the same
costs. If there is any increase in the costs of equipment and/or increase due to change in the exchange rates and/ or duties and taxes applicable, the additional costs shall be paid by our
Company from its internal accruals. The quantity of equipment to be purchased is based on the present estimates of our management. Our Company shall have the flexibility to deploy
such equipment in relation to the capital expenditure or such other equipment as may be considered appropriate, according to the business or engineering requirements of such facilities,
subject to the total amount to be utilized towards purchase of such equipment not exceeding X 1,953.28 million. No second-hand or used equipment is proposed to be purchased out of
the Net Proceeds. Each of the units mentioned above is proposed to be acquired in a ready-to-use condition.

See, “Risk Factors —Any variation in the utilization of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus shall be subject to certain compliance requirements, including
prior approval of the shareholders of our Company. ” on page 55.

Further, our Promoters, Directors and Key Managerial Personnel do not have any interest in the proposed procurement of equipment or in the entities from whom we have obtained
quotations in relation to such proposed procurement of equipment.
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As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, our Company has not deployed any funds towards capital expenditure mentioned above towards upgrading and expanding our
existing facilities at (i) Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, (ii) Okhla, New Delhi, (iii) Nagpur, Maharashtra, (iv) Kundli, Haryana; and (v) Bengaluru, Karnataka. Our Company shall have
the flexibility to deploy such machinery / equipment in relation to the planned capital expenditure as may be considered appropriate, according to the business or engineering
requirements of our Company, subject to the total amount to be utilized towards purchase of such machinery / equipment not exceeding % 1,953.28 million.

We intend to fund the entire cost from the Net Proceeds. Accordingly, we confirm that there are no requirements to make firm arrangements of finance under Regulation 7(1)(e) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations through verifiable means towards at least 75% of the stated means of finance, excluding the amount to be raised from the Fresh Issue. In case of a shortfall in
the Net Proceeds or any increase in the actual utilization of funds earmarked for the objects, our Company shall bear such costs out of internal accruals. Our Company may also consider
raising bridge financing facilities, including through secured or unsecured loans or any short-term instrument like nonconvertible debentures, commercial papers or inter-corporate
deposits, pending receipt of the Net Proceeds.

Our existing facilities at (i) Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, (ii) Okhla, New Delhi, (iii) Nagpur, Maharashtra, (iv) Kundli, Haryana; and (v) Bengaluru, Karnataka are already in operation
and hence, the licenses and approvals that we have obtained in relation thereto, such as, license under Factories Act and environmental approvals, adequately cover the enhancement
in capacity pursuant to the proposed procurement of equipment. See “Government and Other Approvals” on page 431.

2. Repayment and/ or prepayment, in part or in full, of certain outstanding borrowings of our Company

Our Company has entered into various financing arrangements with banks and financial institutions, including borrowings in the form of term loans, cash credit facilities and working
capital loans, among others. As at November 15, 2024, our total outstanding borrowings amounted to X 3,271.83 million. For further information, see “Financial Indebtedness” on
page 423. Our Company proposes to utilize an aggregate amount of X 3,000.00 million from the Net Proceeds towards repayment and / or prepayment, in part or in full, of certain
outstanding loans of our Company. Payment of interest, prepayment penalty or premium, if any, and other related costs may be made by us out of the Net Proceeds. The repayment /
prepayment of certain loans by utilizing the Net Proceeds will help reduce our outstanding indebtedness. Further, it will reduce our debt-servicing costs and improve our debt equity
ratio and enable utilization of internal accruals for further investment in our business growth and expansion.

Given the nature of these borrowings and the terms of repayment or prepayment, the aggregate outstanding amounts under these borrowings may vary from time to time and, in
accordance with the relevant repayment schedule, our Company has repaid, and may in the future, repay or refinance some of the borrowings set out below, prior to Allotment or avail
additional credit facilities. If at the time of Allotment, any of the below mentioned loans are repaid or refinanced or if any additional credit facilities are availed or drawn down or
further disbursements under the existing facilities are availed by our Company, then our Company may utilise the Net Proceeds for prepayment / repayment of any such refinanced
facilities or repayment of any additional facilities / disbursements obtained by our Company. However, the aggregate amount to be utilised from the Net Proceeds towards the repayment
[ prepayment, in part or in full, of certain of our outstanding loans will not exceed % 3,000.00 million.

Further, in the event our Board deems appropriate, the amount allocated for estimated schedule of deployment of Net Proceeds in a particular fiscal may be repaid / pre-paid by our
Company in the subsequent Fiscal. The selection of borrowings proposed to be prepaid or repaid amongst our borrowing arrangements availed will be based on various factors,
including (i) cost of the borrowing, including applicable interest rates, (ii) any conditions attached to the borrowings restricting our ability to prepay / repay the borrowings and time
taken to fulfil, or obtain waivers for fulfilment of such conditions, (iii) receipt of consents for prepayment from the respective lenders, (iv) levy of any prepayment penalties and the
quantum thereof, (v) provisions of any laws, rules and regulations governing such borrowings, and (vi) other commercial considerations including, among others, the amount of the
loan outstanding and the remaining tenor of the loan. The amounts proposed to be prepaid and / or repaid against each borrowing facility below is indicative and our Company may
utilize the Net Proceeds to prepay and / or repay the facilities disclosed below in accordance with commercial considerations, including amounts outstanding at the time of prepayment
and / or repayment. For further information, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 423.

98



The following table provides details of certain borrowings availed by our Company as on November 15, 2024, which our Company proposes to prepay or repay, fully or partially, from

the Net Proceeds:

Name of the Nature of Date of Sanctioned | Outstanding | Repayment | Interest rate (p.a.) as | Purpose of raising the loan Pre-payment penalty, if any
lender borrowing Sanction amount | amount as at date / at November 15, 2024
® in million) November 15, = schedule
2024
(X in million)
Term Loans
Axis Bank Limited | Term Loan | May 17, 100.00 63.45|July 31, 3M Repo + 2.55% General Capex 2% on the amount prepaid. except in cases where
2021 2028 the prepayment is made from the own funds of
the company
Axis Bank Limited | Term Loan | March 28, 60.00 54.99| June 14, 3M Repo + 2.55% For purchase of machineries. | 2% on the amount prepaid. except in cases where
2023 2030 furniture fixtures, generators. | the prepayment is made from the own funds of
batteries, electrical fire safety.| the company
surveillance equipment,
Axis Bank Limited | Term Loan | February 26, 200.00 148.31| February 28, | 3M Repo + 2.55% across multiple locations in | 294 on the amount prepaid. except in cases where
2024 2031 Haryana Maharashtra, Delhi, | the prepayment is made from the own funds of
Karnataka West Bengal. the company
Axis Bank Limited | Term Loan | February 26, 200.00 200.00| May 31, 3M Repo + 2.55% Reimbursement of capex 2% on the amount prepaid. except in cases where
2024 2031 incurred and other general the prepayment is made from the own funds of
future capex. the company
State Bank of India | Term Loan | August 9, 48.50 13.35| March 6, 0.50% above MCLR 6 |Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
2018 2026" months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
State Bank of India | Term Loan | August 9, 50.00 22.87|July 4, 2026 |0.50% above MCLR 6 | Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
2018 months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
State Bank of India | Term Loan | June 26, 80.00 59.77 | April 3, 2028 | 0.50% above MCLR 6 | Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
2020 months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
State Bank of India | Term Loan | March 21, 100.00 94.37| June 30, 0.50% above MCLR 6 | Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
2023 2030 months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
State Bank of India | Guaranteed | November 42.40 26.87 | November | 9.25% Working capital loan No prepayment charges
Emergency |29, 2021 30, 2026
Credit Line
State Bank of Term Loan | August 30, 140.00 40.98 | March 12, 0.50% above MCLR 6 | Commercial purposes in line | Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
India® 2018 2026 months with regular business activity | prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
of the unit project/ equity infusion by promoters)
State Bank of Term Loan | May 18, 45.00 35.44 | September | 0.50% above MCLR 6 | Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
India® 2020 11, 2028 months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the

project/ equity infusion by promoters)
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Name of the Nature of Date of Sanctioned | Outstanding | Repayment | Interest rate (p.a.) as | Purpose of raising the loan Pre-payment penalty, if any
lender borrowing Sanction amount | amount as at date / at November 15, 2024
R in million), November 15, | schedule
2024
(X in million)
State Bank of Term Loan | April 24, 100.00 96.39| August 31, |0.50% above MCLR 6 |Purchase of Plant and Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
India® 2023 2030 months Machinery prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
ICICI Bank Term Loan | October 23, 69.00 15.37] April 30, MCLR 1Y+0.05% Takeover of term loan taken | Nil. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
Limited 2018 2026 from RBI Bank for capital the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
expenditure
ICICI Bank Term Loan | October 24, 36.00 10.35| May 5, 2026 | MCLR 1Y+0.05% Reimbursement of capital Nil. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
Limited 2018 incurred during last 6 months | the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
and balanced term loan for
purchase of machineries and
software
ICICI Bank Term Loan |June 13, 50.00 18.65| October 23, | MCLR 1Y+0.05% Reimbursement of capital 1% of principle amount being prepaid
Limited 2019 2026 incurred during last 6 months
and balanced term loan for
purchase of machineries
ICICI Bank Term Loan | February 6, 50.00 20.22| August 31, | MCLR 1Y+0.05% Term loan for purchase of Nil — if prepaid within 60 days of any increase of
Limited 2020 2027 machineries and for spread as aforesaid, written notice of prepayment
liquidation of FCNR 4 Loan | is provided to ICICI Bank within 15 days of such
outstanding with ICICI Bank | increase of spread Prepayment penalty and the
Limited prepayment is made from internal accruals/equity
1%. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
ICICI Bank Term Loan |June 28, 50.00 18.12| August 6, MCLR 1Y+0.05% For Capex Nil — if prepaid within 60 days of any increase of
Limited 2021 2026 spread as aforesaid, written notice of prepayment
is provided to ICICI Bank within 15 days of such
increase of spread Prepayment penalty and the
prepayment is made from internal accruals/equity
1%. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
ICICI Bank Term Loan | April 25, 150.00 112.50| April 30, MCLR 1Y+0.05% 1. For Capex and other Nil — if prepaid within 60 days of any increase of
Limited 2022 2029 related expenditure spread as aforesaid, written notice of prepayment

2. For Furniture and Fixtures

3. Purchase of Property,
related expenditure and
renovations.

is provided to ICICI Bank within 15 days of such
increase of spread Prepayment penalty and the
prepayment is made from internal accruals/equity
1%. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
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Name of the Nature of Date of Sanctioned | Outstanding | Repayment | Interest rate (p.a.) as | Purpose of raising the loan Pre-payment penalty, if any
lender borrowing Sanction amount | amount as at date / at November 15, 2024
R in million), November 15, | schedule
2024
(X in million)
ICICI Bank Term Loan | February 25, 100.00 88.89 | February 28, | MCLR 1Y+0.05% 1. For Capex and other Nil — if prepaid within 60 days of any increase of
Limited 2023 2030 related expenditure spread as aforesaid, written notice of prepayment
2. For Furniture and Fixtures | is provided to ICICI Bank within 15 days of such
3. Purchase of Property, increase of spread Prepayment penalty and the
related expenditure and prepayment is made from internal accruals/equity
renovations. 1%. Written notice of pre-payment to be given to
the bank atleast 15 days prior to repayment.
Bank of India Term Loan | April 12, 200.00 149.80 | June 186, 1Y MCLR + BSS of | Capex 1% of outstanding liability
2022 2029 0.90% + CRP of 1.70%
EXIM Bank Term Loan | March 21, 200.00 150.00| April 30, MCLR (1 Yr) +0.90% | Purchase of Machinery 1% of amount being prepaid
2022 2029 p.a.
EXIM Bank Term Loan | February 28, 420.00 321.93| March 1, MCLR (1 Yr) +0.90% | Purchase of Machinery 1% of amount being prepaid
2024 2031 p.a.
1,762.62
Working Capital
Axis Bank Limited | Working February 26, 590.00 447.01| Repayable | 3M Repo+2.65% To meet Working Capital No prepayment charges
Capital Limit| 2024 on Demand Requirement
ICICI Bank Working February 21, 660.00 303.86 | Repayable | MCLR 6M+0.05% To meet Working Capital As per prevailing prepayment premium at time
Limited Capital Limit| 2024 on Demand Requirement of prepayment of loan
State Bank of India | Working April 8, 1,050.00 758.34| Repayable | MCLR 6M+0.50% To meet Working Capital Prepayment penalty of 2% (1% if the loan is
Capital Limit| 2024 on Demand Requirement prepaid out of higher cash accruals from the
project/ equity infusion by promoters)
1,509.21

@Joans originally sanctioned in the name of Seshaasai E-forms Private Limited which merged with our Company in terms of the Scheme of Arrangement. Our Company is in the process of changing the
name of the lender in the financing documents, that are currently in the process of being transferred to our Company’s name. For further information on the Scheme of Arrangement, see “History and
Certain Corporate Matters— Details regarding material acquisitions or divestments of business/undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, any revaluation of assets, etc. in the last 10 years” on page 266.

Note: In accordance with Clause 9(A)(2)(b) of Part A of Schedule VI of the SEBI ICDR Regulations which requires a certificate from the statutory auditor certifying the utilization of loan for the purposes
availed, our Company has obtained the requisite certificate.
#As certified by the Statutory Auditors, pursuant to their certificate dated December 27, 2024.

For further information in relation to the terms and conditions under the aforesaid loan agreements and restrictive covenants in relation thereto, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page

423.
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3. General corporate purposes

Our Company intends to deploy the balance Net Proceeds aggregating to X [e] million towards general corporate
purposes, subject to such utilization not exceeding 25% of the Gross Proceeds, in accordance with Regulation 7(2)
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, to drive our business growth, including, amongst other things, payment towards
purchase of raw materials, payment of lease expense, payment of commission and/or fees to consultants, employee
related expenses, insurance, repairs and maintenance and payments of taxes and duties, and any other purpose in the
ordinary course of business as may be approved by the Board or a duly appointed committee from time to time,
subject to compliance with applicable laws.

Interim use of Net Proceeds

The Net Proceeds shall be retained in the Public Offer Account until receipt of the listing and trading approvals from the
Stock Exchanges by our Company. Pending utilization of the Net Proceeds for the purposes described above, our
Company undertakes to deposit the Net Proceeds only in one or more scheduled commercial banks included in the Second
Schedule of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, as amended, as may be approved by our Board.

In accordance with Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, our Company confirms that it shall not use the Net Proceeds
for buying, trading or otherwise dealing in shares of any other listed company or for any investment in the equity markets.

Means of finance

The fund requirements set out for the aforesaid Objects are proposed to be met entirely from the Net Proceeds and internal
accruals. Accordingly, our Company confirms that there is no requirement to make firm arrangements of finance through
verifiable means towards at least 75% of the stated means of finance, excluding the amount to be raised from the Fresh
Issue and internal accruals as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Bridge financing facilities

Our Company has not raised any bridge loans from any bank or financial institution as on the date of this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus, which are proposed to be repaid from the Net Proceeds. However, our Company may consider raising
bridge financing facilities, including through secured or unsecured loans or any short-term instrument like nonconvertible
debentures, commercial papers or inter-corporate deposits, pending receipt of the Net Proceeds.

Offer Expenses

The Offer expenses are estimated to be approximately X [®] million. The Offer expenses comprise of, among other things,
listing fees, underwriting fee, selling commission and brokerage, fees payable to the Book Running Lead Managers, legal
counsel, Registrar to the Offer, Banker(s) to the Offer, processing fee to the SCSBs for processing ASBA Forms
submitted by ASBA Bidders procured by the Syndicate and submitted to SCSBs, brokerage and selling commission
payable to Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs, fees payable to the Sponsor Banks for Bids made by UPI Bidders,
printing and stationery expenses, advertising and marketing expenses and all other incidental expenses for listing the
Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges.

Other than (a) listing fees, audit fees (not in relation to the Offer) and expenses for any product or corporate
advertisements consistent with past practice of the Company (other than the expenses relating to the Offer) which will be
borne by the Company, and (b) fees and expenses in relation to the legal counsel to the Promoter Selling Shareholders
which shall be borne by the respective Selling Shareholders, all costs, charges, fees and expenses associated with and
incurred in connection with the Offer, including corporate advertisements, issue advertising, printing, road show
expenses, accommodation and travel expenses, stamp, transfer, issuance, documentary, registration, costs for execution
and enforcement of the Offer Agreement, Registrar’s fees, fees to be paid to the BRLMs, fees and expenses of legal
counsel to the Company and the BRLMs, fees and expenses of the auditors, fees to be paid to Sponsor Banks, SCSBs
(processing fees and selling commission), brokerage and commission for Syndicate Member, commission to Registered
Brokers, Collecting DPs and Collecting RTAs, and payments to consultants, and advisors, regulatory fees, fees to
intermediaries and third parties, shall be shared among the Company and each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, on
pro rata basis, in proportion to the number of Equity Shares issued and Allotted by the Company through the Fresh Issue
and sold by each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders through the Offer for Sale. All such payments shall be made by
the Company on behalf of the Promoter Selling Shareholders and the Promoter Selling Shareholders agree that they shall,
severally and not jointly, reimburse the Company in proportion to their respective proportion of the Offered Shares, for
any expenses incurred by the Company on behalf of such Selling Shareholder, and each Selling Shareholder authorises
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the Company to deduct from the proceeds of the Offer for Sale, expenses of the Offer required to be borne by such Selling
Shareholder in proportion to the Offered Shares, in accordance with Applicable Law.

In the event that the Offer is postponed or withdrawn or abandoned for any reason or the Offer is not successful or
consummated, all costs and expenses with respect to the Offer shall be borne by the Company and Selling Shareholders
on pro rata basis, in proportion to the number of Equity Shares issued and Allotted by the Company through the Fresh
Issue and sold by each of the Promoter Selling Shareholders through the Offer for Sale, including but not limited to, the
fees and expenses of the BRLMs and the legal counsels in relation to the Offer, in such manner as agreed between the
Parties.

The break-up for the estimated Offer expenses are as follows:
Activity Estimated As a % of total As a % of

expenses”  estimated Offer  Offer size”
(® in million) related expenses”

Fees payable to the BRLMs and commissions (including [e] [e] [o]
underwriting commission, brokerage and selling commission)
Selling commission payable to SCSBs for Bids directly procured by [e] [e] [o]

them and processing fees payable to SCSBs for Bids (other than Bids
submitted by UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism) procured by
the Members of the Syndicate, the Registered Brokers, CRTAS or
CDPs and submitted to SCSBs for blocking, Bankers to the Offer,
fees payable to the Sponsor Banks for Bids made by RIBs M@
Selling commission and uploading charges payable to Members of
the Syndicate (including their Sub-Syndicate Member), RTAs,
CDPs and Registered Brokers including processing fees payable to
the Sponsor Banks ®®®) 6)

Processing fees payable to the Sponsor Banks®

Fees payable to Registrar to the Offer

Printing and stationery expenses [e] [e] [e]
Advertising and marketing expenses [e] [e] [e]
Listing fees, SEBI fees, BSE and NSE processing fees, book- [e] [e] [e]
building software fees, and other regulatory expenses

Fees payable to legal counsels [e] [e] [e]
Fees payable to the other advisors to the Offer [e] [e] [e]
- Auditors [e] [e] [e]
- Independent chartered accountant [e] [e] [e]
- Industry expert [e] [e] [e]
- Chartered engineer [e] [e] [e]
- miscellaneous

Total estimated Offer expenses [e] [e] [e]

*The Offer expenses will be incorporated in the Prospectus on finalization of the Offer Price. Offer expenses include applicable taxes,
where applicable. Offer expenses are estimates and are subject to change.

@ Selling commission payable to the SCSBs on the portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders which are directly procured and
uploaded by the SCSBs, would be as follows:

Portion for RIBs* [+]% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)
Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* [+]% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)
* Amount Allotted is the product of the number of Equity Shares Allotted and the Offer Price. Selling Commission payable to the
SCSBs will be determined on the basis of the bidding terminal id as captured in the Bid book of BSE or NSE.

@ No processing fees shall be payable by the Company and the Selling Shareholders to the SCSBs on the applications directly
procured by them. Processing fees payable to the SCSBs on the portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders (excluding UPI
Bids) which are procured by the Syndicate Members/sub-Syndicate/Registered Broker/CRTAs/ CDPs or for using 3-in-1 type
accounts -linked online trading, demat & bank account provided by some of the brokers which are members of Syndicate (including
their sub-Syndicate Members) would be as follows:

Portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders* | Z /«/ per valid application (plus applicable taxes)

* Processing fees payable to the SCSBs for capturing Syndicate Member/Sub-syndicate (Broker)/Sub-broker code on the ASBA
Form for Non-Institutional Bidder and QIBs with bids above ¥ [+] would be ¥ [+] plus applicable taxes, per valid application.
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®) Selling commission on the portion for Retail Individual Bidders (up to ¥ [+] million) and Non Institutional Bidders which are
procured by members of the Syndicate (including their sub-Syndicate Members), Registered Brokers, CRTAs and CDPs or for
using 3-in-1 type accounts- linked online trading, demat and bank account provided by some of the Registered Brokers which are
members of the Syndicate (including their sub-Syndicate Members) would be as follows:

Portion for RIBs* [+]% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)
Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* | /+/% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)
* Amount Allotted is the product of the number of Equity Shares Allotted and the Offer Price.

The selling commission payable to the Syndicate / sub-Syndicate Members will be determined (i) for Retail Individual Bidders and
Non Institutional Bidders (up to % [*]), on the basis of the application form number / series, provided that the application is also
Bid by the respective Syndicate / sub-Syndicate Member. For clarification, if a Syndicate ASBA application on the application
form number / series of a Syndicate / sub-Syndicate Member, is Bid by an SCSB, the selling commission will be payable to the
SCSB and not the Syndicate / sub-Syndicate Member, and (ii) for Non Institutional Bidders (above < [*]), Syndicate ASBA form
bearing SM code and sub-Syndicate code of the application form submitted to SCSBs for blocking of the fund and uploading on
the exchanges platform by SCSBs. For clarification, if a Syndicate ASBA application on the application form number / series of a
Syndicate / sub Syndicate Member, is Bid by an SCSB, the selling commission will be payable to the Syndicate / sub Syndicate
members and not the SCSB. Bidding charges payable to members of the Syndicate (including their sub-Syndicate Members) on the
applications made using 3-in-1 accounts would be < [+] plus applicable taxes, per valid application Bid by the Syndicate (including
their sub-Syndicate Members). Bidding charges payable to SCSBs on the QIB Portion and Non Institutional Bidders (excluding
UPI Bids) which are procured by the Syndicate/sub-Syndicate/Registered Broker/CRTAs/ CDPs and submitted to SCSBs for
blocking and uploading would be ¥ [+] per valid application (plus applicable taxes). The selling commission and Bidding charges
payable to Registered Brokers, the CRTAs and CDPs will be determined on the basis of the Bidding terminal ID as captured in the
Bid book of BSE or NSE.

@ Selling commission/ uploading charges payable to the Registered Brokers on the portion for RIBs and Non Institutional Bidders
which are directly procured by the Registered Brokers and submitted to SCSB for processing, would be as follows:

Portion for RIBs* < [+] per valid application (plus applicable taxes)
Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* | ¥ /] per valid application (plus applicable taxes)
* Based on valid applications

®  Uploading charges/ Processing fees for applications made by UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism would be as under:

Members of the Syndicate / RTAs / Z [+] per valid application (plus applicable taxes) subject to a maximum of T [+]payable
CDPs / Registered Brokers on a pro rata basis
Sponsor Banks [e] -2 [e]

[e]-<[]

The Sponsor Banks shall be responsible for making payments to the third parties such
as remitter bank, NPCI and such other parties as required in connection with the
performance of its duties under the SEBI circulars, the Syndicate Agreement and other
applicable laws.

®  All such commissions and processing fees set out above shall be paid as per the timelines in terms of the Syndicate Agreement and
Escrow and Sponsor Bank Agreement.

The processing fees for applications made by UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism may be released to the remitter
banks (SCSBs) only after such banks provide a written confirmation on compliance with SEBI Circular No:
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570  dated  June 2, 2021, read with SEBI  Circular  No:
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/2480/1/M  dated  March 16, 2021, and SEBI  Circular  No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51 dated April 20, 2022 (to the extent not rescinded by the SEBI ICDR Master Circular
in relation to the SEBI ICDR Regulations).

Monitoring utilization of funds from the Offer

In terms of Regulation 41 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company has appointed [] as the monitoring agency to
monitor the utilization of the Net Proceeds, as the size of the Fresh Issue exceeds X 1,000.00 million. Our Company
undertakes to place the report(s) of the Monitoring Agency upon receipt before the Audit Committee without any delay.
Our Company shall for the purpose of quarterly report by Monitoring Agency, provide an item-by-item description for
all the expense heads under each object of the Offer. In addition, our Company will provide the relevant information and
certifications obtained from our statutory auditors or independent chartered accountant in connection with the utilisation
of the Net Proceeds to the Monitoring Agency, to the extent agreed upon with the Monitoring Agency.
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Pursuant to the Regulation 32 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall on a quarterly basis disclose to the
Audit Committee the uses and application of the Net Proceeds. Additionally, the Audit Committee shall monitor the
utilisation of the proceeds of the Fresh Issue and review the report submitted by the Monitoring Agency and make
recommendations to our Board for further action, if appropriate. Further, on an annual basis, our Company shall prepare
a statement of funds utilised for purposes other than those stated in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and place it before
the Audit Committee. Such disclosure shall be made only till such time that all the Net Proceeds have been utilised in
full. The statement shall be certified by the Statutory Auditors of our Company. We shall in our quarterly notes to accounts
in our financial statements / results, include the utilisation of Net Proceeds under the relevant expense heads. Further, in
accordance with Regulation 32 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall furnish to the Stock Exchanges on a
quarterly basis, a statement including deviations, if any, in the utilization of the Net Proceeds from the Objects as stated
above and category wise variations between the actual utilization of the Net Proceeds and the Objects as stated above.
The information will also be published in newspapers simultaneously with the interim or annual financial results and
explanation for such variation (if any) will be included in our Directors’ report, after placing the same before the Audit
Committee.

We will disclose the utilization of the Net Proceeds under a separate head along with details in our balance sheet(s),
subsequent to receipt of listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges, until such time as the Net Proceeds
remain unutilized or such other period as may be prescribed under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, SEBI Listing Regulations
or other applicable law, clearly specifying the purpose for which such Net Proceeds have been utilized. Our Company
will also, in its balance sheet for the applicable Fiscals, provide details, if any, in relation to all such Net Proceeds that
have not been utilised.

Variation in Objects

In accordance with Sections 13(8) and 27 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the applicable rules, and the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, our Company shall not vary the Objects without our Company being authorised to do so by the Shareholders
by way of a special resolution. In addition, the notice issued to the Shareholders in relation to the passing of such special
resolution (“Notice™) shall specify the prescribed details as required under the Companies Act. The Notice shall
simultaneously be published in the newspapers, one in English and one in Hindi, the vernacular language of the
jurisdiction where our Registered Office is situated. Our Promoters will be required to provide an exit opportunity to such
Shareholders who do not agree to the above stated proposal, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and in
accordance with such terms and conditions, including in respect of pricing of the Equity Shares, in accordance with our
Acrticles of Association, the provisions of the Companies Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Other confirmations

Except to the extent of the proceeds received from the Offer for Sale, there is no proposal whereby any portion of the
Offer Proceeds will be paid to our Promoters, Promoter Group, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or Senior
Management. Further, there are no material existing or anticipated transactions in relation to the utilisation of the Offer
Proceeds entered into or to be entered into by our Company with our Promoters, Promoter Group, Directors, Key
Managerial Personnel, Senior Management or Group Companies.
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BASIS FOR OFFER PRICE
The Price Band and the Offer Price will be determined by our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers, on the basis of assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares offered through the Book Building Process
and on the basis of quantitative and qualitative factors as described below. The face value of the Equity Shares is 310
each and the Offer Price is [®] times the face value at the lower end of the Price Band and [e] times the face value at the
higher end of the Price Band.
Bidders should read “Risk Factors™, “Our Business”, “Restated Financial Information” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on pages 33, 219, 303 and 400, respectively,
to have an informed view before making an investment decision.
Quialitative Factors
Some of the qualitative factors and our strengths which form the basis for computing the Offer Price are as follows:

1. Established Leadership Position in the Large and Regulated Payment Solutions, and Communication and Fulfilment
Solutions Industry with High Barriers to Entry

2. Comprehensive Portfolio of Customizable and Scalable Solutions

3. Proprietary Technology Stack Enabling Bespoke Solutions

4. Pan-India Advanced Manufacturing Capabilities

5. Track Record of Healthy Financial Performance

6. Experienced Promoters and Senior Management Team backed by Committed Employee Base

For further information, see “Our Business — Competitive Strengths” on page 226. Some of the quantitative factors which
may form the basis for computing the Offer Price are as follows:

1. Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) at face value of ¥ 10 each, as adjusted for changes in capital:

As derived from the Restated Financial Information:

Financial Period Basic EPS (in ) Diluted EPS (in ) Weight
Fiscal 2024 18.55 11.47 3
Fiscal 2023* 12.17 7.32 2
Fiscal 2022* 421 2.53 1
Weighted Average 14.03 8.60
Three months period ended June 30, 2024* 2.74 2.74

* on standalone basis
#not annualised

Notes:

L Weighted average = Aggregate of year-wise weighted EPS divided by the aggregate of weights i.e. (EPS x Weight) for each
year/Total of weights

2 Basic Earnings per Equity Share (EPS) (%) = Restated profit for the period / year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company divided by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period / year.

3 Diluted Earnings per Equity Share (EPS) (%) = Restated profit for the period / year attributable to equity shareholders of the

Company divided by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period / year adjusted for the effects of all

dilutive potential equity shares. Earnings per Share calculations are in accordance with the notified Indian Accounting Standard

33 ‘Earnings per share’.

Pursuant to a resolution passed by company’s board and shareholders on September 15, 2024 and October 22, 2024, respectively,

the company sub-divided the face value of its equity shares from < 700 each to ¥ 10 each.

5 The figures disclosed above are based on the Restated Ind-AS Financial Statements of our Company.

4.
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2.

Price/Earning (“P/E”) ratio in relation to Price Band of X [e] to X [e] per Equity Share:
Financial Period P/E at the Floor Price P/E at the Cap Price
(number of times)* (number of times)*
Based on basic EPS for Fiscal 2024 [e] [*]
Based on diluted EPS for Fiscal 2024 [e] [e]

*To be computed after finalisation of the Price Band

Industry Peer Group P/E ratio

Not applicable as there are no listed peer companies.

3.

Return on Net Worth (“RoNW?”) on a consolidated basis

As derived from the Restated Financial Information:

Period Return on Net Worth (%) Weight
Fiscal 2024 36.36% 3
Fiscal 2023* 33.61% 2
Fiscal 2022* 15.43% 1
Weighted Average 31.95%
Three months period ended June 30, 2024* 8.00%

*on standalone basis
#Not annualised

Notes:

L Weighted average = Aggregate of year-wise weighted RoNW divided by the aggregate of weights i.e. (RONW x Weight) for each
year/Total of weights.

2 Return on Net Worth (%) = Restated profit for the period / year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company divided by Net
Worth.

8 ‘Net worth’: Net Worth means the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and
securities premium account and debit or credit balance of profit and loss account, after deducting the aggregate value of the
accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and